Profiling circulating microRNAs in pregnancies complicated by type 1 diabetes, type 2 diabetes and gestational diabetes mellitus

By

Matladi Innocent Masete

In fulfilment of the requirements for the Degree of Master of Science in Reproductive Biology in the Faculty of Health Sciences at the University of Pretoria

November 2021



DECLARATION

By submitting this thesis, I Matladi Innocent Masete, hereby declare that the entirety of the work contained therein is my own, original work, and that I have not previously in its entirety or in part submitted it for obtaining any qualification.

ETHICS STATEMENT

The author, whose name appears on the title page of this dissertation/thesis, has obtained, for the research described in this work, the applicable research ethics approval. The author declares that he has observed the ethical standards required in terms of the University of Pretoria's Code of Ethics for Researchers and the Policy guidelines for responsible research.

Minite

Signature:

Student name: Matladi Masete (Student No. 20818336) Date: 26 November 2021

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

I am very grateful for being afforded the opportunity to further my studies. I would like to sincerely express my outmost gratitude to my supervisors Prof Carmen Pheiffer, Dr Stephanie Dias and Prof Sumaiya Adam for their guidance, constructive criticism, and patience.

To Prof Carmen, thank you for not just being a supervisor but for also being a caring mentor, a mother figure. I have learnt a lot while being under your supervision and thank you for your mentorship and guidance that will benefit me throughout my career.

I would like to thank the South African Medical Research Council (SAMRC), SAMRC Division of Research and Capacity Development, the National Research Foundation (NRF) (grant no. 120832) and the University of Pretoria for awarding me a scholarship to continue my studies. Thank you to my fellow colleagues at the SAMRC for welcoming me into the laboratory and for always being happy to help and give advice on work related challenges.

Thank you to Dr Stephanie Dias for your willingness to assist with laboratory work and advice.

To my family, especially my mother, thank you for the support you constantly give me in every way possible. I would not have the courage to do this without you.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

DECLARATION	ii
ETHICS STATEMENT	ii
ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS	iii
LIST OF FIGURES	vii
LIST OF TABLES	viii
LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS	ix
ABSTRACT	xii
RESEARCH OUTPUTS	xiv
THESIS OUTLINE	XV
CHAPTER 1: LITERATURE REVIEW	1
1.1 Maternal diabetes	1
1.2 The global burden	1
1.3 Pathophysiology	3
1.4 Complications	5
1.5 Diagnosis	6
1.6 Treatment	7
1.7 Epigenetics	8
1.7.1 MiRNAs	8
1.7.2 MicroRNA nomenclature	9
1.7.3 Biogenesis and mechanism of action	10
1.7.4 Circulating miRNAs	11
1.7.5 MiRNAs during pregnancy	12
1.8 The COVID-19 pandemic and risk of diabetes during pregnancy	13
1.9 Research problem	13
1.10 Hypothesis, Aim and Objectives	14
CHAPTER 2: REVIEW	15
MicroRNAs as diagnostic biomarkers of diabetes in pregnancy	15
2.1 Abstract	16
2.2 Introduction	17
2.2.1 Overview of diabetes in pregnancy	18
2.2.2 MicroRNA biology	20
2.2.3 MicroRNAs and pregnancy	21

2.2.4 MicroRNA profiling in pregnancies complicated by diabetes	22
2.3 Discussion	
2.4 Conclusion and future perspectives	
CHAPTER 3: MATERIALS AND METHODS	
3.1 Study overview	
3.2 Participant recruitment	41
3.3 Clinical Data	41
3.4 Diabetes diagnosis	41
3.5 Blood collection	
3.6 Enzyme-linked immunosorbent assays	
3.6.1 Insulin	
3.6.2 C-peptide	
3.6.3 Total Adiponectin	44
3.6.4 High molecular weight Adiponectin	
3.6.5 C-reactive protein	45
3.6.6 Triglycerides	46
3.7 RNA isolation	47
3.8 RNA quantification	
3.9 MicroRNA quantification	
3.10 MiRNA expression profiling	
3.11 Bioinformatics	
3.12 Statistics	
CHAPTER 4: RESULTS	
4.1 Clinical characteristics of participants	
4.2 Metabolic parameters	
4.3 Association between clinical and metabolic parameters	60
4.4 MicroRNA expression analysis	
4.4.1 RNA concentration and yield	
4.4.2 MiRNA percentage and concentration	
4.4.3 PCR arrays	62
4.5 Bioinformatics	68
CHAPTER 5: DISCUSSION AND FUTURE PERSPECTIVES	70
5.1 Introduction	70

5.2 MiRNAs with shared and unique expression during maternal diabetes71
5.3 Three miRNAs with significant differential expression related to maternal diabetes type
5.4 Variation in clinical presentation and peripheral metabolic markers in different types of
maternal diabetes74
5.5 Strengths and limitations75
5.6 Future perspectives
5.7 Conclusion77
REFERENCES
APPENDIX 1
RNA concentrations
Ethics Certificate

LIST OF FIGURES

Figure 1. Global prevalence of maternal diabetes types (International Diabetes Federation,
2019)
Figure 2. Schematic diagram illustrating progression to maternal diabetes4
Figure 3. A diagram illustrating the biogenesis of miRNAs and its mode of action11
Figure 4. Flow diagram illustrating study selection
Figure 5. Experimental design40
Figure 6. An illustration of BD Vacutainer SST Tubes
Figure 7. An illustration of the nanodrop spectrophotometer
Figure 8. An illustration of the Agilent LabChip instrument
Figure 9. Representative image of an electropherogram for small RNA analysis
Figure 10. The Human Serum/Plasma miScript miRNA PCR array layout51
Figure 11. Metabolic parameters in pregnant women
Figure 12. Distribution of Ct values for miRNAs
Figure 13. Heat map illustrating fold regulation of miRNAs in maternal diabetes
Figure 14. MiRNAs upregulated during maternal diabetes
Figure 15. MiRNAs downregulated during maternal diabetes
Figure 16. Fold regulation of statistically significant MiRNAs during maternal diabetes67
Figure 17. A heatmap illustrating KEGG pathways enriched for three significant miRNAs.69

LIST OF TABLES

Table 1. Studies profiling maternal miRNAs in pregnancies complicated by GDM	28
Table 2. IADPSG, 2010 and WHO, 2013 diagnostic criteria	42
Table 3. Reverse transcription reaction components	50
Table 4. Reaction mix for the Human Serum/Plasma miScript miRNA PCR	52
Table 5. Cycling conditions for real-time PCR	52
Table 6. Participant characteristics	56
Table 7. Participant metabolic parameters	57
Table 8. Metabolic parameter correlations	61
Table 9. Serum RNA concentration, yield, purity and miRNA concentration	97
Table 10. Common diagnostic criteria's for GDM	100

LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS

ADA	American Diabetes Association
AGO2	Argonaute RISC Catalytic Component 2
ADIPS	Australian Diabetes in Pregnancy Society
BCL2	B Cell Lymphoma 2
β	Beta
BRIP	Biomedical Research and Innovation Platform
BMI	Body Mass Index
ChREBP	Carbohydrate-Responsive Element-Binding Protein
cDNA	Complimentary DNA
COVID-19	Coronavirus Disease-19
CRP	C-Reactive Protein
Ct	Cycle Threshold
DNA	Deoxyribonucleic Acid
ELISAs	Enzyme-Linked Immunosorbent Assays
FPG	Fasting Plasma Glucose
FOXO1	Forkhead Box Protein O1
GDM	Gestational Diabetes Mellitus
HbA1c	Glycosylated Haemoglobin
HMW	High Molecular Weight
Human	Homo Sapiens
HIV	Human Immunodeficiency Virus
HUVECs	Human Umbilical Vein Endothelial Cells
НАРО	Hyperglycaemia and Adverse Pregnancy Outcomes
HIF1A	Hypoxia Inducible Factor-1A
Hsa-miR	Human microRNA
INSIG-1	Insulin Induced Gene 1
in utero	in the womb
IADPSG	International Association of Diabetes and Pregnancy Study Groups
IDF	International Diabetes Federation
KEGG	Kyoto Encyclopedia of Genes and Genomes
mRNA	Messenger RNA
MiRNAs	MicroRNAs

Mins	Minutes
Mouse	Mus Musculus
Mmu-miR	Mouse microRNA
NDDG	National Diabetes Data Group
NAFLD	Non-Alcoholic Fatty Acid Liver Disease
NCDs	Non-Communicable Diseases
ND	Not Determined
NR	Not Reported
Ν	Number
NPM1	Nucleophosmin 1
OGTT	Oral Glucose Tolerance Test
Pri	Primary
Pre	Precursor
PTEN	Phosphatase and Tensin Homolog
PI3K-Akt	Phosphoinositol-3-Kinase–Protein Kinase B
Р	Statistical Significance
qRT-PCR	Quantitative Real Time PCR
RanGTP	Transporter protein
ROS	Reactive Oxygen Species
RNAs	Ribonucleic Acid
rRNA	Ribosomal Ribonucleic Acid
RISC	RNA-Induced Silencing Complex
RPM	Revolutions Per Minute
SARS-CoV-2	Severe Acute Respiratory Syndrome-Coronavirus-2
SAMRC	South African Medical Research Council
SEM	Standard Error of Mean
snRNAs	Small nuclear RNAs
snoRNAs	Small nucleolar RNAs
SREBP	Sterol Regulatory Element-Binding Proteins
TGs	Triglycerides
TRBP	Transactivation response element RNA-binding protein
tRNA	Transfer Ribonucleic Acid
T1DM	Type 1 Diabetes Mellitus

T2DM	Type 2 Diabetes Mellitus
USA	United States of America
UTR	Untranslated Region
VEGFA	Vascular Endothelial Growth Factor-A
WHO	World Health Organisation

ABSTRACT

Background

Maternal diabetes is associated with complications for both mother and child. Mothers have an increased risk of hypertension and caesarean section, while the risk of macrosomia, hypoglycaemia, respiratory distress syndrome, preterm delivery, malformations, and mortality is increased in children. Moreover, both mothers and children have a life-long risk of developing type 2 diabetes (T2DM) and cardiovascular disorders in future. Evidence suggests that women with pregestational type 1 diabetes (T1DM) and T2DM have a greater risk of complications compared to women with gestational diabetes mellitus (GDM), although the mechanisms that link maternal diabetes type with adverse outcomes are not elucidated. In recent years, epigenetic mechanisms, such as microRNAs (miRNAs), have emerged as key players in the pathophysiology of pregnancy complications. The aim of this study was to assess the effect of maternal diabetes type on circulating miRNA expression.

Methods

Demographic information and serum were obtained from pregnant women with T1DM (n=6), T2DM (n=26), GDM (n=17) and normoglycaemia (n=24) at 16-27 weeks of gestation. C-peptide, total and high molecular weight (HMW) adiponectin, triglycerides and C-reactive protein (CRP) concentrations were measured using enzyme-linked immunosorbent assays. Serum miRNAs were profiled using the Human Serum/Plasma miScript miRNA PCR array (n=4 per group).

Results

Women with T2DM (p=0.04) and GDM (p=0.015) were older than women with T1DM. Glucose concentrations were higher in women with maternal diabetes compared to normoglycaemia (p<0.001), and women with T1DM (P=0.039) and T2DM (p=0.019) had higher levels of glycated haemoglobin than women with GDM. Pulse rate was higher in women with T2DM (p=0.003) and GDM (p=0.003) compared to women with normoglycaemia. All metabolic parameters varied significantly across the four groups. Pairwise analysis showed higher levels of insulin in women with T1DM (p=0.008), T2DM (p=0.013) and GDM (p=0.014) compared to normoglycaemia. C-peptide levels were higher in women with GDM compared to normoglycaemia (p=0.010) and T1DM (p=0.051). Total

adiponectin concentrations were lower in women with T2DM (p=0.005) and GDM (p=0.030) compared to normoglycaemia, while HMW adiponectin concentrations were lower in women with T2DM (p=0.038) and GDM (p=0.052) compared to T1DM. Triglyceride levels were higher in women with GDM compared to controls (p=0.030), while CRP levels were higher in women with T2DM compared to normoglycaemia (p=0.008).The expression of miRNAs varied between groups, with significance observed for miR-19b-3p (\downarrow 9.8-fold; p=0.033) in women with GDM, miR-20a-5p (\downarrow 4.5-fold; p=0.047) in T1DM, and miR-29a-3p (\uparrow 1.8-fold; p=0.002) in T2DM compared to women with normoglycaemia. Bioinformatic analysis of miRNA gene targets showed that the forkhead box protein O1 (FOXO1) signalling and miRNAs in cancer pathways were common to all three miRNAs, while 15 KEGG pathways were common between miR-20a-5p and miR-29a-3p, and 27 pathways were unique to specific miRNAs.

Conclusion

We identified miRNA signatures associated with T1DM, T2DM and GDM, which may contribute towards advancing our knowledge and understanding of mechanisms underlying the different types of diabetes in pregnancy. Further exploration of these miRNA signatures and their association with pregnancy outcomes, may offer potential as biomarkers to predict adverse outcomes.

Word count: 486

Keywords: microRNAs; pregnancy; type 1 diabetes mellitus; type 2 diabetes mellitus; gestational diabetes mellitus.

RESEARCH OUTPUTS

Conference presentation:

1. Profiling miRNAs in pregnancies complicated by type 1, type 2 and gestational diabetes mellitus – Physiology Society of South Africa (PSSA), 12 – 15 September 2021

 Metabolic and microRNA expression differences in pregnancies complicated by type 1, type 2 and gestational diabetes mellitus – South African Medical Research (SAMRC), Biomedical Research & Innovation Platform (BRIP) Symposium, 18 – 19 October 2021

Publications:

1. <u>Matladi Masete</u>, Nompumelelo Malaza, Stephanie Dias, Sumaiya Adam and Carmen Pheiffer (2021) MicroRNAs as diagnostic biomarkers of diabetes during pregnancy. *Journal of Diabetes Research*. ID 9045205 (Review Submitted)

2. <u>Matladi Masete</u>, Stephanie Dias, Nompumelelo Malaza, Sumaiya Adam and Carmen Pheiffer (2021) Investigating the significance of miR-19b, miR-20a and miR-29a expression in pregnancies complicated by different types of diabetes. *Diabetes, obesity and metabolism* (Original Article in progress)

THESIS OUTLINE

CHAPTER 1: Literature review

Chapter 1 summarises literature pertaining to the research topic and presents the research problem, hypothesis, study aim and objectives.

CHAPTER 2: Review

Chapter 2 presents a review article "*MicroRNAs as diagnostic biomarkers of diabetes during pregnancy*" that was submitted to the *Journal of Diabetes Research*. The review discusses the role that miRNAs play during pregnancy and in pregnancies complicated by diabetes.

CHAPTER 3: Materials and Methods

Chapter 3 presents the experimental design and the materials and methods that were used in this study.

CHAPTER 4: Results

Chapter 4 presents the results generated in this study. Results are displayed as tables, graphs or heatmaps where appropriate.

CHAPTER 5: Discussion and Conclusion

Chapter 5 summarises and discusses the thesis findings within the context of existing literature. It highlights the novelty and significance of the study findings. Moreover, the strengths and limitations of the study, and recommendations for future research are stated.

CHAPTER 1: LITERATURE REVIEW

1.1 Maternal diabetes

Maternal diabetes is an escalating health burden and a global public health crisis. The condition is associated with an increased risk of pregnancy complications for both mother and child and also increases their risk of developing non-communicable diseases (NCDs) such as type 2 diabetes (T2DM) and cardiovascular disease in later life (Dornhorst and Banerjee, 2010). Several lines of evidence suggest that the frequency and severity of adverse pregnancy outcomes are correlated with the severity of maternal diabetes, with pregestational diabetes associated with worse pregnancy outcomes than diabetes first detected in pregnancy (Fong et al., 2014). The specific mechanisms through which pregestational diabetes elicits more severe pregnancy complications are unknown. However, it has been speculated that higher levels and longer intrauterine exposure to hyperglycaemia may be potential mechanisms that link pregestational diabetes with worse outcomes (Fetita et al., 2006; Fong et al., 2014). These effects may be facilitated by metabolic and/or molecular mediators, which have not been elucidated to date. In recent years, epigenetic mechanisms such has miRNAs have garnered interest as tools to understand diabetes pathophysiology during pregnancy (Zhao et al., 2011; Tagoma et al., 2018). This literature review provides an overview of diabetes in pregnancy and the role of miRNAs, highlighting their role during disease and pregnancy.

1.2 The global burden

Maternal diabetes can be classified as either pregestational type 1 diabetes mellitus (T1DM) or T2DM, T1DM or T2DM first detected in pregnancy, or gestational diabetes mellitus (GDM), a milder form of hyperglycaemia that develops during pregnancy and usually resolves after delivery (Dornhorst and Banerjee, 2010; Msollo et al., 2019). It is estimated that 21.3 million pregnancies worldwide (16%) are complicated by diabetes, of which, ~6.2% are due to pregestational T1DM and T2DM, ~7.4% due to T1DM and T2DM first detected in pregnancy, and ~84% are due to GDM (International Diabetes Federation, 2019) (Figure 1). Alarmingly, these statistics may be an underestimation since many cases of maternal diabetes remain undetected, particularly in poorly resourced health care settings (International Diabetes Federation, 2019). In Africa, it has been estimated that up to 60% of diabetes cases are undiagnosed, while suboptimal diabetes screening and diagnostic strategies during

pregnancy may miss many cases of maternal diabetes (International Diabetes Federation, 2019). A recent study conducted in an urban setting in South Africa reported that a significant number of women with GDM were missed when using risk factor-base selective screening rather than universal screening which is widely adopted at various academic units in the country (Adam and Rheeder, 2017).



Figure 1. Global prevalence of maternal diabetes types (International Diabetes Federation, 2019) Abbreviations: GDM, gestational diabetes; T1DM, Type 1 diabetes; T2DM, Type 2 diabetes (Chart created with Microsoft Excel, 2010)

The health care costs of treating maternal diabetes have been estimated to be ~25.1% more than treating pregnant women without diabetes (Kolu et al., 2012), while in the long-term these women pose an additional burden to the health system due to their increased risk of developing or worsening NCDs (Kim et al., 2002; Bellamy et al., 2009). This dire situation is compounded by the rapidly rising obesity prevalence, arguably the single largest modifiable risk factor for diabetes (Al-Goblan et al., 2014). Epidemiological studies have consistently reported high rates of obesity, particularly amongst women of reproductive age (Hruby and Hu, 2015). Unfortunately, these high rates of obesity, spurred by urbanisation and the consumption of carbohydrate and fat dense diets, may also occur in poorly resourced health care settings that are least equipped to deal with maternal diabetes. Other risk factors for maternal diabetes include being older than 35 years of age, family history of diabetes or

history of stillbirth, macrosomia or previous GDM, or lifestyle factors such as consuming an unhealthy diet, being physically inactive, smoking and alcohol consumption (Chan et al., 2009; Imoh et al., 2016; Larrabure-Torrealva et al., 2018).

1.3 Pathophysiology

All types of maternal diabetes are characterised by hyperglycaemia, although the mechanisms that underlie them differ (Figure 2). Maternal T1DM is defined as a chronic autoimmune disease characterised by destruction of pancreatic beta- (β) cells (Vargas et al., 2010). These women become insulin deficient and rely on exogeneous insulin administration to achieve blood glucose control. In contrast, the pathogenesis of maternal T2DM is primarily associated with obesity and insulin resistance, and the inability of insulin sensitive tissues to respond appropriately to insulin. Subsequently, this may lead to defective insulin secretion by pancreatic β -cells, thereby leading to hyperglycaemia (Nolan et al., 2011). Unfortunately, many cases of pregestational T2DM are first diagnosed during pregnancy due to poor access to health care (Chivese et al., 2019). It is argued that the pathogenesis of T2DM and GDM are similar, with both conditions associated with insulin resistance and pancreatic (β) -cell dysfunction (Kim et al., 2002; Herath et al., 2017). However, GDM is a milder form of hyperglycaemia that develops due to maternal metabolic adaptation during pregnancy (Plows et al., 2018). It is believed that GDM develops in women who are unable to mount a compensatory β -cell response to counteract normal insulin resistance that develops during pregnancy. The development of insulin resistance during pregnancy, which is mainly due to placental hormone production (growth hormone, corticotropin, placental lactogen, oestrogen and progesterone) (Handwerger and Freemark, 2000), plays a crucial role in fetal nutrition and allows glucose to be shunted to the growing fetus (Coustan, 2020).



Figure 2. Schematic diagram illustrating progression to maternal diabetes

(Image created with BioRender.com)

A) Pregestational type 1 diabetes (T1DM) occurs when the immune system attacks pancreatic β -cells causing insulin deficiency and hyperglycaemia, B) Pregestational type 2 diabetes (T2DM) occurs due to environmental, lifestyle and genetic factors that causes insulin resistance in peripheral tissue such as skeletal muscle, liver and adipose tissue and β -cell impairment in the pancreas, leading to hyperglycaemia, C) Gestational diabetes mellitus (GDM) occurs due to an increase in maternal placental hormones, which causes insulin resistance in peripheral tissue such as skeletal muscle, liver and adipose tissue. As a result, pancreatic β -cells compensates by increasing insulin secretion and production, leading to normoglycaemia, while failure to adapt to the increased insulin demand leads to hyperglycaemia and subsequently GDM.

Metabolic pathways such as insulin signalling and secretion, lipid metabolism and inflammation are dysregulated during maternal diabetes (Mazaki-Tovi et al., 2007; Pendeloski et al., 2017). Insulin is a peptide hormone produced by β -cells in the pancreatic islets of Langerhans, and is important for glucose homeostasis (Wilcox, 2005). High levels of insulin in pregnancy are associated with the development of GDM (Georgiou et al., 2008; Liang et al., 2016), while an association between decreased insulin sensitivity and pregnancy-related hypertensive disorders have been reported (Kaaja et al., 1999). C-peptide is the

cleavage product generated during the conversion of proinsulin to mature insulin (Venugopal et al., 2021), and is used to assess the insulin secretory reserve and β -cell function (Leighton et al., 2017). Although T1DM is characterised by insulin deficiency, high levels of C-peptide and improvement in β -cell function and glycaemic control have been reported in women with T1DM during pregnancy (Nielsen et al., 2009). Adiponectin is an adipocyte-derived hormone with insulin-sensitizing and anti-inflammatory characteristics that plays an important role in maintaining energy balance (Pheiffer et al., 2021). This adipokine exists in three forms, low, medium and high molecular weight (HMW) molecules, with the latter being the predominant isoform in circulation and considered the most active biological isoform, particularly in relation to insulin sensitivity (Liu et al., 2007). Low levels of adiponectin are associated with increased insulin resistance during pregnancy (Catalano et al., 2006; Guelfi et al., 2017) and the development of GDM (Bao et al., 2015). Triglycerides (TG) are ester compounds made up of glycerol and three fatty acid molecules. During pregnancy, TG levels increase in response to oestrogen stimulation (Ghio et al., 2011; Ryckman et al., 2013), and have been associated with an increased risk of GDM (Ryckman et al., 2015; Eppel et al., 2021). Creactive protein (CRP) is a plasma protein that serves as a common biomarker for systemic inflammation (Ridker et al., 2000) and is associated with GDM and T2DM (Nesto, 2004; Alamolhoda et al., 2020).

1.4 Complications

Maternal diabetes is associated with adverse short- and long-term pregnancy outcomes for both mother and child (Benhalima et al., 2019; Wu et al., 2020). In the short term, maternal complications include preeclampsia and caesarean section, while fetal complications include macrosomia, shoulder dystocia, hypoglycaemia, hyperbilirubinaemia and congenital malformations (O'Sullivan et al., 2011; Benhalima et al., 2019; Dias et al., 2019a). The mechanisms that mediate fetal complications are not fully elucidated, but it has been speculated that maternal hyperglycaemia induces reactive oxygen species (ROS), which causes deoxyribonucleic acid (DNA) damage in the fetus, leading to apoptosis and abnormalities in organs (Ornoy et al., 2015). Another proposed mechanism whereby maternal diabetes may elicit fetal complications is mediated by hyperinsulinaemia, leading to increased fetal growth and macrosomia (Barnes-Powell, 2007; Sugrue and Zera, 2018). Moreover, hyperinsulinaemia has been shown to deplete fetal oxygen storage capability, leading to fetal hypoxia and hypertension (Schwartz and Teramo, 2000; Barnes-Powell, 2007). The long-term consequences of maternal diabetes have gained increased interest in recent years, particularly in women with GDM. Epidemiological studies have demonstrated that women with GDM have a ~7-fold risk of developing T2DM (Bellamy et al., 2009), with ~70% of women with GDM developing T2DM within 3 years in high risk populations (Kim et al., 2002). A recent study conducted in South Africa reported that ~ one third of women with GDM develop T2DM within 5-6 years (Chivese et al., 2019). Women with pregestational diabetes have an increased risk of developing diabetic complications, such as retinopathy, neuropathy, and ischemic heart disease in later life (Schaefer-Graf et al., 2018; Sugrue and Zera, 2018). Maternal diabetes is associated with abnormal intrauterine programming through the "Developmental Origins of Health and Disease" concept , which postulates that an unfavourable intrauterine environment increases the future metabolic risk of children (Mandy and Nyirenda, 2018). Indeed, children born to mothers with diabetes have an increased risk of developing obesity, insulin resistance, hypertension and cardiovascular disease in later life (Sugrue and Zera, 2018).

The risk of pregnancy complications is related to glucose concentrations maintained during pregnancy. The Hyperglycaemia and Adverse Pregnancy Outcomes (HAPO) study, which is one of the largest birth cohort studies conducted to date, followed 23,316 women during pregnancy, and showed that even mild levels of hyperglycaemia during pregnancy, is directly correlated with adverse outcomes including high birth weight, caesarean delivery, and neonatal hypoglycaemia (Metzger et al., 2008). Therefore, achieving optimal glucose control during pregnancy is of utmost importance, with the risk of pregnancy complications reduced in women who are able to achieve tight glucose control (McCance, 2015). Epidemiological studies have provided evidence that the severity of maternal diabetes is related to the frequency and severity of pregnancy complications (Benhalima et al., 2019; Wu et al., 2020). For example, complications are more frequent and severe in women with pregestational diabetes compared to GDM, most likely due to preconceptual and longer exposure to hyperglycaemia during pregnancy (Fetita et al., 2006; Fong et al., 2014).

1.5 Diagnosis

Maternal diabetes that develops during pregnancy may be diagnosed using various methods including random or fasting blood glucose concentrations, or the oral glucose tolerance test (OGTT). Currently, the most widely accepted method of diagnosis is based on screening for risk factors such as age ≥ 35 years, obesity, family history of diabetes, history of stillbirth, macrosomia or previous GDM, followed by blood glucose testing with the OGTT (Dias et al., 2019b). There is currently no accepted diagnostic criteria that is universally used although many international bodies advocate for the International Association of Diabetes and Pregnancy Study Groups (IADPSG) criteria (Metzger and Coustan, 1998; World Health Organisation, 2013; International Association of Diabetes and Pregnancy Study Groups Consensus Panel, 2010). The IADPSG criteria advocate for universal screening of all pregnant women at 24–28 weeks of gestation, based on findings of the HAPO study, which showed that mild levels of glucose intolerance, even at glucose concentrations previously considered normal, are associated with adverse pregnancy outcomes (Metzger et al., 2008). However, to date, there is lack of evidence that the use of the IADPSG criteria leads to significant clinical improvements in maternal and fetal outcomes (Shang and Lin, 2014; Adam et al., 2019), while limited resources hamper the use of these criteria in low-resource settings (Rheeder et al., 2017). Pregestational diabetes is usually diagnosed by self-report, medical records, or medication usage.

1.6 Treatment

Optimal glucose control in pregnancies complicated by diabetes may improve pregnancy outcomes and reduce the risk of maternal and fetal complications (American Diabetes Association, 2010). Methods to control blood glucose include regular self-monitoring of blood glucose levels, pregnancy education, lifestyle management and pharmacological therapy preconception and during pregnancy (Magon and Chauhan, 2012; Sugrue and Zera, 2018). Self-monitoring of blood glucose levels allows for dietary modifications to normalise glucose fluctuations timeously (American Diabetes Association, 2010). The pregnancy glucose targets recommended by the American Diabetes Association (ADA) are: fasting glucose < 5.3 mmol/L, one-hour postprandial glucose < 7.8 mmol/L and two-hour postprandial glucose < 6.7 mmol/L (American Diabetes Association, 2019). Pregnancy education includes preconception care and counselling for diabetic women of child bearing age, with emphasis placed on the management of hyperglycaemia and adverse outcomes in pregnancy (Bell, 2001; Hofmanova, 2006), while physical activity and a healthier diet is recommended during pregnancy as it improves insulin sensitivity and stimulates glucose uptake (King et al., 1988; American Diabetes Association, 2015). Plant-based diets and

physical activity regimens have shown ameliorative properties against maternal diabetes (Mijatovic-Vukas et al., 2018; Fedullo et al., 2021; Schiattarella et al., 2021). Pharmacological therapeutics, such as insulin (Karter et al., 2010), metformin (Holman, 2007), or both metformin and insulin with or without intensive lifestyle management (American Diabetes Association, 2015; Sikorskaya et al., 2021), have been shown to regulate glucose concentrations during pregnancy.

1.7 Epigenetics

Epigenetic mechanisms refer to changes in gene expression without changes in the underlying nucleotide sequence and play an important role in normal development, where they regulate the expression of genes involved in diverse biological processes such as cell proliferation, differentiation, apoptosis and metabolism (Chuang and Jones, 2007; Wu et al., 2018). Accordingly, the dysregulation of epigenetic processes is implicated in the development of various diseases. Studies have shown that epigenetic changes are geneenvironment interactions, which can be induced by factors such as diet, physical activity, smoking and disease (Bovell et al., 2013; Florio et al., 2020; Karere et al., 2021). The most studied epigenetic mechanisms include DNA methylation, histone modifications and noncoding ribonucleic acids (RNAs). DNA methylation, which is primarily associated with gene-silencing, is the best characterised epigenetic mark, while several studies have reported its potential role in the pathophysiology of diabetes (Pheiffer et al., 2016; Wu et al., 2018; Dias et al., 2019c). Histone modifications play an important role in the processes that regulate DNA accessibility and transcription, and have been shown to regulate the expression of genes associated with diabetes (Muka et al., 2016). Non-coding RNAs are RNA molecules that do not encode functional proteins and play a prominent role in the regulation of gene expression. MicroRNAs (miRNAs) and long non-coding RNAs are considered the most common regulatory RNAs in epigenetic control and disease (Ha and Kim, 2014). MiRNAs are arguably the most studied non-coding RNAs with regard to maternal diabetes and will be reviewed in detail below.

1.7.1 MiRNAs

MiRNAs are a class of short (~ 22 nucleotides), highly conserved, single stranded noncoding RNA molecules that regulate gene expression through post-transcriptional mechanisms (O'Brien et al., 2018). MiRNAs were first discovered in *Caenorhabditis elegans* in 1993 (Lee

et al., 1993) and since then over 2 500 miRNAs have been identified in humans (Alles et al., 2019; Satake et al., 2018), which regulate ~ 60% of genes in the genome (Zhang and Wang, 2017). MiRNAs are synthesised in the nucleus and via a complex series of steps are transported to the cytoplasm to perform their function (Ha and Kim, 2014). They are known as master regulators of gene expression and control various biological processes including cell proliferation and differentiation, apoptosis, metabolism and also facilitate cell–cell communication (Bayraktar et al., 2017). Accordingly, dysregulated miRNA expression is implicated in the pathophysiology of metabolic disease and is associated with conditions including cancer, obesity, T2DM and cardiovascular disease (Croce, 2009; Méndez-Mancilla et al., 2018). MiRNA patterns are altered during pregnancy, with dysregulated expression observed in pregnancies complicated by diabetes (Wang et al., 2019), and associated with maternal and perinatal complications (Satake et al., 2018). In 2014, Kappil and Chen demonstrated that *in utero* (in the womb) exposure to maternal diabetes influence offspring outcomes through epigenetic pathways such as miRNA expression (Kappil and Chen, 2014).

1.7.2 MicroRNA nomenclature

A nomenclature system has been adopted for miRNAs. The numbering of miRNAs is consecutive, with the prefix "mir" followed by a dash (-). The uncapitalised "mir" stands for premature miRNA, while the capitalised "miR" stands for mature miRNA. The prefix is followed by the unique identification number assigned to each miRNA in the order of their discovery (for example, miR-1, miR-2, miR-3, etc.) (Wright and Bruford, 2011). When two mature miRNAs originate from the 3' or 5' arms of the same primary miRNA, they are identified by a "-3p" or "-5p" suffix at the end (for example, miR-1-3p or miR-1-5p) (Issler and Chen, 2015). When one arm's mature miRNA is more abundant than the other, the miRNA with the lowest concentration gets an asterisk (*) next to its name (Bartel, 2004). MiRNAs with nearly identical mature sequences are labelled with a lower-case letter to indicate their structural similarity (for example, miR-1a and miR-1b). The inclusion of a number (for example, miR-1a-1 and miR-1a-2) distinguishes distinct precursor sequences and genomic loci from different sections of the genome that express similar mature sequences (Issler and Chen, 2015). MiRNAs are also denoted with a three-letter prefix and annotated according to the species in which they are found. Hsa-miR-1-3p, for example, is found in Homo sapiens (human), but mmu-miR-1-3p is found in Mus musculus (mouse) (Ambros et al., 2003).

1.7.3 Biogenesis and mechanism of action

MiRNA biogenesis is a complex process that begins in the nucleus of cell (Figure 3). RNA polymerase II (and possibly RNA polymerase III) transcribes miRNA genes located in intraand intergenic regions of the genome, to produce primary miRNA transcripts of ~1000 nucleotides (Bartel, 2004). A microprocessor complex Drosha (RNase III endonuclease) cleaves primary miRNA transcripts to generate stem-loop precursor miRNAs that are ~70 nucleotides long. Precursor miRNAs are transported to the cytoplasm by Ran-GTP and the export receptor (Exportin-5), where after Dicer (RNase III endonuclease) cleaves them to produce mature miRNAs. The RNA-induced silencing complex (RISC) guides mature miRNA complexes to messenger RNA (mRNA) for degradation or silencing (Bartel, 2004; Guo et al., 2010). MiRNA-RISC complex binds to the 3' untranslated region (UTR) of mRNA inducing mRNA degradation or translational repression (Guo et al., 2010). The interaction is dependent on the complementarity at the miRNA seed region, a conserved sequence that is usually located at positions 2-8 from the miRNA 5'-end. Although miRNAs are mainly implicated in gene silencing, studies have suggested that miRNAs may have additional functions such as promoting protein synthesis (Vasudevan et al., 2007; Ørom et al., 2008), regulating gene transcription possibly through interacting with other epigenetic mechanisms such as DNA methylation (Pheiffer et al., 2016) and influencing nuclear transcript stability and alternative splicing events when reimported into the nucleus (Roberts, 2014).



Figure 3. A diagram illustrating the biogenesis of miRNAs and its mode of action (Image taken from Winter et al., 2009)

MiRNA transcripts (pri-miRNA) are transcribed by RNA Polymerase (pol II or III) and processed to premiRNAs by microprocessors (Drosha and DGCR8), and thereafter transported to the cytoplasm by Exportin-5 and RanGTP. Pre-miRNAs are processed into short miRNA duplexes by Dicer and its associated binding protein TRBP. The RNA-induced silencing complex (miRISC)-associated argonaut protein (Ago2) binds to the 5' mature miRNA strand and silences their messenger RNA target region (image adopted from Winter et al., 2009). Abbreviations: pri, primary ; pre, precursor; RanGTP, transporter protein; TRBP, transactivation response element RNA-binding protein; Ago, argonaut; RNA, ribonucleic acid; RISC, RNA-induced silencing complex; mRNA, messenger RNA.

1.7.4 Circulating miRNAs

In recent years, studies have provided evidence that miRNAs are located in circulation. These circulating miRNAs are released from cells as exosomes, microvesicles, apoptotic bodies, or are non-vesicle bound and are thought to play a central role in cell-to-cell communication (Bayraktar et al., 2017). Several studies have reported that miRNA expression in serum or

plasma may reflect tissue expression (Liang et al., 2007; Ma et al., 2019; Mompeón et al., 2020). Circulating miRNAs are stably expressed and can be quantified with relative ease using common laboratory techniques such as quantitative real time polymerase chain reaction (qRT-PCR) (Li and Kowdley, 2012). Accordingly, circulating miRNAs have received increasing interest as potential biomarkers of disease or to explain disease pathophysiology (Soifer et al., 2007). Circulating miRNAs are highly stable due to their association with various carriers such as lipoproteins, RNA-binding proteins (AGO2 and nucleophosmin 1 (NPM1)) and microvesicles such as exosomes, which has sparked interest in their potential role as biomarkers.

1.7.5 MiRNAs during pregnancy

Pregnancy enacts enormous stresses on the mother's physiology, causing several physiological, biochemical, and metabolic adaptations to accommodate fetal growth and development (Soma-Pillay et al., 2016). In recent years, an important role for miRNAs during pregnancy and pregnancy-related diseases has emerged (Cai et al., 2017; Poirier et al., 2017). MiRNAs are key metabolic and developmental regulators and facilitate maternal metabolic adaption by responding to physiological changes during pregnancy and may serve as cell-tocell communicators between maternal cell types and tissues, and between maternal and fetal tissues (Mitchell et al., 2015). In 2013, genome-wide analysis found that more than 600 miRNAs are expressed in the placenta (Chen and Wang, 2013), which suggests an important role for miRNAs during pregnancy. The placenta plays an important role in maternal metabolic adaptation to pregnancy; thus, the differential expression of placental miRNAs may underlie pregnancy-related pathophysiological changes. Placental miRNAs are secreted into maternal circulation and can be quantified in plasma or serum (Chim et al., 2008), thus placental-derived circulating miRNAs may serve as biomarkers of placental dysfunction and pregnancy-related disorders. Many miRNAs have been identified in placental, uterine tissue and in maternal blood using techniques such as qRT-PCR, microarrays and sequencing. These miRNAs regulate processes that are critical for adequate placentation in early pregnancy and facilitate the flow of blood and nutrients between the mother and her fetus. Accordingly, many studies have reported that maternal circulating miRNAs are associated with pregnancy complications including placental weight (Miura et al., 2014), placental abruption (Miura et al., 2016), placental previa (Hasegawa et al., 2015), preeclampsia, gestational hypertension, and fetal growth restriction (Hromadnikova et al., 2013) preeclampsia and intrauterine growth restriction (Hromadnikova et al., 2017), macrosomia (Jiang et al., 2015) and GDM (Pheiffer et al., 2018a; 2019). Although pregnancy adaption is mainly driven by placental factors, the importance of other maternal metabolic tissues during pregnancy is increasingly recognised (Poirier et al., 2017).

1.8 The COVID-19 pandemic and risk of diabetes during pregnancy

The novel Coronavirus disease-19 (COVID-19) is a highly contagious disease caused by severe acute respiratory syndrome-coronavirus-2 (SARS-CoV-2) (Huang et al., 2020). The first outbreak of COVID-19 occurred in Wuhan, China, in December 2019. COVID-19 was declared a pandemic by the World Health Organisation (WHO) shortly after, and strict lockdown restrictions were imposed on most aspects of everyday life, including employment, social life, leisure time, and healthcare (World Health Organisation, 2020). The COVID-19 pandemic has exacerbated the incidence of maternal diabetes. Recently, Justman et al. (2020) reported that COVID-19 lockdown restriction is linked to a higher risk of developing diabetes in pregnancy (Justman et al., 2020), perhaps due to the consumption of unhealthy diets or maternal stress and cortisol production, factors that are associated with insulin resistance, a major risk factor for diabetes (Rosmond, 2003; Joseph and Golden, 2017). Telemedicine, remote diabetes education and technology implementation, including women's perspectives, is key to provide effective regulation of patients' glucose management, and in turn greatly improves pregnancy outcomes affected by COVID-19 (Murphy, 2020).

1.9 Research problem

Maternal diabetes is a formidable health burden and poses an increasing threat to the health of mother and child in the short- and long-term (Benhalima et al., 2019; Wu et al., 2020). All types of diabetes in pregnancy are associated with pregnancy complications, although the risk is increased in women with pregestational diabetes (Fong et al., 2014). The specific mechanisms through which pregestational diabetes elicit more severe pregnancy complications are largely unknown, although more severe and longer *in utero* exposure to hyperglycemia may be implicated in this process. Deciphering the mechanisms that underlie maternal T1DM, T2DM and GDM may aid the understanding of how these different types of diabetes are linked with pregnancy outcomes. The expression of miRNAs is altered during pregnancy and diabetes, thus profiling these epigenetic markers may offer potential as tools to elucidate the mechanisms that underlie the different types of maternal diabetes.

1.10 Hypothesis, Aim and Objectives

Evidence in the literature indicates that unique molecular mechanisms may underlie the different types of maternal diabetes. The expression of miRNAs, important epigenetic markers that regulate the expression of various pregnancy and diabetes associated genes, are altered during disease. Therefore, we hypothesised that miRNAs are altered during maternal diabetes, and that expression would differ between T1DM, T2DM and GDM.

The aim of the study was to assess the effect of maternal diabetes type on circulating miRNA expression.

The three objectives to achieve the study aim were:

- i. To assess the metabolic state of pregnant women with diabetes by measuring serum insulin, C-peptide, total adiponectin, HMW adiponectin, TG and CRP concentrations using enzyme-linked immunosorbent assays (ELISAs).
- ii. To profile miRNAs in the serum of pregnant women with T1DM, T2DM and GDM using the Human Serum/Plasma miScript miRNA PCR array.
- iii. To explore the functional significance of differentially expressed miRNAs by conducting bioinformatics to identify miRNA gene targets and their pathways.

CHAPTER 2: REVIEW

MicroRNAs as diagnostic biomarkers of diabetes in pregnancy

Adapted from:

Matladi Masete^{1,2}, Stephanie Dias¹, Nompumelelo Malaza^{1,2}, Sumaiya Adam³ and Carmen Pheiffer^{1,3,4} Submitted to *Journal of Diabetes Research*, submission number, ID 9045205

¹Biomedical Research and Innovation Platform, South African Medical Research Council, Tygerberg, 7505, South Africa;

²Department of Reproductive Biology, Faculty of Health Sciences, University of Pretoria, Private Bag X169, Pretoria 0001, South Africa;

³Department of Obstetrics and Gynaecology, University of Pretoria, Private Bag X169, Pretoria 0001, South Africa;

⁴Division of Medical Physiology, Faculty of Health Sciences, Stellenbosch University, P.O. Box 19063, Tygerberg, 7505, South Africa

Contribution:

Conceptualisation and original review draft; literature search and study selection; data extraction; manuscript writing

2.1 Abstract

Diabetes in pregnancy poses a serious health risk to both mother and child. Several lines of evidence suggest that pregestational diabetes is associated with more severe pregnancy complications than gestational diabetes (GDM), most likely due to preconceptual exposure, higher level of hyperglycaemia and different pathophysiological mechanisms. In recent years, microRNAs (miRNAs), particularly placental-derived miRNAs, have emerged as key players in the pathophysiology of pregnancy-related disorders. MiRNA signatures in pregnant women with type 1 diabetes (T1DM), type 2 diabetes (T2DM) and GDM may offer insight into their different underlying mechanisms and health consequences. In this review we provide an overview of diabetes in pregnancy and describe miRNA biology focusing on the potential role of miRNAs during pregnancy and pregnancy-related complications. Studies that have profiled miRNAs in pregnancies complicated by diabetes are summarised. Our findings highlight the lack of miRNA profiling in pregnant women with T1DM and T2DM, and the challenges posed by miRNAs. We identified four miRNAs that were similarly differentially expressed in women with GDM compared to pregnant women with normoglycaemia in two or more studies. These miRNAs may serve as potential biomarkers for GDM. Further studies to investigate the importance of miRNAs in the development of the placenta and their contribution to cell-to-cell communication in pregnancies complicated by T1DM, T2DM and GDM are warranted. Such studies will provide insight into the mechanisms that underlie the different types of diabetes and could identify predictive biomarkers of adverse pregnancy outcomes, potentially allowing mitigation of these complications.

Keywords: microRNAs; pregnancy; type 1 diabetes mellitus; type 2 diabetes mellitus; gestational diabetes mellitus.

2.2 Introduction

Diabetes in pregnancy is a significant cause of morbidity for mothers and their children. The prevalence of diabetes in pregnancy is increasing globally and has been exacerbated by the recent COVID-19 pandemic. For example, the COVID-19 lockdown restrictions are associated with an increased risk of developing diabetes during pregnancy (Justman et al., 2020), possibly due to increased maternal stress, cortisol production and insulin resistance. (Rosmond, 2003; Joseph and Golden, 2017). Type 1 diabetes mellitus (T1DM), type 2 diabetes mellitus (T2DM) and gestational diabetes mellitus (GDM) are the three main types of diabetes that complicate pregnancies. Globally, ~15.8% of live births (20.4 million) are associated with diabetes in pregnancy, of which 83.6% are due to GDM, 7.9% due to preexisting T1DM or T2DM, and 8.5% due to T1DM and T2DM first detected in pregnancy (International Diabetes Federation, 2019). Although all types of diabetes are associated with adverse health consequences for mother and child, pregestational diabetes has poorer pregnancy outcomes than GDM, possibly due to different pathophysiological mechanisms, level of hyperglycaemia and exposure to a hyperglycaemic environment earlier in placental development (Huynh et al., 2015; Xiang et al., 2018). Pregestational diabetes is associated with an increased risk of fetal and neonatal loss, congenital malformations, preterm delivery, macrosomia, pre-eclampsia, caesarean deliveries, and maternal mortality. Although GDM also carries an increased risk for these adverse outcomes, the complications are not as severe or common (Mathiesen and Vaz, 2008; Shand et al., 2008). Women with pregestational diabetes are treated with insulin and/or metformin (Kitzmiller et al., 2008; Simmons, 2010), whereas the first line of treatment for GDM is diet and exercise, followed by pharmacological therapy if women fail to reach their glucose targets using diet and exercise (Dias et al., 2019b). Studies have reported that plant-based diets and physical activity can reduce the risk of developing GDM (Mijatovic-Vukas et al., 2018; Fedullo et al., 2021; Schiattarella et al., 2021), possibly by improving immune function and decreasing the expression of proinflammatory cytokines such as interleukin 6, which is of particular importance during the COVID-19 pandemic (Fedullo et al., 2021), and ameliorating oxidative stress and insulin resistance (Schiattarella et al., 2021). An improved understanding of the pathophysiological mechanisms that underlie diabetes in pregnancy may facilitate strategies to mitigate adverse pregnancy outcomes.

MicroRNAs (miRNAs) are short, single stranded non-coding RNA molecules that have attracted considerable interest as biomarkers to improve diagnostic strategies and to further our understanding of the pathophysiological processes that underlie disease development (Ardekani and Naeini, 2010; Turchinovich et al., 2012; Guay and Regazzi, 2017). MiRNAs regulate various biological pathways and their dysregulation play a critical role in disease development. Furthermore, the important role that miRNAs play during pregnancy and its complications is increasingly recognised (Cai et al., 2017; Poirier et al., 2017).

This narrative review provides a comprehensive update of studies that have profiled miRNAs in diabetic pregnancies. Firstly, we provide an overview of diabetes in pregnancy, describing miRNA biology and focusing on its role during pregnancy and how miRNAs may impact maternal metabolism and fetal development. We also summarise studies that have profiled miRNAs in pregnancies complicated by diabetes. Four databases, Pubmed, Web of Science, EBSCOhost and Scopus were searched using the search terms "type 1 diabetes", "type 2 diabetes", "gestational diabetes mellitus", "pregestational diabetes", "maternal diabetes", "microRNA" and "pregnancy", including corresponding synonyms and associated terms for each word. We included all studies that profiled miRNAs in pregnancies complicated by T1DM, T2DM or GDM and excluded articles that investigated non-diabetic, pregnant women.

2.2.1 Overview of diabetes in pregnancy

The increasing prevalence of diabetes in pregnancy, both pregestational (T1DM and T2DM) and GDM is partly attributed to the increasing obesity and T2DM epidemics (Ali and Dornhorst, 2011; Dornhorst and Banerjee, 2010; McCance, 2015). T1DM occurs due to the failure of pancreatic beta (β) cells to produce insulin and accounts for approximately 5-10% of diabetes cases worldwide (American Diabetes Association, 2013). T2DM, which accounts for 90-95% of diabetes cases globally (American Diabetes Association, 2013), primarily develops due to obesity and insulin resistance (Kahn et al., 2006). GDM, a milder form of hyperglycaemia with onset in the second trimester, is thought to develop in pregnant women who are unable to mount a compensatory β -cell response to counteract insulin resistance, a characteristic of pregnancy (Kühl, 1991). The screening and diagnosis of GDM is contentious with some international bodies advocating for universal screening at 24-28 weeks of gestation (International Association of Diabetes and Pregnancy Study Groups Consensus Panel, 2010),

while others recommend risk-factor screening (Dias et al., 2019b). The recommendation for universal screening is based on findings from the Hyperglycaemia and Adverse Pregnancy Outcome (HAPO) study, which shows that mild levels of glucose intolerance, even at glucose concentrations previously considered normal, are associated with adverse pregnancy outcomes (Metzger et al., 2008). Despite this recommendation, many countries and institutions still use selective or risk-factor screening to diagnose GDM, which, unfortunately, has poor predictive value and fails to identify a large proportion of women with GDM (Dias et al., 2019b).

Diabetes in pregnancy is considered a high-risk condition for both mother and baby, with perinatal complications more common than in non-diabetic pregnant women (Ali and Dornhorst, 2011; Dornhorst and Banerjee, 2010; McCance, 2015). It has been suggested that pregestational diabetes is associated with more severe pregnancy complications than GDM, most likely due to preconceptual and longer exposure to hyperglycaemia during pregnancy (Fong et al., 2014). Optimal glucose control during the first 12 weeks of pregnancy is critical. Hyperglycaemia leads to excess reactive oxygen species production and oxidative stress, which damages embryonic DNA and modifies key apoptotic regulatory genes, thereby increasing the risk of congenital malformations (Dornhorst and Banerjee, 2010; Guerin et al., 2007). In the second trimester, maternal hyperglycaemia stimulates fetal insulin secretion leading to accelerated fetal growth. Other growth factors, including human placental growth hormone, fetal insulin-like growth factor and tumour necrosis factor α , are also influenced by maternal hyperglycaemia. Moreover, maternal hyperglycaemia may have detrimental longterm effects on fetal pancreatic islets, potentially increasing the risk of diabetes in later life. Persistent maternal hyperglycaemia and fetal hyperinsulinaemia creates a metabolic environment that predisposes to pregnancy complications such as miscarriage, stillbirth, fetal malformations, transient macrosomia, congenital neonatal morbidity including hypoglycaemia, neonatal death due to congenital malformation and prematurity, and an increased risk developing obesity and/or diabetes in later life (Dornhorst and Banerjee, 2010). The risk increases with worsening glycaemic control, maternal obesity and increasing age. As such, optimal antenatal management and strict maternal glycaemic control is essential to improve pregnancy outcomes (McCance, 2015). Key to such initiatives is the identification of sensitive biomarkers of glucose control that may serve as predictors of poor maternal and fetal outcomes in pregnancies complicated by diabetes.

2.2.2 MicroRNA biology

MiRNAs were first identified in Caenorhabditis elegans in 1993 (Lee et al., 1993) and have since emerged as powerful regulators of diverse biological processes including development, proliferation, differentiation, apoptosis and metabolism (Ardekani and Naeini, 2010; Cai et al., 2017; Regazzi, 2018). MiRNAs are short, non-coding, single-stranded RNA molecules that are ~ 22 nucleotides in length and are produced in a stepwise process involving multiple enzymes. MiRNA genes, which are located in intra- and intergenic regions of the genome, are transcribed in the nucleus by RNA polymerase II (and possibly by RNA polymerase III), to produce primary miRNA transcripts of ~1000 nucleotides in length (Bartel, 2004). Primary transcripts are cleaved by the microprocessor complex Drosha RNase III endonuclease to generate stem-loop precursor miRNAs that are ~70 nucleotides long. Ran-GTP and the export receptor (Exportin-5) transports miRNAs to the cytoplasm, where Dicer, a RNase III endonuclease, cleaves them to produce mature miRNAs. Mature miRNAs complex with the RNA-induced silencing complex (RISC), which guides it to messenger RNA (mRNA) for degradation or silencing (Bartel, 2004; Guo et al., 2010). MiRNAs, complexed to RISC, bind to the 3' untranslated region (UTR) of mRNA inducing degradation or translational repression of the mRNA transcript (Guo et al., 2010). This interaction is dependent on the complementarity at the miRNA seed region, a conserved sequence that is usually located at positions 2-8 at the 5'end. Although miRNAs are mainly implicated in gene silencing, studies have suggested that miRNAs may have additional functions such as promoting protein synthesis (Ørom et al., 2008; Vasudevan et al., 2007), regulating gene transcription by interacting with other epigenetic mechanisms such as DNA methylation (Pheiffer et al., 2016) and influencing nuclear transcript stability and alternative splicing events when reimported into the nucleus (Roberts, 2014). Furthermore, recent studies have increasingly recognised the important role extracellular miRNAs play in cell-to-cell communication by either acting locally (paracrine or autocrine) or at distance (endocrine/exocrine) (Gupta et al., 2010; Turchinovich et al., 2012; Guay and Regazzi, 2017). Extracellular miRNAs are highly stable due to their association with various carriers such as lipoproteins, RNA-binding proteins (Argonaute RISC Catalytic Component 2 (AGO2) and nucleophosmin 1 (NPM1)) and microvesicles (e.g., exosomes), which has sparked interest in their potential role as biomarkers.

2.2.3 MicroRNAs and pregnancy

Pregnancy enacts enormous stress on the mother's physiology, causing several physiological, biochemical, and metabolic adaptations to accommodate fetal growth and development (Soma-Pillay et al., 2016). In recent years, an important role for miRNAs during pregnancy and pregnancy-related diseases has emerged (Cai et al., 2017; Poirier et al., 2017). MiRNAs are key metabolic and developmental regulators that facilitate maternal metabolic adaption by responding to physiological changes during pregnancy, serving as cell-to-cell communicators between maternal cell types and tissues, and between maternal and fetal tissues (Mitchell et al., 2015). A large number of miRNAs have been identified in placental and uterine tissue and in maternal blood using techniques such as quantitative real time PCR, microarrays and sequencing. These miRNAs regulate processes that are critical for adequate placentation in early pregnancy and facilitate the flow of blood and nutrients between the mother and her fetus. Although pregnancy adaption is mainly driven by placental factors, the importance of other maternal metabolic tissues is increasingly recognised (Poirier et al., 2017).

Placental-derived circulating miRNAs, which are primarily secreted by exosomes, may reflect the physiological state of the pregnancy and fetal development, thus may offer potential as biomarkers to predict pathologies and pregnancy outcome (Mitchell et al., 2015). This theory is supported by several studies. Exosomes, which are ~40-120 nanometres in size, are secreted into maternal circulation, primarily from syncytiotrophoblasts (Luo et al., 2009), as early as the 6th week of gestation and increase significantly during pregnancy (Salomon et al., 2014; Cai et al., 2017; Poirier et al., 2017). Furthermore, exosomes are released during normal physiological conditions, while the rate of release increases in response to pathological conditions such as hyperglycaemia (Mitchell et al., 2015), suggesting that circulating placental miRNAs may be useful to diagnosis placental dysfunction and may serve as a clinically useful early pregnancy screening test to identify women at risk of developing pregnancy complications. The early detection of women at risk of pregnancy complications may provide an opportunity for risk stratification and intervention to improve maternal and neonatal outcomes. Accordingly, studies have reported that maternal circulating miRNAs are associated with placental weight (Miura et al., 2014), placental abruption (Miura et al., 2016), placental previa (Hasegawa et al., 2015), preeclampsia, gestational hypertension, and fetal growth restriction (Hromadnikova et al.,
2013), preeclampsia and intrauterine growth restriction (Hromadnikova et al., 2017), macrosomia (Jiang et al., 2015) and gestational diabetes (Pheiffer et al., 2018a).

Although T1DM, T2DM and GDM represent distinct pathophysiological states, miRNAs with shared expression between these diabetes types were reported. Using Agilent miRNA arrays, Collares et al. (2013) reported a set of common miRNAs in peripheral blood mononuclear cells of seven female and male patients with T1DM, seven female and male patients with T2DM and six women with GDM (Collares et al., 2013). Nine miRNAs, miR-126, miR-1307, miR-142-3p, miR-142-5p, miR-144, miR-199a-5p, miR-27a, miR-29b and miR-342-3p were common to T1DM, T2DM and GDM, which may reflect metabolic and inflammatory pathways that are shared between T1DM, T2DM and GDM. Interestingly, these authors identified several miRNAs that were unique to each diabetes type. Eleven miRNAs, let-7f, let-7g, miR-103, miR-1260, miR-1274a, miR-1274b, miR-130a, miR-150, miR-20b, miR-21 and miR-720 were unique to T1DM. Five miRNAs, miR-140-3p, miR-199a-3p, miR-222, miR-30e and miR-451 were unique to T2DM. Ten miRNAs, miR-101, miR-1180, miR-1268, miR-181a, miR-181d, miR-26a, miR-29a, miR-29c, miR-30b and miR-595 were unique to GDM (Collares et al., 2013). Specific miRNAs may represent biological markers for each type of diabetes, warranting further investigation as potential mechanisms that underlie the different diabetes types. Unfortunately, patients with T1DM and T2DM were not pregnant and included both females and males. MiRNAs are dynamic and altered in response to physiological changes during pregnancy (Mitchell et al., 2015), while sex differences in miRNA expression have been reported (Karere et al., 2021). Thus, studies on miRNA profiling in pregnant women with T1DM, T2DM and GDM may be more suitable to identify potential biomarkers of pregnancy health and disease, fetal development and pregnancy outcomes.

2.2.4 MicroRNA profiling in pregnancies complicated by diabetes

Our comprehensive literature search identified a total of 1785 articles, of which 41 met the inclusion criteria and are included in the review (Figure 4). Studies that did not profile miRNAs in pregnant women with diabetes were excluded. The 41 included studies were case-control studies on GDM conducted between 2011 and 2021 (Table 1). GDM was defined using different diagnostic criteria (diagnostic criteria cut-off values Appendix 1, Table 10) including the 2010 International Association of Diabetes and Pregnancy Study

Groups (IADPSG) criteria (n=11); American Diabetes Association (ADA) criteria in 2004 (n=2), 2006 (n=1), 2010 (n=2), 2011 (n=1), 2012 (n=1) and 2016 (n=1); World Health Organisation (WHO) criteria, 2014 (n=1) and IADPSG/WHO, 2013 (n=1); 2011 Italian National Health System guidelines (n=2); 2015 Australasian Diabetes in Pregnancy Society (ADIPS)/WHO, 2014 criteria (n=1); Chinese society for Diabetes Mellitus criteria (n=1); 2013 Endocrine Society Clinical Practice Guideline (n=1); 2016 Guidelines of the Society of Obstetricians and Gynaecologists of Canada (n=1) and the 1979 National Diabetes Data Group (NDDG) criteria (n=1). Thirteen studies did not state what diagnostic criteria were used. None of the included studies profiled maternal miRNAs in pregnant women with T1DM and T2DM. The majority of studies were conducted in Chinese and European women, with only one study conducted in Africa. Sample size varied considerably between studies ranging from three to 204 women. MiRNAs were profiled in various biological samples including serum (n=13), plasma (n=8), placenta (n=11), whole blood (n=9), urine (n=1), human umbilical vein endothelial cells (HUVECs) (n=1), skeletal muscle tissue (n=1) and omental adipose tissue (n=1). Different techniques were employed. The majority of studies profiled miRNAs using quantitative real-time PCR (qRT-PCR) with SYBR Green (n=23), Taqman probes (n=15) and TB Green (n=1). Other techniques included Taqman Low Density arrays (n=1), miRNA sequencing (n=3), Illumina TrueSeq Small RNA kit (n=1), miRCURY LNATM Array (n=2), TaqMan array microfluidics (n=1), miScript array T & B cell activation (n=1), Agilent miRNA Microarrays (n=1), NanoString nCounter human miRNA assay (n=1) and AFFX chip microarrays (n=1). Gestational age at the time of miRNA profiling ranged between 6 and 40 weeks. U6 and C. elegans miR-39 were the most common normalisation controls used.

A wide range of miRNAs were found to be differentially expressed, with only a few similarly expressed across studies. MiRNAs that were investigated in two or more studies included miR-16 (n=7), miR-222 (n=6), miR-29a (n=6), miR-19b (n=5), miR-19a (n=5), miR-330 (n=4), miR-132 (n=4), miR-20a (n=3), miR-517 (n=3), miR-223 (n=3), miR-210 (n=3), miR-17 (n=3), miR-155 (n=3), miR-29b (n=2), miR-657 (n=2), miR-92a (n=2), miR-137 (n=2), miR-483 (n=2), miR-342 (n=2), miR-30d (n=2), let-7g (n=2), miR-195 (n=2), miR-21 (n=2), miR-9 (n=2) and miR-494 (n=2). Seven studies reported on miR-16 expression. Of these, three studies reported higher miR-16 expression in the serum and plasma of women with GDM compared to pregnant women with normoglycaemia (Cao et al., 2017; Sørensen et al.,

2021; Zhu et al., 2015). In contrast, Herrera-Van Oostdam et al. (2020) reported lower miR-16 expression in urine samples of women with GDM in the third trimester, but higher expression in the first and second trimesters (Herrera-Van Oostdam et al., 2020). Three studies reported no difference in miR-16 expression between women with or without GDM (Hocaoglu et al., 2019, 2020; Pheiffer et al., 2018b). Of the six studies that profiled miR-222, two studies reported higher expression of miR-222 in omental adipose tissue and plasma of women with GDM compared to pregnant women with normoglycaemia (Shi et al., 2014; Tagoma et al., 2018), while two studies reported lower expression of miR-222 in serum of pregnant women with GDM compared to pregnant women with normoglycaemia (Pheiffer et al., 2018b; Zhao et al., 2011). Wander et al. (2017) demonstrated no difference in the expression of miR-222 in plasma of pregnant women with GDM compared to pregnant women with normoglycaemia (Wander et al., 2017). Herrera-Van Oostdam et al. (2020) reported differences in miR-222 expression during pregnancy. These authors demonstrated higher expression of miR-222 in urine samples of women with GDM compared to pregnant women with normoglycaemia during the first trimester, but observed no significant difference in expression in the second trimester, and lower expression in the third trimester (Herrera-Van Oostdam et al., 2020). Inconsistencies in miR-29a expression across studies were also observed. Three studies showed that miR-29a expression was higher in serum of women with GDM compared to pregnant women with normoglycaemia (Gillet et al., 2019; Martínez-Ibarra et al., 2019; Sørensen et al., 2021), one study reported lower expression of miR-29a in serum during GDM (Zhao et al., 2011), while two studies reported no difference in miR-29a expression in the serum and plasma of pregnant women with GDM compared to pregnant women with normoglycaemia (Wander et al., 2017; Pheiffer et al., 2018b). Five studies profiled both miR-19a and miR-19b. Two studies reported increased expression of miR-19a and miR-19b in serum and plasma samples of GDM patients (Zhu et al., 2015; Wang et al., 2019a). However, two studies reported no difference in the expression of miR-19a and miR-19b in plasma and serum samples between pregnant women with GDM and pregnant women with normoglycaemia (Cao et al., 2017; Pheiffer et al., 2018b). Stirm et al. (2018) reported conflicting results. These authors observed higher expression of both miR-19a and miR-19b in the whole blood of women with GDM compared to normoglycaemia in the screening group using miRNA sequencing, but reported no difference in miR-19a and miR-19b expression using SYBR green in the validation sample (Stirm et al., 2018). All four of the studies that profiled miR-330 found that its expression was higher in serum and plasma of pregnant women with GDM compared to women with normal pregnancies (Sebastiani et al.,

2017; Martínez-Ibarra et al., 2019; Pfeiffer et al., 2020; Xiao et al., 2020). These studies used serum and plasma samples to profile miR-330 expression using qRT-PCR in Latin and Chinese women with GDM compared to women with normoglycaemia. Four studies profiled miR-132 expression during GDM. Two studies showed that miR-132 expression was lower in the serum and placenta of Chinese women with GDM compared to pregnant women with normoglycaemia (Zhao et al., 2011; Zhou et al., 2019). Pheiffer et al. (2018b) saw a trend towards decreased miR-132 expression in South African women with GDM (Pheiffer et al., 2018b). However, in contrast, Gillet et al. (2019) reported that miR-132 expression was higher in the serum of Canadian women with GDM compared to pregnant women with normoglycaemia (Gillet et al., 2019).

MiRNAs investigated in three studies include miR-517, which exhibited higher expression during GDM in the first and second trimesters but lower expression in the third trimester (Herrera-Van Oostdam et al., 2020). The other two studies that profiled miR-517 showed no difference in expression in the serum of women with GDM compared to pregnant women with normoglycaemia (Wander et al., 2017; Gillet et al., 2019). Three studies profiled miR-20a, of which two studies reported higher expression of miR-20a in women with GDM when compared to pregnant women with normoglycaemia (Zhu et al., 2015; Cao et al., 2017). However, Pheiffer et al. (2018b) reported lower expression of miR-20a in serum samples of South African women with GDM when compared to controls (Pheiffer et al., 2018b). Two studies reported increased expression of miR-223 in serum and plasma of women with GDM (Yoffee et al., 2019; Abdeltawab et al., 2020), however, Wander et al. (2017) reported no difference in the expression of miR-223 in plasma of American women with GDM compared to pregnant women with normoglycaemia (Wander et al., 2017). Expression of miR-210 was shown to be higher in serum samples of women with GDM compared to women with normoglycaemia (Gillet et al., 2019), lower in placental samples of women with GDM (Ding et al., 2018), while no difference in miR-210 expression was observed in plasma (Wander et al., 2017). MiR-17 was differentially expressed in three studies. Two studies reported higher expression of miR-17 in plasma samples of Chinese women with GDM when compared to pregnant women with normoglycaemia (Zhu et al., 2015; Cao et al., 2017). Pheiffer et al. (2018) observed a trend towards decreased miR-17 expression in South African women with GDM compared to pregnant women with normoglycaemia (Pheiffer et al., 2018b). Three studies profiled miR-155 with conflicting results reported. Wander et al. (2017) reported higher expression in plasma samples of American women with GDM when compared to

pregnant women with normoglycaemia (Wander et al., 2017). Hocaoglu et al. (2019) reported no change in the expression of miR-155 in the whole blood of Turkish women with GDM (Hocaoglu et al., 2019), but in a more recent study, these authors showed lower expression of miR-155 in the whole blood of Turkish women with GDM compared to pregnant women with normoglycaemia (Hocaoglu et al., 2020).

Twelve miRNAs were investigated in two studies. Circulating levels of three miRNAs, miR-342 (Tagoma et al., 2018; Gillet et al., 2019), let-7g (Stirm et al., 2018; Tagoma et al., 2018) and miR-195 (Tagoma et al., 2018; Wang et al., 2020) were higher in plasma/serum/whole blood of women with GDM compared to pregnant women with normoglycaemia. In contrast, conflicting results were reported for eight circulating miRNAs, including miR-92a and miR-30d (Li et al., 2015; Tagoma et al., 2018), miR-9 (Li et al., 2015; Martínez-Ibarra et al., 2019), miR-137 (Li et al., 2015; Peng et al., 2018), miR-483 (Sebastiani et al., 2017; Gillet et al., 2019), miR-21(Wander et al., 2017; Hocaoglu et al., 2019), miR29b (Gillet et al., 2019; Sun et al., 2020) and miR-494 (He et al., 2017; Gillet et al., 2019). The expression of miR-657 was higher in placental and placental-derived mononuclear macrophages of women with GDM compared to pregnant women with normoglycaemia (Wang et al., 2018, 2019b). Twelve articles included in this review reported differential miRNA expression, yet these were identified in single studies only (Zhao et al., 2014; Floris et al., 2015; Cao et al., 2016; Xu et al., 2017; Lamadrid-Romero et al., 2018; Li et al., 2018; Monfared et al., 2018; Nair et al., 2018; Zhang and Chen, 2020; Balci et al., 2020; Feng et al., 2020; Hu et al., 2021).



Figure 4. Flow diagram illustrating study selection

Author	Country	Study design	Gestational age (weeks)	GDM diagnostic criteria	Sample size	Biological source	Method	Normalization	Outcomes (GDM vs control)
(Zhao et al., 2011)	China	Case-control	16-19	ADA, 2004	Discovery sample GDM = 24 Controls = 24 Internal validation GDM = 36 Controls = 36 External validation 1 GDM = 16 Controls = 16 External validation 2 GDM = 16 Controls = 16	serum	Discovery TaqMan Low Density Arrays Validation Individual SYBR Green qRT-PCR	Discovery RNU6B cel-miR-39 Validation cel-miR-39	Discovery sample ↓ miR-132 (p=0.042), miR-29a (p=0.032), miR- 222 (p=0.041). Internal validation ↓ miR-132 (p=0.034), miR-29a (p=0.045), miR- 222 (p=0.016). External validation 1 ↓ miR-29a (p=0.001), miR-222 (p=0.017). No significant change miR-132 (p=0.235), External validation 2 ↓ miR-132 (p=0.001), miR-29a (p=0.001), miR- 222 (p=0.001).
(Monfared et al., 2018)	Iran	Case-control	16-19	NR	GDM = 30 Controls = 30	serum	SYBR Green qRT- PCR	RNU6B	↑ miR-135a (p=0.001)
(Lamadrid- Romero et al., 2018)	Mexico	Case-control	First trimester Second trimester Third trimester	ADA, 2016	First trimester GDM = 13 Controls = 12 Second trimester GDM = 24 Controls = 24 Third trimester GDM = 20 Controls = 16	serum	SYBR Green qRT- PCR	cel-miR-39	First trimester ↑ miR-183-5p (p<0.002), miR-200b-3p (p<0.009), miR-125b-5p (p<0.02), miR-1290 (p<0.03) Second trimester ↑ miR-183-5p (p=0.03), ↓ miR-200b-3p (p=0.04). Third trimester ↑ miR-183 (p<0.0001), ↓miR-200b-3p

 Table 1. Studies profiling maternal miRNAs in pregnancies complicated by GDM

									(P<0.001).
(Pheiffer et al., 2018b)	South Africa	Case-control	13-31	IADPSG, 2010	GDM = 28 Controls = 53	serum	SYBR Green qRT- PCR	cel-miR-39	 ↓ miR-20a-5p (2.7-fold; p=0.038), miR-222-3p (2.6-fold; p=0.027). No significant change miR-16-5p (1.9-fold; p=0.120), miR-17-5p (2.5-fold; p=0.121), miR-19a-3p (2.6-fold; p=0.056), miR-19b-3p (1.9-fold; p=0.625), miR-29a-3p (2.0-fold; p=0.768), miR-132-3p (2.4-fold; p=0.070).
(Martínez- Ibarra et al., 2019)	Mexico	Case-control	Second-third trimester	IADPSG, 2010	GDM = 18 Controls = 22	serum	TaqMan qRT-PCR	miR-454	↑ miR-9 (p=0.03), miR-29a (p=0.01), miR-330 (p=0.004)
(Gillet et al., 2019)	Canada	Case-control	6-15	Guidelines of the Society of Obstetricians and Gynaecologists of Canada, 2016	GDM = 23 Controls = 46	serum	SYBR Green qRT- PCR	cel-miR-39	↑ miR-520h (p=0.03), miR-1323 (p=0.03), miR- 136-5p (p=0.03), miR-342-3p (p=0.008), miR- 29a-3p (p=0.03), miR-29b-3p (p=0.04), miR- 122-5p (p=0.01), miR-132-3p (p=0.03), miR- 182-3p (p=0.01), miR-210-3p (p=0.02). No significant change miR-494-3p (p=0.10), miR-517-5p (p=0.12), miR-517a-3p, miR-376c-5p, miR-483-3p.
(Zhou et al., 2019)	China	Case-control	24-28	ADA, 2012	GDM = 108 Controls = 50	serum/ placenta	SYBR Green qRT- PCR	U6	↓ miR-132 (p<0.001)
(Wang et al., 2019a)	China	Case-control	24-28	NR	GDM = 100 Controls = 100	serum	TaqMan qRT-PCR	U6	↑ miR-19a (4.0-fold; p=0.001), miR-19b (4.77- fold; p=0.02).
(Xiao et al., 2020)	China	Case-control	16-28	Italian National Health System guidelines, 2011	GDM = 30 Controls = 10	serum	SYBR Green qRT- PCR	U6	↑ miR-330-3p (p<0.001)
(Wang et al.,	China	Case-control	24-28	IADPSG, 2010	GDM = 102	serum	SYBR Green qRT-	U6	↑ miR-195-5p (p<0.01).

2020)					Controls = 102		PCR		
(Pfeiffer et al., 2020)	Spain	Case-control	26-30	NDDG, 1979	GDM = 31 Controls = 29	serum	TaqMan qRT-PCR	cel-miR-39	↑ miR-330-3p (p = 0.003) No significant change miR-224-5p, miR-103-3p, miR-206.
(Abdeltawab et al., 2020)	NR	Case-control	Third trimester	NR	GDM = 109 Controls = 103	serum	TaqMan qRT-PCR	cel-miR-39	↑ miR-223 (p<0.001)
(Sørensen et al., 2021)	Europe	Case-control	<20	IADPSG, 2010 WHO, 2013	GDM = 82 Controls = 41	serum	SYBR Green qRT- PCR	cel-miR-39	↑ miR-29a-3p (p=0.004), miR-134-5p (p=0.046), miR-16-5p (p=0.008)
(Zhu et al., 2015)	China	Case-control	16-19	ADA, 2011	GDM = 10 Controls = 10	plasma	MiRNA sequencing, SYBR Green qRT- PCR	miR-221	↑ miR-16-5p (p= 5.36×10^{-11}), miR-17-5p (p= 1.10×10^{-10}), miR-19a-3p (p= 6.57×10^{-43}), miR-19b-3p (p= 1.73×10^{-74}), miR-20a-5p (p= 5.27×10^{-37}).
(Wander et al., 2017)	USA	Case-control	7-23	ADA, 2004	GDM = 36 Controls = 80	plasma	SYBR Green qRT- PCR	cel-miR-39 and miR-423- 3p	 ↑ miR-155-5p (p=0.028), miR-21-3p (p=0.005), miR-146b-5p (p=0.068). No significant change miR-517-5p, miR-126-3p, miR-210-3p, miR- 222-3p, miR-223-3p, miR-518a-3p, miR-29a-3p
(Cao et al., 2017)	China	Case-control	24-28	NR	GDM = 85 Controls = 72	plasma	TaqMan qRT-PCR	cel-miR-39, cel-miR-54, cel-miR-238	↑ miR-16-5p (p<0.01), miR-17-5p (p<0.01), miR-20a-5p (p<0.01). No significant change miR-19a-3p and miR-19b-3p
(Sebastiani et al., 2017)	Italy	Case-control	24-33	Italian National Health System guidelines, 2011	GDM = 21 Controls = 10	plasma	TaqMan array microfluidics Validation TaqMan qRT-PCR	miR-374, miR- 320	Taqman arrays ↑ miR-330-3p (p=0.029), miR-483-5p (2.01-fold; p=0.028); ↓ miR-548c-3p (p=0.028), miR-532-3p (p=0.028). TaqMan qRT-PCR ↑ miR-330-3p (p=0.01)

									No significant change miR-548c-3p
(Tagoma et al., 2018)	Estonia	Case-control	23-31	IADPSG, 2010	GDM = 13 Controls = 9	plasma	MiScript miRNA PCR array Human T Cell & B Cell Activation, SYBR Green qRT- PCR	cel-miR-39	↑ let-7e-5p (p=0.03), let-7g-5p (p=0.01), miR- 100-5p (p=0.04), miR-101-3p (p=0.03), miR- 146a-5p (p=0.03), miR-18a-5p (p=0.05), miR- 195-5p (p=0.03), miR-222-3p (p=0.03), miR- 23b-3p (p=0.02), miR-30b-5p (p=0.04), miR- 30c-5p (p=0.02), miR-30d-5p, (p=0.03), miR- 342-3p (p=0.04), miR-423-5p (p=0.02), miR- 92a-3p (p=0.05).
(Peng et al., 2018)	China	Case-control	24-28	ADA, 2010	GDM = 11 Controls = 12	plasma	SYBR Green qRT- PCR	U6	↑ miR-137 (p<0.01)
(Yoffe et al., 2019)	Italy/Spain	Case-control	9-12	IADPSG, 2010	GDM = 23 controls = 20	plasma	NanoString nCounter human miRNA assay Validation TaqMan qRT-PCR	cel-miR-39	↑ miR-23a (p= 1.92×10^{-2}), miR-223 (p= 1.42×10^{-7}). Validation ↑ miR-223 (p= 0.009), miR-23a (p= 0.03).
(Balci et al., 2020)	Turkey	Case-control	NR	ADA, 2010	GDM = 30 Controls = 30	plasma	TaqMan qRT-PCR	NR	↑miR-7-5p (p<0.05)
(Zhao et al., 2014)	China	Case-control	37-40	NR	GDM = 40 Controls = 40	placenta	TaqMan qRT-PCR	U6	↑ miR-518d (p<0.01)
(Li et al., 2015)	China	Case-control	Delivery	Endocrine Society Clinical Practice Guideline, 2013	Discovery GDM = 5 Controls = 5 Validation GDM = 10 Controls = 10	placenta	Discovery Agilent Human miRNA Microarray Validation SYBR Green qRT- PCR	U6	↑ miR-508-3p (p<0.01); ↓ miR-27a (p<0.05), miR-9 (p<0.05), miR-137 (p<0.05), miR-92a (p<0.05), miR-33a (p<0.05), miR-30d (p<0.05), miR-362-5p (p<0.05), miR- 502-5p (p<0.05). No significant change miR-148b, miR-10a, miR-370, miR-25, miR-15b.
(Cao et al.,	China	Case-control	37-40	NR	GDM = 193	placenta	SYBR Green qRT-	U6	↑ miR-98 (p<0.05)

2016)					Control = 202		PCR		
(Ding et al., 2018)	China	Case-control	Third trimester	IADPSG, 2010	Discovery GDM = 8 Controls = 8 Validation GDM = 20 Controls = 18	placenta	miRNA sequencing, SYBR Green qRT- PCR	U6	↑ miR-202-5p (p<0.01); ↓ miR-138-5p (p<0.01), miR-210-5p(p<0.05), miR-3158-5p (p<0.01), miR-4732-3p (p<0.05).
(Li et al., 2018)	China	Case-control	NR	NR	Screening GDM = 3 Controls = 3 Validation GDM = 15 Controls = 15	placenta/ whole blood	miRCURY LNA™ microRNA Array, qRT-PCR	NR	↓ miR-96 (p<0.01)
(Wang et al., 2019b)	China	Case-control	37-40	NR	GDM = 30 Controls = 29	placenta	TaqMan qRT-PCR	NR	↑ miR-657 (p<0.01)
(Sun et al., 2020)	China	Case-control	>37	IADPSG, 2010	GDM = 204 Controls = 202	placenta	TaqMan qRT-PCR	U6	↓ miR-29b (p<0.05)
(Wang et al., 2018)	China	Case-control	NR	NR	GDM = 48 Controls = 46	placental- derived mononuclear macrophages	SYBR Green qRT- PCR	NR	↑ miR-657 (p<0.001)
(Nair et al., 2018)	Australia	Case-control	≥37	ADIPS, 2015 WHO, 2014	GDM = 12 Controls = 12	placenta, plasma exosomes, skeletal muscle tissue	Illumina TrueSeq Small RNA kit, SYBR Green qRT- PCR	RNU6B	Placenta, plasma exosomes, skeletal muscle tissue: ↑ hsa-miR-125a-3p (p<0.05), hsa-miR-99b-5p (p<0.05), hsa-miR-197-3p (p<0.05), hsa-miR-22- 3p (p<0.05), hsa-miR-224-5p (p<0.05), hsa-miR- 27b-3p (p<0.05), hsa-miR-200a-3p (p<0.05), hsa- miR-141-3p (p<0.05). Placenta: ↓ hsa-miR-133a-3p (p=0.003)

(Xu et al., 2017)	China	Case-control	NR	NR	Placenta GDM = 3 Controls = 3 Whole blood GDM = 25 Controls = 25	placenta/ whole blood	miRCURY LNA™Array, qRT-PCR	NR	Plasma exosomes: ↓hsa-miR-133a-3p (p=0.003) Skeletal muscle tissue: ↑hsa-miR-133a-3p (p<0.05) ↑ miR-503 (p<0.01).
(Hocaoglu et al., 2019)	Turkey	Case-control	33 ± 4.1	IADPSG, 2010	GDM = 19 Controls = 28	whole blood	SYBR Green qRT- PCR	U6	↓ miR-21-3p (p = 0.001) No significant change miR-16-5p, miR155-5p.
(He et al., 2017)	China	Case-control	NR	NR	GDM = 20 Controls = 20	whole blood	TaqMan qRT-PCR	U6	↓ miR-494 (p<0.01)
(Stirm et al., 2018)	Germany	Case-control	24-32	IADPSG, 2010	Screening GDM = 8 Controls = 8 Validation GDM = 30 Controls 30	whole blood	miRNA sequencing, SYBR Green qRT- PCR	U6	Screening group \uparrow miR-19a (p=1.48 × 10 ⁻⁰³), miR-19b (p=5.28 × 10 ⁻⁰³), miR-142 (p=3.36 × 10 ⁻⁰⁴), miR- 143 (p=8.72 × 10 ⁻⁰⁴), let-7g-5p (p=4.32 × 10 ⁻⁰⁴), miR-340 (p=7.06 × 10 ⁻⁰⁴) Validation group \uparrow miR-340 (p=0.03) No significant change miR-19a, miR-19b, miR-142, miR-143, let-7g- 5p.
(Zhang and Chen, 2020)	China	Case-control	NR	NR	GDM = 30 Controls = 30	whole blood	SYBR Green qRT- PCR	U6	↑ miR-770-5p (p<0.01)
(Hocaoglu et al., 2020)	Turkey	Case-control	33 ± 4.1	IADPSG, 2010	GDM = 14 Controls = 27	whole blood	SYBR Green qRT- PCR	U6	↓ miR-155-5p (p=0.04) No significant change miR-16-5p

(Feng et al., 2020)	China	Case-control	24-28	Chinese society for Diabetes Mellitus	GDM =12 Controls = 12	Whole blood	TaqMan qRT-PCR	U6	↑ miR-33a-5p (p<0.01)
(Hu et al., 2021)	China	Case-control	24-28	IADPSG, 2010	GDM =35 Controls =35	whole blood	TB Green qRT- PCR	U6	 ↓ miR-4646 (p<0.001), miR-5196 (p<0.001), miR-3679 (p=0.009) No significant change miR-8061
(Herrera-Van Oostdam et al., 2020)	Mexico	Case-control	First trimester (8-20) Second trimester (24-28) Third trimester (32-39)	WHO, 2014	GDM = 27 Controls = 34	urine	TaqMan qRT-PCR	U6	First trimester ↑ miR-16-5p (p<0.05), miR-222-3p (p<0.05), miR-516b-5p (p<0.05), miR-517-5p (p<0.05), miR-518-3p (p<0.05) Second trimester ↑ miR-16-5p (p=0.009), miR-516b-5p (p=0.043), miR-517-5p (p=0.034), miR-518-3p (p=0.021) No significant change miR-222-3p (p=0.387), Third trimester ↓ miR-16-5p (p<0.01), miR-222-3p (p<0.01), miR-516b-5p (p<0.05), miR-517-5p (p<0.05), miR-518-3p (p<0.01)
(Shi et al., 2014)	China	Case-control	38-39	ADA, 2006	GDM = 13 Controls = 13	omental adipose tissue	AFFX miRNA expression chips microarrays, TaqMan qRT-PCR	miR-16	↑ miR-222 (p<0.01)

						Human			
(Flaria at al					CDM = 22	umbilical	SYBR Green qRT-		
(FIORIS et al.,	Italy	Case-control	24-28	NR	GDM = 22	vein	PCR	beta-actin	↑ miR-101 (p<0.01)
2015)					Controls - 24	endothelial			
						cells			

 (\uparrow) up- and (\downarrow) down- regulation, p value and fold regulation reported if given in article, ADA: American Diabetes Association, ADIPS: Australasian Diabetes in Pregnancy Society, GDM: gestational diabetes mellitus, IADPSG: International Association of Diabetes in Pregnancy Study Group, NDD: National Diabetes Data Group, NR: not reported, qRT-PCR: quantitative reverse transcription PCR, WHO: World Health Organisation, Chinese society for Diabetes Mellitus (year not specified), TB Green: Premix Ex Taq II (Tli RNase H Plus)

2.3 Discussion

MiRNA signatures in pregnant women with T1DM, T2DM and GDM may offer insight into their different underlying mechanisms and health consequences for mother and child (Dornhorst and Banerjee, 2010; Mitchell et al., 2015; Poirier et al., 2017; Cai et al., 2017). This review provides an overview of diabetes in pregnancy, focusing on the potential role of miRNAs as biomarkers of pregnancy health and disease. We summarise all studies that have profiled miRNAs in pregnancies complicated by diabetes. Our main finding is the lack of studies that have profiled miRNAs in pregnant women with pregestational diabetes (T1DM and T2DM) or in women who developed overt or T2DM during pregnancy. We highlight a set of miRNAs that are differentially expressed in women with GDM in two or more studies. Lastly, findings of this review support the challenges of miRNA profiling and the concerns that must be addressed before miRNAs can become clinically applicable.

Despite our search identifying 41 research articles that profiled miRNAs in diabetic pregnancies, none of these quantified miRNAs in pregnancies complicated by T1DM and T2DM. All pregnancies complicated by diabetes are considered high-risk, with the risk positively correlated with the level of hyperglycaemia (Dornhorst and Banerjee, 2010; Ali and Dornhorst, 2011; McCance, 2015). Accordingly, pregestational diabetes is associated with more severe adverse pregnancy outcomes than GDM (Ali et al., 2020). Profiling miRNAs, potential markers of pregnancy health and glucose control, during T1DM, T2DM and GDM may lead to a better understanding of the mechanisms that link hyperglycaemia with adverse outcomes (Cai et al., 2017; Poirier et al., 2017). Although Collares et al. (2013) profiled miRNAs during T1DM, T2DM and GDM (Collares et al., 2013), this investigation included non-pregnant women with T1DM and T2DM and thus does not reflect placental-derived miRNAs in pregnancies complicated by all types of diabetes to allow insight into the underlying mechanisms and to enable comparisons between T1DM, T2DM and GDM during pregnancy.

MiRNAs offer tremendous potential for GDM screening and diagnosis (Pheiffer et al., 2018a), however, population-specific factors such as ethnicity, age, gender and stage of disease influence miRNA expression (Bovell et al., 2013; Florio et al., 2020; Karere et al., 2021) and may hinder their widespread applicability (Dias et al., 2018). We identified four

circulating miRNAs that were consistently expressed at higher levels in women with GDM compared to women with normoglycaemia in different populations, using different methodologies and during different gestational ages. These include miR-330 (n=4), miR-342 (n=2), let-7g (n=2) and miR-195 (n=2). Of interest is miR-330 as circulating levels of this miRNA was consistently higher in serum and plasma isolated from women with GDM compared to women with normoglycaemia across four studies conducted in Italy, Mexico, Spain, and China using different methodologies (Martínez-Ibarra et al., 2019; Pfeiffer et al., 2020; Sebastiani et al., 2017; Xiao et al., 2020). Similarly, miR-342 was consistently expressed at higher levels in women with GDM compared to women with normoglycaemia in studies conducted in Canada and Estonia (Gillet et al., 2019; Tagoma et al., 2018), let-7g was expressed at higher levels during GDM in studies conducted in Germany and Estonia (Tagoma et al., 2018; Stirm et al., 2018), and miR-195 was expressed at higher levels during GDM in studies conducted in China and Estonia (Tagoma et al., 2018; Wang et al., 2020). MiRNAs that are commonly expressed across diverse populations, biological samples and using different measurement platforms present opportunities as biomarkers for GDM with widespread applicability.

Our findings support the challenges of miRNA profiling (Dias et al., 2018). Although circulating miRNAs are stable and easily quantified using techniques that are readily available in the laboratory, the ability to replicate findings across studies have proved difficult (McDonald et al., 2011). Factors that contribute to the variability in miRNA expression include populations differences such as ethnicity, socioeconomic status, environmental factors and viral infections (Huang et al., 2011; Bovell et al., 2013; Pheiffer et al., 2019; Florio et al., 2020; Karere et al., 2021), differences in the methodologies and measurement platform used, biological source and normalisation methods (Pritchard et al., 2012; Wang et al., 2012; Dias et al., 2017), varying sample sizes (Stirm et al., 2018) and gestational age (Herrera-Van Oostdam et al., 2020). Furthermore, normalisation controls for miRNA profiling is not standardised and may affect quantification. Diagnostic criteria for GDM and glucose cut-off values vary across studies, which may have contributed to the varied miRNA profiles observed. Furthermore, glycaemic control during pregnancy may be another factor influencing miRNA levels, which is an important factor to consider in future studies. Due to the heterogeneity of miRNA expression and its role in the regulation of

multiple genes, we recommend that a miRNA signature based on a pool of miRNAs may have more clinical applicability than individual miRNAs.

2.4 Conclusion and future perspectives

The prevalence of diabetes in pregnancy is increasing globally and is associated with adverse pregnancy outcomes for mother and child (Dornhorst and Banerjee, 2010; Ali and Dornhorst, 2011; McCance, 2015). Profiling miRNAs during pregnancy could offer promising avenues for the discovery of biomarkers of pregnancy health and disease, fetal development and pregnancy outcomes (Cai et al., 2017; Poirier et al., 2017; Pheiffer et al., 2019). Although miRNAs offer tremendous potential, much work still needs to be done before they can become clinically applicable (Dias et al., 2018). Further studies to investigate the importance of miRNAs in the development of the placenta and their contribution to cell-to-cell communication in pregnancies complicated by T1DM, T2DM and GDM are warranted. Such studies will provide important insight into the mechanisms that underlie the different types of diabetes and could identify predictive biomarkers of adverse pregnancy outcomes, potentially allowing mitigation of these complications.

CHAPTER 3: MATERIALS AND METHODS

3.1 Study overview

The experimental outline of this cross-sectional study is shown in Figure 5. Briefly, 126 pregnant women were recruited, of whom 53 participants did not meet the inclusion criteria. The 73 women who participated in the study were categorised into four groups, i.e. pregestational T1DM (n=6) and T2DM (n=26), GDM (n=17) and normoglycaemia (control) (n=24). Serum insulin, C-peptide, total and HMW adiponectin, TG and CRP concentrations were measured by ELISA. Circulating miRNAs were extracted from serum and quantified using the Nanodrop spectrophotometer and Agilent Bioanalyser. Serum miRNAs were profiled using the Human Serum/Plasma miScript miRNA PCR array, followed by bioinformatic analysis to identify miRNA gene targets and their enriched pathways.



Figure 5. Experimental design

3.2 Participant recruitment

Women (n=126) attending the diabetic antenatal clinic at Steve Biko Academic Hospital, Pretoria, South Africa were recruited to the study. Of these, 53 were excluded because they did not meet the inclusion criteria, which were 1) age $\geq 18 \leq 40$ years of age, 2) Black African ethnicity, 3) ≤ 28 weeks pregnant, 4) singleton pregnancy, 5) human immunodeficiency virus (HIV) negative and 6) unknown congenital abnormalities. A total of 73 women were enrolled in the study. After participants were informed about the study aims and procedures, written informed consent was obtained. The study was approved by the Human Research Ethics Committee of the University of Pretoria (ethics no: Protocol 743/2020) and was conducted according to the Code of Ethics of the World Medical Association (Declaration of Helsinki). All data collected was anonymised and participant information was kept confidential.

3.3 Clinical Data

Clinical data was collected in the form of a standardised questionnaire documenting demographic information and general medical and family history of diabetes. During this time, a physical examination was conducted to measure pulse, blood pressure, body weight and height according to standard operating procedures at the clinic. Body mass index (BMI) was calculated using the equation: weight (kg)/height (m²).

3.4 Diabetes diagnosis

Pregnant women were categorised into groups according to the type of diabetes. Pregestational or pre-existing T1DM and T2DM were based on self-report and medication history. Women with no history of diagnosed diabetes underwent a 75g 2 hour OGTT as recommended by IADPSG (International Association of Diabetes and Pregnancy Study Groups Consensus Panel, 2010) and WHO (World Health Organisation, 2013). These women were classified as having GDM, overt diabetes (T2DM) or normoglycaemia according to these criteria (Table 2).

Measurement	GDM*	T2DM [±]	Normoglycaemia[¥]
0-h Glucose (mmol/L)	≥ 5.1-7.0	≥ 7.0	< 5.1
1-h Glucose (mmol/L)	≥ 10	-	< 10
2-h Glucose (mmol/L)	≥ 8.5-11	≥11.1	< 8.5
Random Glucose (mmol/L)	-	≥11.1	-
HbA1c (%)	-	≥ 6.5	-

Table 2. IADPSG, 2010 and WHO, 2013 diagnostic criteria

*One or more of these values must be met or exceeded for the diagnosis of GDM

[±]One of these values must be met or exceeded to identify the patient as having overt diabetes (T2DM) [¥]Considered normal if all values are less than the threshold for GDM and T2DM

Abbreviations: GDM, gestational diabetes mellitus; T2DM, type 2 diabetes mellitus; HbA1c, glycated haemoglobin

3.5 Blood collection

Whole blood was collected from participants under non-fasting conditions by venipuncture. Blood was collected in BD Vacutainer® SST[™] Tubes (BD Vacutainer, Woodlands, Cape Town, South Africa), which are coated with silicone and micronised silica particles to accelerate clotting of blood and a gel that separates blood cells from serum (Figure 6). For serum isolation, blood tubes were stored at room temperature for approximately 2 hours, where after tubes were centrifuged at 4 000 rpm for 15 mins at 4°C (OHAUS Frontier[™] Multi FC5706, Parsippany, New Jersey, United States) to separate blood cells from serum. After separation, serum was aliquoted into 2 ml microfuge tubes and stored at -40°C. Samples were initially stored at Steve Biko Academic Hospital (Pretoria, South Africa), and thereafter transported to the laboratories at the Biomedical Research and Innovation Platform (BRIP), South African Medical Research Council (SAMRC), Cape Town, South Africa and stored at -80°C.



Figure 6. An illustration of BD Vacutainer SST Tubes (Image from bd.com)

3.6 Enzyme-linked immunosorbent assays

Serum levels of insulin, C-peptide, total and HMW adiponectin, CRP and TGs were measured using commercial ELISAs.

3.6.1 Insulin

Insulin was measured using the human insulin ELISA kit (Merck Millipore, Burlington, Massachusetts, USA), according to the manufacturer's instructions. Briefly, the plates were washed with 300 μ l of wash buffer, thereafter, 20 μ l of standards, quality controls (QC1, QC2) and samples were added in duplicate to the ELISA plates coated with mouse monoclonal anti-human insulin antibodies. Following this, 20 µl of pre-titered biotinylated mouse monoclonal anti-human insulin antibody was added, and the plates were sealed and incubated for 60 mins on an IKA®MS 3 digital universal small shaker (Merck KGaA, Darmstadt, Germany) (450 rpm). Thereafter, plates were washed with 300 µl of wash buffer thrice and 100 µl of enzyme solution (pre-titered streptavidin-horseradish peroxidase conjugate) was added. The plates were then sealed and incubated for 30 mins on a shaker (450 rpm). After shaking, the plates were washed five times with 300 μ l of wash buffer and 100 µl of substrate solution (3, 3', 5, 5'-tetramethylbenzidine) was added. The plates were sealed, protected from light and incubated at room temperature for 20 mins. After incubation, 100 µl of stop solution was added and the absorbance was read at 450 nm on a SpectraMax i3 plate reader (Molecular Devices[®], San Jose, California, USA). Data were analysed using my assays sigmoidal four logistic regression accessible parameter at https://www.myassays.com/four-parameter-fit.assay.

3.6.2 C-peptide

C-peptide was measured using the human C-peptide ELISA kit (Merck Millipore, Burlington, Massachusetts, USA), according to the manufacturer's instructions. Briefly, plates were washed with 300 µl of wash buffer. Thereafter, 10 µl of matrix solution and 40 µl of assay buffer were added to standards and control wells, and 50 µl of assay buffer was added to sample wells. Following this, 10 µl of assay buffer, standards, QC1, QC2 and samples were added in duplicates into appropriate wells. Thereafter, 20 µl of detection antibody was added into each well, the plate was sealed and incubated at room temperature for 2 hours on an IKA® MS 3 digital universal small shaker (Merck KGaA, Darmstadt, Germany) (450 rpm). After shaking, the plates were washed five times with 300 µl of wash buffer. After

incubation, 80 µl of enzyme solution was added into each well. Thereafter, the plates were incubated at room temperature for 30 mins while shaking on small shaker and thereafter washed five times with 300 µl of wash buffer. For development, 80 µl of substrate solution was added, the plates were sealed protected from light and incubated at room temperature for 20 mins. After incubation, 80 µl of stop solution was added and the absorbance was read at 450 nm on a SpectraMax i3 plate reader (Molecular Devices®, San Jose, California, USA). Data were analysed using my assays sigmoidal four parameter logistic regression accessible at https://www.myassays.com/four-parameter-fit.assay.

3.6.3 Total Adiponectin

Adiponectin was measured using the Human Adiponectin ELISA kit (Merck Millipore, Burlington, Massachusetts, USA), according to the manufacturer's instructions. Briefly, serum was diluted 1:5 in 1X assay buffer and the plates were prepared by incubating in 300 μ l of wash buffer for 5 mins at room temperature, whereafter the wash buffer was discarded. Thereafter, 60 μ l of assay buffer A was added to wells, followed by the addition of 20 μ l of assay buffer A to blank wells, and standards, QC1, QC2 and samples in duplicate to the ELISA plate coated with mouse monoclonal anti-human adiponectin antibodies. Following this, 20 µl of pre-titered biotinylated mouse monoclonal anti-human adiponectin antibody was added and the plate was sealed and incubated for 60 mins on an IKA® MS 3 digital universal small shaker (Merck KGaA, Darmstadt, Germany) (450 rpm). Thereafter, plates were washed with 300 μ l of wash buffer thrice, and 100 μ l of enzyme solution was added. The plate was then sealed and incubated for 30 mins on a shaker (450 rpm). After shaking, the plates were washed five times with 300 μ l of wash buffer and 100 μ l of substrate solution was added. The plates were sealed protected from light and incubated at room temperature for 20 mins. After incubation, 100 µl of stop solution was added and the absorbance was read at 450 and 490 nm on a SpectraMax i3 plate reader (Molecular Devices[®], San Jose, CA, USA). Data were analysed using my assays sigmoidal four parameter logistic regression accessible at https://www.myassays.com/four-parameter-fit.assay, and final results were multiplied by dilution factor 1:500.

3.6.4 High molecular weight Adiponectin

HMW Adiponectin was measured using the Human HMW Adiponectin ELISA kit (Merck Millipore, Burlington, Massachusetts, USA), according to the manufacturer's instructions.

Briefly, samples were first centrifuged for 5 min at 10,000 rpm (5415R, Eppendorf, Hamburg, Germany). Thereafter, 10 µl sample was added to 85 µl of sample digestion buffer and vortexed well. Sample digestion solution was diluted by adding 30 μ l to 270 μ l of sample digestion buffer in a polypropylene microfuge tube, vortexed well, and 5 μ l of diluted sample digestion solution was added to each sample tube, vortex well and incubated at 37°C for 2 hours. After incubation, 95 µl of 1X sample dilution buffer was added to a second set of microcentrifuge tubes for each digested sample, and 5 μ l of digested samples were transferred to the second set of tubes, and vortexed well. ELISA plates were prepared by incubating in 300 µl of wash buffer for 5 mins at room temperature. Thereafter, 90 µl of running buffer was added to all the wells, and 10 μ l of assay buffer to blank wells, and standards, QC1, QC2 and pre-treated samples were added in duplicate to the plate coated with mouse monoclonal anti-human adiponectin antibodies. The plates were sealed, agitated and incubated for 2 hours on a shaker (450 rpm). After incubation, plates were washed with 300 µl of wash buffer thrice. Thereafter, 100 µl of human HMW Adiponectin detection antibody was added to the plates, sealed, agitated and incubated for 1 hour on a shaker (450 rpm). After incubation, plates were washed with 300 µl of wash buffer thrice. Thereafter, 100 μ l of enzyme solution was added to the plates, sealed, agitated and incubated for 30 mins on a shaker (450 rpm). After incubation, the plates were washed thrice with 300 μ l of wash duffer. Following this, 100 µl of substrate solution was added to all wells, the plates were sealed with foil and incubated at room temperature for 20 mins away from light. Thereafter, 100 µl of stop solution was added and the absorbance read at 450 and 590 nm on a SpectraMax i3 plate reader (Molecular Devices[®], San Jose, California, USA). Data were analysed using my sigmoidal four parameter logistic regression accessible assays at https://www.myassays.com/four-parameter-fit.assay, final results were multiplied by dilution factor 1:200.

3.6.5 C-reactive protein

CRP was measured using the Human CRP ELISA kit (Merck Millipore, Burlington, Massachusetts, USA), according to the manufacturer's instructions. Briefly, samples were diluted 1:4000 with wash buffer, by first diluting each sample 1:1000, followed by a 1:4 dilution. The ELISA plate was prepared by incubating in 300 μ l of wash buffer for 5 mins at room temperature and discarded. Thereafter, 100 μ l of standards, QC1, QC2 and samples were added in duplicate to the ELISA plate coated with mouse monoclonal anti-human CRP

antibodies and the plate was sealed and incubated for 30 mins on a shaker (450 rpm) at room temperature. After shaking, the plates were washed five times with 300 μ l of wash buffer. After incubation, 100 μ l of enzyme solution (anti-human CRP horseradish peroxidase conjugate) was added and incubated for 30 mins on a shaker (450 rpm) at room temperature. After shaking, the plates were washed five times with 300 μ l of wash buffer. After incubation, 100 μ l of substrate solution was added. The plate was sealed protected from light and incubated at room temperature for 20 mins. After incubation, 100 μ l of stop solution was added and the absorbance was read at 630 nm on a SpectraMax i3 plate reader (Molecular Devices®, San Jose, California, USA). Data were analysed using my assay sigmoidal four parameter logistic regression accessible at https://www.myassays.com/four-parameter-fit.assay,values were multiplied by 4000 to obtain the actual serum concentrations.

3.6.6 Triglycerides

Serum TGs were measured using the Triglyceride Quantification kit (Sigma-Aldrich, St. Louis, Missouri, USA). Briefly, 40 μ l of 1 mM TG standard was diluted with 160 μ l of assay buffer to prepare a 0.2 mM standard solution. Following this, 0, 10, 20, 30, 40, and 50 μ l of the 0.2 mM standard, 0.3 μ l sample, were added to wells, followed by the addition of assay buffer to bring the volume in each well to 50 μ l. Thereafter, 2 μ l of lipase was added to each sample and standard well, mixed well on a shaker (450 rpm) and incubated for 20 mins at room temperature. Thereafter, 50 μ l of the master reaction mix (made up of assay buffer (46 μ l), triglyceride probe (2 μ l), and enzyme mix (2 μ l) was added to each plate. Plates were sealed with aluminium foil, mixed well on a shaker (450 rpm) and incubated for 60 mins at room temperature (25°C). The absorbance was measured at 570 nm on a SpectraMax i3 plate reader (Molecular Devices®, San Jose, California, USA). The amount of TGs present in the samples was determined using the below equation (Equation 1):

Equation 1. Calculation used to determine TG concentration

<u>Concentration of TG: $Sa/Sv = C$</u>
Sa = Amount of Triglyceride in the unknown sample (nmole) from standard
curve
$Sv = Sample volume (\mu L)$ added into the wells
C = Concentration of Triglyceride in sample
TG molecular weight: 885.4 g/mole

Sample Calculation Amount of Triglyceride (Sa) = 5.84 nmole (from standard curve) Sample volume (Sv) = 50.0 μ L <u>Final concentration of TG in sample</u> 5.84 nmole/50.0 μ L = 0.117 nmole/ μ L 0.117 nmole/ μ L × 885.4 ng/nmole = 104 ng/ μ L

3.7 RNA isolation

MiRNA-enriched total RNA was isolated using the miRNeasy Serum/Plasma kit (Qiagen, Hilden, Germany) according to the manufacturer's instructions. Briefly, serum samples were removed from -80°C and allowed to thaw on ice at room temperature for 30 mins. Thereafter, 1 ml of QIAzol lysis reagent was added to 200 µl of serum, mixed by vortexing for 15 sec on a Vortex-Mixer VM-10 orbital shaker (witeg Labortechnik GmbH, Wertheim, Germany), and incubated at room temperature (25°C) for 5 mins. Thereafter, 3.5 µl of MiRNeasy serum/plasma spike-in-control (Caenorhabiditis elegans miR-39) (1.6 x 10⁸ copies/µl) was added as an exogenous synthetic miRNA to control for technical variation during RNA extraction, complimentary DNA (cDNA) synthesis and qRT-PCR. Following this, 200 µl of chloroform was added to each sample and vortexed for 15 sec for phase separation. Samples were incubated at room temperature (25°C) for 3 mins, and thereafter centrifuged at 4°C for 15 mins at 12 000 rpm (5415R, Eppendorf, Hamburg, Germany). After centrifugation, the upper colourless aqueous phase containing approximately 600 µl of RNA was transferred to a new collection tube and mixed thoroughly with 900 μ l of 100% ethanol. Thereafter, 700 μ l of the sample was pipetted into a RNeasy MinElute spin column and centrifuged at 14 000 rpm for 15 sec at room temperature. This step was repeated, and the flow through was discarded both times. Samples were subsequently washed with 700 μ l of buffer RWT and centrifuged at 14 000 rpm for 15 sec, followed by the addition of 500 μ l of buffer RPE and centrifuged at 14 000 rpm for 15 sec. For a final wash, 500 µl of 80% ethanol was added into the RNeasy MinElute spin column and centrifuged for 2 mins at 14 000 rpm at room temperature. The spin column was placed in a new 2 ml tube and centrifuged at 14 000 rpm for 5 mins to completely dry the spin column membrane. After drying, the spin column was placed in a 1.5 ml tube, and 14 µl of RNase-free water was added directly onto the spin column membrane and centrifuged at 8 000 rpm for 1 min to elute the RNA. RNA samples were stored at -80°C.

3.8 RNA quantification

Total RNA concentrations were determined by measuring the absorbance at a wavelength of 260 nm (A260) using a NanoDropTM One/OneC Microvolume UV-Vis spectrophotometer (Nanodrop Technologies, Wilmington, Delaware, USA) according to the manufacturer's instructions (Figure 7). RNA purity was assessed by calculating the A260/280 (protein contamination) ratio, with a ratio of 1.8–2.0 indicating an acceptable level of purity for gene expression analysis, and a A260/230 ratio less than 1.8–2.0 indicates contamination with wash solutions, chaotropic salts and phenols (Wilfinger et al., 1997).



Figure 7. An illustration of the nanodrop spectrophotometer (Image captured in the laboratory)

3.9 MicroRNA quantification

MiRNA concentrations were measured using the Agilent bioanalyser and the Small RNA assay kit at the Central Analytical Facilities, Stellenbosch University (Stellenbosch, South Africa). The Bioanalyser LabChip instrument (Figure 8) using the Small RNA assay provides a fast and sensitive analysis to resolve small nucleic acids in the size range of 6 to 150 nucleotides and enables the detection and quantification of miRNAs (15–40 nucleotides) within a small RNA fraction (Agilent Technologies Inc., 2016). MiRNA concentration and its percentage relative to total RNA were assessed using the Small RNA (Pico) kit according to

manufacturer's instructions (Agilent Technologies, Santa Clara, California, USA). The concentration of miRNA is calculated as an absolute amount (pg/µl) and as a percentage (%) of small RNA in the total RNA sample. Figure 9 represents an electrophoretogram of small RNAs (miRNAs, transfer RNAs, and small ribosomal RNAs) that form part of the total RNA sample.



Figure 8. An illustration of the Agilent LabChip instrument

A) The priming station and plunger, B) the Agilent chip vortex, and C) the Agilent 2100 Bioanalyser (Image captured in the laboratory)



Figure 9. Representative image of an electropherogram for small RNA analysis (Adapted from Mueller et al., 2004)

3.10 MiRNA expression profiling

Sixteen patient samples (T1DM (n=4), T2DM (n=4), GDM (n=4) and normoglycaemia (n=4) were selected for qRT-PCR using the Human Serum/Plasma miScript miRNA PCR array (Qiagen, Hilden, Germany) to identify differentially expressed miRNAs. Samples were matched for age, gestational age and BMI as far as possible.

3.10.1. Reverse transcription

MiRNAs were reverse transcribed using the miScript II RT Kit and the miScript HiSpec Buffer according to the manufacturer's instructions (Qiagen, Hilden, Germany). Briefly, the RNA samples and reagents were thawed on ice for 30 mins. Thereafter, reverse transcription components (Table 3) were added to samples, mixed using a Vortex-Mixer VM-10 orbital mixer (Witeg Labortechnik GmbH, Wertheim, Germany) and briefly centrifuged using the myFuge[™] 8 Mini Centrifuge (Benchmark Scientific, Sayreville, New Jersey, USA). Following this, samples were incubated for 60 mins at 37°C, followed by 5 mins at 95°C on the Veriti 96-Well Thermal Cycler (Thermo Fisher Scientific, Waltham, Massachusetts, USA). The cDNA was diluted 1:10 by adding 200 µl of RNase-free water and used for qRT-PCR.

Component	Volume/reaction (µl)
5x miScript HiSpec Buffer	4
10x miScript Nucleics mix	2
miScript reverse transcriptase mix	2
RNase free water	12
Template RNA (ng/ul)	1

 Table 3. Reverse transcription reaction components

3.10.2 Quantitative real time PCR

Quantitative real time PCR was conducted using the Human Serum/Plasma miScript miRNA PCR array (Qiagen, Hilden, Germany). The Human Serum/Plasma miScript miRNA PCR array profiles the expression of 84 miRNAs using SYBR Green. SYBR green is a cyanine dye that binds double-stranded DNA and is commonly used to quantify gene expression in qRT-PCR (Ponchel et al., 2003). Other miRNAs that are stably present in serum are included as positive controls on the array. These miRNAs include C. *elegans* miR-39 (endogenous

spike-in control), snoRNAs (small nucleolar RNAs) (SNORD61, SNORD68, SNORD72, SNORD95, and SNORD96A) (miScript PCR controls/references genes), snRNA (small nuclear RNA) RNU6 and reverse transcription and PCR positive controls (Figure 10).



Figure 10. The Human Serum/Plasma miScript miRNA PCR array layout

A miScript Primer Assay for a mature miRNA is present in each of the wells A1 to G12 (1–84). Reference miRNAs include C. *elegans* miR-39 miScript Primer Assays (Ce), snoRNA/snRNA miScrpt PCR controls (SN1 (SNORD61), SN2 (SNORD68), SN3 (SNORD72), SN4 (SNORD95), SN5 (SNORD96A), SN6 (RNU6B/RNU6-2)), Reverse transcription controls (miRTC) (H9 and H10) and Positive PCR controls (PPC) (H11 and H12) (image taken from miScript PreAMP Handbook/www.qiagen.com/miRNA).

To conduct qRT-PCR, cDNA was mixed with 2x QuantiTect SYBR Green PCR Master Mix, 10x miScript Universal Primer, and RNase-free water in a total volume of 1100 μ l as described in the miScript PreAMP Handbook (Table 4). After mixing, samples were dispensed into wells of the PCR array plate. The plate was sealed with a MicroAmp optical adhesive film (Thermo Fisher Scientific, Waltham, Massachusetts, USA) and centrifuged for 1 min at 2 500 rpm at room temperature (Benchmark Scientific, Sayreville, New Jersey, USA). PCR was conducted on the Quantstudio 7TM Flex Real-Time PCR System (Applied Biosystems, Foster City, California, USA) (Table 5). Default baseline and cycle threshold (Ct) settings were used and the PCR array values were exported to an excel file to create a table of Ct values, which was uploaded onto the Qiagen GeneGlobe Design and Analysis Hub web portal (https://dataanalysis.qiagen.com/pcr/arrayanalysis.php). A cut-off Ct value of 35 cycles was applied and samples with multiple melt curves were removed. Gene expression data were normalised to cel-miR-39 and was quantified using the $\Delta\Delta$ CT method of relative

quantification (Rao et al., 2013) (Equation 2). PCR arrays were assessed for reproducibility, reverse transcription and PCR efficiency.

Equation 2. $\Delta\Delta CT$	method of relative	quantification
-------------------------------	--------------------	----------------

 $\Delta\Delta$ CT method = Δ CT(target sample)- Δ CT(reference sample)

Array format: Component	384-well (4 x 96) Formats E, G*	
2x QuantiTect SYBR Green PCR Master Mix	550 µl	
10x miScript Universal Primer	110 µl	
RNase-free water	340 µl	
Template cDNA	100 µl	
Total volume	1100 µl	

Table 4. Reaction mix for the Human Serum/Plasma miScript miRNA PCR

 Table 5. Cycling conditions for real-time PCR

Step	Time	Temperature			
Initial activation step	15 min	95°C			
3-step cycling for 40 cycles					
Denaturation	15 s	94°C			
Annealing	30 s	55°C			
Extension	30 s	70°C			

3.11 Bioinformatics

Bioinformatics was conducted to explore the functional significance of differentially expressed miRNAs. MiRNA gene targets and their pathways were identified using miRNA Pathway Dictionary Database (miRPathDB) 2.0 (accessible at https://mpd.bioinf.uni-sb.de/) (Kehl et al., 2020). MiRPathDB identifies miRNA gene targets using MiRanda 3.3a, miRTarBase 7 and TargetScan 7.1 and maps gene targets to pathways using various

databases (Gene Ontology, Kyoto Encyclopedia of Genes and Genomes (KEGG), miRbase, miRCarta, Reactome and WikiPathways). The software conducts statistical analysis using R, version 3 using the over-representation analysis (ORA) test. The Benjamini-Hochberg method was employed to control for the false discovery rate. Only KEGG pathways were selected for the analysis in the thesis. The KEGG database is a collection of manually drawn pathway maps that may be used for biological evaluation of genomic sequences and other high-throughput data consisting of an integrated database with three generic categories of systems information, genetic information, and chemical information, as well as a human-specific health information category (Kanehisa et al., 2019).

3.12 Statistics

Statistical analysis was conducted using Graphpad Prism[®] version 8 (GraphPad Software, La Jolla, USA). Data are presented as the mean and standard error of the mean for normally distributed data or as the median and interquartile range (25^{th} - 75^{th} percentiles) for skewed data. Differences between groups were compared using one-way Anova and the Holm-Sidak's multiple comparisons test or the non-parametric Kruskal Wallis and Dunn's multiple comparisons test, followed by an unpaired student t-test or Mann-Whitney, as appropriate, to further explore differences. To investigate relationships between variables, Spearman's correlation was conducted. A p-value ≤ 0.05 was considered statistically significant.

CHAPTER 4: RESULTS

4.1 Clinical characteristics of participants

The clinical characteristics of participants are shown in Table 6. Participants included pregnant women with normoglycaemia (n=24), pregestational T1DM (n=6) and T2DM (n=26) and GDM (n=17). Age was significantly different across the four groups (p=0.008). Women with T1DM were significantly younger than women with T2DM (p=0.040) and GDM (p=0.015). Although the BMI of women with T2DM and GDM were higher than women with normoglycemia and T1DM, the difference was not statistically significant. As expected, women with pregestational T1DM (p=0.039) and T2DM (p=0.019) had higher HbA1c levels than women with GDM. Moreover, as expected, fasting plasma concentrations were higher in pregnant women with T2DM (p<0.001) and GDM (p<0.001) compared to women with normoglycaemia. Similarly, 2-hour glucose concentrations were higher in pregnant women with T2DM (p=0.003) and GDM (p=0.003) compared to women with normoglycaemia. No differences in blood pressure were observed between the groups.

4.2 Metabolic parameters

Maternal diabetes is a metabolic disorder characterised by dysregulation in insulin sensitivity and secretion, lipid metabolism and inflammation (Mazaki-Tovi et al., 2007; Vrachnis et al., 2012; Ebert et al., 2020). Therefore, we measured the circulating levels of insulin, C-peptide, total and HMW adiponectin, TGs and CRP in the serum of pregnant women with pregestational T1DM and T2DM, GDM and normoglycaemia (Table 7). Insulin levels varied significantly between groups (p=0.012), with pairwise analysis showing higher levels in women with T1DM (p=0.008), T2DM (p=0.013) and GDM (p=0.014) compared to women with normoglycaemia (Figure 11A). High levels of insulin in women with T1DM may be attributed to the administration of exogenous insulin. Therefore, we measured expression of C-peptide, which is a marker of β -cell function and insulin secretion (Leighton et al., 2017; Venugopal et al., 2021). C-peptide levels varied between groups (p=0.043), with higher levels observed in women with GDM compared to normoglycaemia (p=0.010) and a trend towards significance observed between women with T1DM and GDM (p=0.051) (Figure 11B). Total adiponectin levels were significantly different between groups (p=0.017), with women with T2DM (p=0.005) and GDM (p=0.030) displaying lower levels of total adiponectin compared to women with normoglycaemia (Figure 11C). HMW adiponectin levels, which is considered to be the biologically active form of adiponectin (Pereira et al., 2012), differed between groups (p=0.040), and pairwise analysis showed lower levels in women with T2DM (p=0.038) and GDM (p=0.052) than in women with T1DM (Figure 11D). Serum TGs were higher in women with GDM compared to women with normoglycemia (p=0.030) (Figure 11E). CRP levels varied between maternal diabetes groups (p=0.036), and were higher in women with T2DM compared to women with normoglycaemia (p=0.008) (Figure 11F).

Table 6. Participant characteristics

Variable	Pregestational diabetes				P-value
	Normoglycaemia	T1DM	T2DM	GDM	(difference between groups)
N	24	6	26	17	
Age (years)	30 (27-37)	29 (27-29) ^{a,b}	36 (32-37) ^a	36 (34-37) ^b	0.008
Body mass index (kg/m^2)	25.9 (19.3-38.5)	26.9 (24.4-35.6)	31.2 (28.8-38.5)	37.3 (29.8-43.9)	0.333
Glycated haemoglobin (%)	ND	9.3 (0.3) ^a	8.6 (0.5) ^b	5.7 (0.3) ^{a,b}	0.014
Fasting glucose (mmol/L)	3.9 (3.6-4.1) ^{c,d}	ND	8.0 (6.8-14.2) ^c	5.6 (5.3-6.3) ^d	< 0.001
2-hour glucose (mmol/L)	4.6 (4.3-5.6)°	ND	ND	7.8 (6.2-9.6)°	< 0.001
Pulse (bmp)	86.3 (2.3) ^{e,f}	94.7 (5.4)	99.0 (2.2) ^e	100.9 (3.7) ^f	0.001
Systolic blood pressure (mm Hg)	117.7 (2.5)	120.7 (2.4)	118.3 (2.1)	119.4 (2.4)	0.712
Diastolic blood pressure (mm Hg)	70.6 (2.3)	73.7 (2.5)	71.5 (1.8)	72.6 (3.3)	0.963

Data presented as the mean (SEM) for normally distributed variables or as the median and interquartile range (25th and 75th percentiles) for skewed variables.

Statistical differences between groups were assessed with the one-way anova for normally distributed data or the Kruskal Wallis test with Dunn's multiple comparisons test for skewed data. Similar superscripts indicate statistical significance, a,b p < 0.05, e,f p < 0.01, c,d p < 0.001

Abbreviations: GDM, gestational diabetes mellitus; ND, not determined; T1DM, type 1 diabetes mellitus; T2DM, type 2 diabetes mellitus

Table 7. Participant metabolic parameters

		Pregestation		P-value	
Variable	Normoglycaemia	T1DM	T2DM	GDM	(difference between groups)
N	24	7	26	17	
Insulin (µU/mL)	3.8 (0-20.8) ^{a,b,c}	30.5 (16.6-46.6) ^c	15.4 (6.7-40.8) ^a	18.1 (4.0-57.5) ^b	0.012
C-peptide (ng/mL)	1.0 (0.7-2.0) ^a	1.1 (0-1.6)#	1.8 (0.9-2.3)	1.9 (1.1-4.4) ^{a,#}	0.043
Total Adiponectin (µg/mL)	8.1 (4.7-12.0) ^{c,a}	7.0 (4.6-14.6)	4.1 (3.1-6.1) ^c	4.1 (3.5-7.1) ^a	0.017
HMW Adiponectin (µg/mL)	4.3 (1.9-6.7)	7.4 (3.4-14.7) ^{a,#}	2.0 (1.3-3.0) ^a	2.3 (1.1-4.8)#	0.040
Triglycerides (mg/dL)	324.1 (27.9) ^a	388.8 (51.0)	408.2 (44.96)	416.4 (28.53) ^a	0.270
C-Reactive Protein (µg/mL)	4.5 (3.4-13.0) ^c	7.7 (7.3-9.4)	15.2 (7.6-27.2) ^c	8.1 (4.6-17.3)	0.036

Data presented as the median and interquartile range (25th and 75th percentiles) or as the mean and SEM for normally distributed data.

Statistical differences between groups were assessed with the Kruskal Wallis test and Dunn's multiple comparisons test or with the one-way ANOVA and Holm-Sidak's multiple comparison test for normally distributed data. Paired tests were conducted using the Mann-Whiney test or the unpaired t-test. Similar superscripts indicate statistical significance, ${}^{a,b}p < 0.05$, ${}^{c}p < 0.01$, ${}^{\#}p = 0.05$

Abbreviations: HMW, high molecular weight; GDM, gestational diabetes mellitus; T1DM, type 1 diabetes mellitus; T2DM, type 2 diabetes mellitus.


B



С



D



A



Figure 11. Metabolic parameters in pregnant women

The concentration of A) insulin, B) C-peptide, C) total adiponectin, D) high molecular weight (HMW) adiponectin, E) triglycerides and F) C reactive protein were measured in the serum of pregnant women with pregestational type 1 diabetes (T1DM) and type 2 diabetes (T2DM), gestational diabetes (GDM) and normoglycaemia (controls) using commercial enzyme-linked immunosorbent assays (ELISAs). Results are expressed as box whisker plots indicating the median and interquartile range in boxes and whiskers representing the minimum and maximum values (n=7-26 per group), *p<0.05, **p<0.01.

4.3 Association between clinical and metabolic parameters

Metabolic dysregulation during diabetes is complex, involving the aberrant expression of various parameters. Therefore, we next explored the association between clinical and metabolic parameters. As expected, insulin and C-peptide concentrations were correlated with each other, while both were correlated with higher TG, CRP, Fasting glucose (FPG), BMI and weight, and with lower total and HMW adiponectin concentrations. Total and HMW adiponectin were correlated with each other and with younger age and lower TG, FPG, 2-hour glucose concentrations and weight, while total adiponectin was correlated with lower pulse rate and HMW adiponectin was correlated with lower glucose were correlated with each other and with higher Pulse rate, BMI and weight. FPG and 2-hour glucose was also correlated with older age. Pulse rate was correlated with higher BMI and weight. SBP and DBP were correlated with each other and with weight, while SBP was also correlated with 2-hour glucose (Table 8).

		C-	Total	HMW						2hr					
Variable	Insulin	peptide	adiponectin	adiponectin	TG	CRP	Age	HbA1c	FPG	glucose	Pulse	SBP	DBP	BMI	Weight
Insulin	1***	0.66***	-0.24*	-0.19#	0.29*	0.34**	-0.12	0.26	0.33*	0.13	0.19	0.07	0.18	0.39**	0.37**
C-peptide	0.66***	1***	-0.25*	-0.19	0.34**	0.29*	0.07	-0.07	0.28*	0.07	0.11	0.08	0.07	0.67***	0.59***
Total	-0.24*	-0.25*	1***	0.64***	-0.20#	-0.14	-0.23*	0.02	-0.35*	-0.38**	-0.31**	0.06	-0.14	-0.17	-0.23#
adiponectin															
HMW	-0.19#	-0.19	0.64***	1***	-0.29*	-0.26*	-0.27*	-0.10	-0.31*	-0.32*	-0.10	-0.04	-0.15	-0.28#	-0.32**
adiponectin	0.15	0.13	0.01	-	0.22	0.20	0.27	0110	0.01	0102	0110	0101	0110	0.20	0.02
TG	0.29*	0.34**	-0.20	-0.29*	1***	0.33**	0.13	0.06	0.26	0.22	0.35**	0.12	0.17	0.36*	0.33**
CRP	0.34**	0.29*	-0.14	-0.26*	0.33**	1***	-0.03	-0.01	0.24	0.21	0.26*	0.11	0.11	0.32*	0.36**
Age	-0.12	0.07	-0.23*	-0.27*	0.13	-0.03	1***	-0.04	0.24	0.36**	0.06	-0.02	0.08	0.09	0.12
HbA1c	0.26	-0.07	0.02	-0.10	0.06	-0.01	-0.04	1***	0.67*	0.97***	-0.21	-0.06	0.13	-0.79***	-0.67***
FPG	0.33*	0.28*	-0.35*	-0.31*	0.26	0.24	0.24	0.67*	1***	0.80***	0.37**	0.19	0.09	0.13	0.29*
2hr glucose	0.13	0.07	-0.38**	-0.32*	0.22	0.21	0.36**	0.42*	0.80***	1***	0.37**	0.32*	0.22	-0.23	0.15
Pulse	0.19	0.11	-0.31**	-0.10	0.35**	0.26*	0.06	-0.21	0.37**	0.37**	1***	0.20	0.15	0.23	0.32**
SBP	0.07	0.08	0.06	-0.04	0.12	0.11	-0.02	-0.06	0.19	0.32*	0.20	1***	0.53***	0.10	0.23
DBP	0.18	0.07	-0.14	-0.15	0.17	0.11	0.08	0.13	0.09	0.22	0.15	0.53***	1***	0.10	0.24*
BMI	0.39**	0.67***	-0.17	-0.28#	0.36*	0.32*	0.09	-0.79***	0.13	-0.23	0.23	0.10	0.10	1***	0.96***
Weight	0.37**	0.59***	-0.23	-0.32**	0.33**	0.36**	0.12	-0.67***	0.29*	0.15	0.32**	0.23	0.24*	0.96***	1***

The Spearman rank coefficient is indicated. *p<0.05, **p<0.001, ***p<0.001, #p<0.1

Abbreviations: GDM, gestational diabetes mellitus; ND, not determined; T1DM, type 1 diabetes mellitus; T2DM, type 2 diabetes mellitus; New T2DM, T2DM first diagnosed in pregnancy. Statistical differences between groups were assessed with the Kruskal Wallis test with Dunn's multiple comparisons test. [#]p=0.054

4.4 MicroRNA expression analysis

4.4.1 RNA concentration and yield

The concentration and yield of miRNA-enriched total RNA varied between 6.1 and 149 ng/ μ l and 92 and 2229 ng, respectively (Appendix 1, Table 9). RNA purity was assessed by calculating the A260/280 (protein contamination) (Appendix 1, Table 9).

4.4.2 MiRNA percentage and concentration

The concentration and percentage of miRNA in the total RNA sample varied between 4 and 91% and 49.2 and 960 pg/ μ l, respectively (Appendix 1, Table 9).

4.4.3 PCR arrays

MiRNAs isolated from the serum of pregnant women with T1DM, T2DM, GDM and normoglycaemia were profiled using the miScript miRNA serum/plasma PCR Array. The assay passed the PCR Array Reproducibility quality control check which is determined by an average PPC Ct of 19 ± 2 across PCR plates. No significant differences in the distribution of Ct values for miRNAs across the different sample groups were observed (Figure 12). The majority of miRNAs were undetected (Ct > 35). Using a 1.5-fold cut-off for differential expression, a number of miRNAs were shared between diabetes groups, although their fold regulation varied relative to the controls (Figure 13). A total of 36 miRNAs were upregulated in pregnant women with diabetes compared to women with normoglycaemia (Figure 14). Of these, one was unique to women with T1DM, 14 were unique to women with T2DM, two were unique to women with GDM, five shared between T1DM and T2DM, five shared between T2DM and GDM, one shared between T1DM and GDM, and eight shared across all three groups. The identities of these miRNAs are shown in Figure 14. A total of 35 miRNAs were decreased in women with diabetes compared to women with normoglycaemia (Figure 15). Of these, three miRNAs were unique to women with T1DM, one was unique to women with T2DM, fourteen were unique to women with GDM, three shared between T2DM and GDM, nine shared between T1DM and GDM, and five shared across all three groups. The identities of these miRNAs are shown in Figure 15. Of the differentially expressed miRNAs, the expression of only three was statistically significant (Figure 16). The expression of miR-19b-3p was lower in women with GDM (9.8-fold; p=0.033) (Figure 16A), miR-20a-5p was lower in women with T1DM (4.5-fold; p=0.047) (Figure 16B), and miR-29a-3p was higher in women with T2DM (1.8-fold; p=0.002) (Figure 16C) compared to controls.





MiRNAs were profiled in the serum of pregnant women with type 1 diabetes (T1DM) (n=4), type 2 diabetes (T2DM) (n=4), gestational diabetes (GDM) (n=3) and normoglycaemia (controls) (n=4) using the miScript miRNA serum/plasma PCR Array. The range of Ct values for miRNAs are shown.

Abbreviations: Ct, cycle threshold; GDM, gestational diabetes; T1DM, type 1 diabetes; T2DM, type 2 diabetes.





Figure 13. Heat map illustrating fold regulation of miRNAs in maternal diabetes

Fold regulation was calculated relative to miRNA expression in controls and the data is visualised in the heatmap where the fold regulation is relative to the change in colour intensity. High and low miRNA fold regulations are indicated by red and green, respectively.



Figure 14. MiRNAs upregulated during maternal diabetes

MiRNAs were profiled in the serum of pregnant women with type 1 diabetes (T1DM) (n=4), type 2 diabetes (T2DM) (n=4), gestational diabetes (GDM) (n=3) and normoglycaemia (controls) (n=4) using the miScript miRNA serum/plasma PCR Array. The Venny diagram illustrates miRNAs with > 1.5-fold higher expression during maternal diabetes compared to controls (https://academo.org/demos/venn-diagram-generator/).



Figure 15. MiRNAs downregulated during maternal diabetes

MiRNAs were profiled in the serum of pregnant women with type 1 diabetes (T1DM) (n=4), type 2 diabetes (T2DM) (n=4), gestational diabetes (GDM) (n=3) and normoglycaemia (controls) (n=4) using the miScript miRNA serum/plasma PCR Array. The Venny diagram illustrates miRNAs with > 1.5-fold lower expression during maternal diabetes compared to controls (https://academo.org/demos/venn-diagram-generator/).



B





MiRNAs were profiled in the serum of pregnant women with type 1 diabetes (T1DM) (n=4), type 2 diabetes (T2DM) (n=4), gestational diabetes (GDM) (n=3) and normoglycaemia (controls) (n=4) using the miScript miRNA serum/plasma PCR Array. The fold regulation of A) miR-19b-3p, B) miR-20a-5p and C) miR29a-3p relative to controls are represented in the graphs, *p<0.05.

4.5 **Bioinformatics**

To further explore the functional significance of the differentially expressed miRNAs, bioinformatic analysis was conducted to identify miRNA gene targets and their enriched biological pathways. Messenger RNA target prediction and pathway analysis for the three differentially expressed miRNAs (miR-19b-3p, miR-20a-5p and miR-29a-3p) were conducted using miRPathDB 2.0. Significant KEGG pathways with strong experimental evidence for each miRNA are illustrated in Figure 17. The forkhead box protein O1 (FOXO1) signalling and miRNAs in cancer pathways were common to all three miRNAs, while 15 pathways were common across miR-20a-5p and miR-29a-3p only. In addition, nine pathways were specific to miR-20a-5p and 18 pathways were specific to miR-29a-3p.



Figure	17. A heatma	p illustrating	KEGG t	oathwavs	enriched fo	or three	significant	miRNAs

A heatmap displaying KEGG pathways enriched for miR-19b-3p, miR-20a-5p, and miR-29a-3p with strong experimental evidence. Two pathways were common in miR-19b-3p, miR-20a-5p and miR-29a-3p, nine pathways were specific to miR-20a-5p and 18 pathways were specific to miR-29a-3p. The p-values were used to calculate the indicated enrichment scores. The higher enrichment score, the greater the significance of the relevant miRNAs in the pathway. Higher enrichment scores are indicated by the darker blue colour intensity.

CHAPTER 5: DISCUSSION AND FUTURE PERSPECTIVES

5.1 Introduction

Maternal diabetes is associated with an increased risk of complications for both mother and child with several studies providing evidence that the frequency and severity of these adverse pregnancy outcomes are related with the severity of hyperglycaemia (Benhalima et al., 2019; Wu et al., 2020). For example, women with pregestational T1DM and T2DM have a higher risk of adverse outcomes (fetal and neonatal loss, congenital malformations, preterm delivery, macrosomia, preeclampsia, caesarean deliveries, and maternal mortality), compared to women with GDM (Mathiesen and Vaz, 2008; Shand et al., 2008). This may be attributed to GDM being a milder metabolic disorder than pregestational diabetes or due to the fact that pregestational diabetes is associated with longer intrauterine exposure to hyperglycaemia than GDM. Despite the factors linking maternal diabetes with adverse pregnancy outcomes being largely unknown, it is plausible that the molecular mechanisms that underlie the different types of maternal diabetes may provide insight. In recent years, epigenetic mechanisms such as miRNAs have garnered interest as tools to understand disease pathophysiology during pregnancy (Soifer et al., 2007). Several studies have provided evidence that the expression of miRNAs, including circulating miRNAs in serum, correlate with hyperglycaemia during pregnancy. Therefore, profiling miRNAs in pregnancies complicated by diabetes may aid in elucidating the pathophysiological mechanisms that underlie the different types of maternal diabetes. We hypothesised that circulating miRNAs will differ between the different types of maternal diabetes, thereby representing markers of diabetes type and offering insight into the mechanisms that orchestrate pregnancy complications.

The main findings of the study are 1) the identification of miRNAs with shared and unique expression across the different types of maternal diabetes, 2) the identification of three miRNAs with significant differential regulation, which was related to maternal diabetes type, 3) variation in peripheral metabolic markers between different types of maternal diabetes.

5.2 MiRNAs with shared and unique expression during maternal diabetes

MiScript miRNA PCR Arrays have gained popularity as tools for sensitive and specific mature miRNA expression profiling to identify miRNAs associated with biological processes and disease (Qiagen, Hilden, Germany). More recently, these techniques have also been applied to the assessment of relatively stable, extracellular miRNAs in serum and plasma samples. These circulating miRNAs are of great interest as potential noninvasive biomarkers for a variety of diseases, while recent studies have provided evidence that extracellular miRNAs may be involved in disease pathophysiology (Condrat et al., 2020). In this study, the Human Serum & Plasma miScript miRNA PCR Array, which enables rapid profiling of the 84 most relevant miRNAs associated with serum and plasma was used to profile miRNAs isolated from the serum of pregnant women with pregestational T1DM and T2DM, GDM and normoglycaemia.

The majority of the expressed miRNAs demonstrated shared expression across the different types of diabetes, although their expression levels differed. These findings highlight the ambiguous and non-specific nature of miRNAs, with a single miRNA speculated to regulate up to 200 genes involved in different biological pathways (Krek et al., 2005). Moreover, these results may also reflect the physiological similarities and shared biological pathways between the different types of diabetes. For example, T2DM and GDM are reported to have similar aetiologies, particularly the involvement of insulin resistance, inflammation and lipid dysregulation (Buchanan et al., 2007) and could share a common genetic background. It has been reported that T2DM and GDM share common genetic risk variants (Huerta-Chagoya et al., 2015) and that the determinants of these diseases are similar, with both being driven mainly by lifestyle factors such as obesity and physical inactivity (Sigal et al., 2006; Yen et al., 2019). Indeed, women with GDM have a ~7-fold increased risk of developing T2DM in later life (Bellamy et al., 2009), supporting the idea of a shared aetiology. Evidence, although limited, suggest that GDM and T2DM are more related to each other than with T1DM, which is an autoimmune disease. However, T1DM and GDM do share some risk variants and a low percentage of GDM patients have tested positive for T1DM autoimmune markers (Weng et al., 2002). Differences in the expression of lipid and glucose metabolism genes have been demonstrated in the placenta of mothers with T1DM and GDM (Radaelli et al., 2009), unfortunately our study did not assess placental gene expression in mothers with T2DM.

5.3 Three miRNAs with significant differential expression related to maternal diabetes type

The expression of three miRNAs was significantly different to controls and varied according to diabetes type. These miRNAs were similarly regulated in all diabetes types, yet their fold regulation compared to controls was significant in one type of diabetes only. For example, miR-19b-3p was downregulated in T1DM, T2DM and GDM compared to controls, although only the decreased expression in GDM was significant. Similarly, miR-20a-5p was downregulated in all diabetes types compared to controls, yet only the decreased expression during T1DM was statistically significant. MiR-29a-3p was increased in all types of diabetes, but only the regulation in T2DM was significant.

MiR-19b-3p has been reported to regulate the expression of FOXO1, sterol regulatory element-binding proteins (SREBP-1c and SREBP-2), insulin induced gene 1 (INSIG-1) and carbohydrate-responsive element-binding protein (ChREBP), key genes involved in biological pathways including insulin signalling, lipid and cholesterol biosynthesis and nonalcoholic fatty acid liver disease (NAFLD) (Sud et al., 2017). A previous study conducted in the same population as investigated in the current study similarly reported decreased expression of miR-19b-3p in serum of pregnant women with GDM when compared to normoglycaemia, however, the differences observed in this study were not statistically significant (Pheiffer et al., 2018b). In contrast, three studies conducted in Chinese populations reported conflicting results. Studies by Zhu et al. (2015) and Wang et al. (2019a) reported that miR-19b-3p was upregulated using SYBR Green and TaqMan qRT-PCR in plasma and serum, respectively, of pregnant women with GDM when compared to normoglycaemia (Zhu et al., 2015; Wang et al., 2019a), while one study by Cao et al. (2017) reported no difference in expression of miR-19b-3p using TaqMan qRT-PCR in plasma of pregnant women with GDM compared to normoglycaemia (Cao et al., 2017). Similarly Stirm et al. (2018) showed no difference in the expression of miR-19b-3p using SYBR Green qRT-PCR in whole blood of pregnant women with GDM compared to normoglycaemia in Germany population (Stirm et al., 2018).

MiR-20a-5p belongs to the miR-17-92 cluster, which is associated with angiogenesis, a key physiological process during pregnancy (Wang et al., 2012). The gene targets of miR-20a-5p, endothelial growth factor-a (VEGFA), hypoxia inducible factor-1a (HIF1A), phosphatase and

tensin homolog (PTEN), a protein implicated in the pathogenesis of insulin resistance, and the anti-apoptotic gene B cell lymphoma 2 (BCL2), are increasing during GDM, which suggests a corresponding decrease in miR-20a-5p expression (Pheiffer., et 2018b). Accordingly, in our study, the expression of miR-20a-5p was decreased during GDM, which is consistent with a previous study conducted in a similar population in South Africa. The expression of miRNA-20a-5p was similarly decreased during T1DM and T2DM, however only the former was significant (Pheiffer et al., 2018b). In contrast two studies reported upregulation of miR-20a-5p using SYBR green and Taqman qRT-PCR in plasma and placental tissue, respectively, of pregnant Chinese women with GDM when compared to normoglycaemia (Zhu et al., 2015; Cao et al., 2017). A study conducted in Spain, similarly, demonstrated differential expression of miR-20a-5p in placental tissue of women with T1DM and T2DM (Ibarra et al., 2018). These results suggest that miR-20a-5p regulates shared pathways in T1DM, T2DM and GDM, which may be related to the effect of maternal diabetes on angiogenetic processes.

MiR-29b-3p belongs to the miR-29 family and is among the most abundantly expressed miRNAs in metabolically active tissues such as the pancreas, liver and muscle (Dooley et al., 2016). Members of the miR-29 family act as an important regulators of β -cell function and insulin secretion, insulin-stimulated glucose metabolism and lipid oxidation, and have been shown to potentiate obesity and insulin resistance (Zhou et al., 2016). Studies have reported that miR-29b-3p was upregulated during T2DM (Kong et al., 2011; Massart et al., 2017), which supports our findings in pregnant women with T2DM and confirms its relevance to the pathophysiological processes during diabetes. Although, not significant, the expression of miR-29a-3p was increased in pregnant women with T1DM and GDM, consistent with its function in the pancreas and insulin resistance. Other studies have similarly reported increased expression of miR-29a-3p using Taqman and SYBR green qRT-PCR in serum of Canadian, Mexican and European women with GDM when compared to normoglycaemia (Gillet et al., 2019; Martínez-Ibarra et al., 2019; Sørensen et al., 2021), although conflicting results have also been reported (Pheiffer et al., 2018b; Zhao et al., 2011).

These conflicting results allude to the complexities of miRNA profiling, which are affected by various analytical factors including the method of normalisation and measurement platform used, and population factors including age, ethnicity, BMI and lifestyle factors (such as smoking, diet and physical exercise) (Bovell et al., 2013; Florio et al., 2020; Karere et al., 2021). Furthermore, the concentration and yield of miRNAs are affected by the extraction procedure and technical variables that occur during experimental steps (Faraldi et al., 2019). The complexities of miRNA profiling are further confirmed in the study conducted by Sud et al. (2017) which showed that dietary factors such as fructose and fat may differentially regulate miRNA expression (Sud et al., 2017).

Bioinformatics confirmed the functional role of these miRNAs in biological pathways such as FoxO1 signalling pathways and the phosphoinositol-3-kinase–Protein Kinase B (PI3K-Akt) pathway, which have been implicated in the pathogenesis of diabetes (Colomiere et al., 2009; Wang et al., 2014; Maiese, 2015). The FoxO1 signalling pathway regulates various pathways including insulin signalling and gluconeogenesis (Gross et al., 2008). These findings strengthen the candidacy of these miRNAs as mechanisms that may underlie the different types of maternal diabetes, although future work in larger sample sizes and preferably longitudinal studies that profile miRNAs during pregnancy progression are required to validate our findings.

5.4 Variation in clinical presentation and peripheral metabolic markers in different types of maternal diabetes

Consistent with the widely held notion that age and BMI are risk factors for T2DM and GDM (Dias et al., 2019a), women with T2DM and GDM were older and heavier than women with T1DM. Also, as expected, HbA1c, which reflects long-term glucose control (Glinianaia et al., 2012), and glucose concentrations were higher in women with pregestational diabetes compared to GDM. C-peptide concentrations were higher in women with T2DM and GDM compared to women with T1DM, while total and HMW adiponectin concentrations were lower in women with T2DM and GDM. These findings support the notion that T2DM and GDM are more closely related to each other than with T1DM (Bellamy et al., 2009). As expected, metabolic markers of dysregulation were more closely linked with each other. For example, insulin and C-peptide concentrations were correlated with higher glucose concentrations, TGs, systemic inflammation, BMI and weight, while the opposite was observed for total and HMW adiponectin. Others have similarly reported negative correlations between adiponectin, measures of adiposity, inflammation and insulin resistance (Lihn et al., 2005). Similarly, lower adiponectin concentrations are associated with increased

adiposity and insulin resistance during pregnancy (Catalano et al., 2006) and with an increased risk of pregnancy disorders such as GDM (Pheiffer et al., 2021).

5.5 Strengths and limitations

To the best of our knowledge, this study is the first to compare miRNA expression in pregestational T1DM and T2DM, and GDM and provides novel findings on miRNA expression during maternal diabetes. Moreover, our study provided a comprehensive analysis of various metabolic markers during maternal diabetes, which has also been limited to date. However, it is also important to note that the study has several limitations. A major limitation of the study was the lack of validation of differentially expressed miRNAs identified by the PCR Array, in a bigger sample. While every effort was made to purchase assays and reagents for validation, delivery delays due to COVID-19 and lockdown restrictions significantly hampered such efforts and therefore these experiments were not conducted timeously, and the results thereof are not included in this thesis. Another limitation of this study is the use of serum rather than placental tissue, which may be more appropriate to study disease mechanisms during pregnancy. Although our protocol included the collection of placental tissue for analysis, challenges due to time of delivery resulted in failure to obtain these specimens. Importantly, studies have reported that placental miRNAs may be reflected in circulation, which supports our use of serum (Xu et al., 2017; Li et al., 2018). MiRNA expression is dynamic and changes with advancing gestation (Rosero et al., 2010), thus the wide gestational age range of our participants, may have contributed to the heterogeneous miRNA expression observed in our study and the failure to attain statistical significance. Furthermore, our sample size was small, and substantial heterogeneity between women may have led to the large variances observed in our data. Lastly, our study was limited by the absence of data for lifestyle and environmental factors, such as diet, physical activity, smoking and alcohol consumption, which are well known to contribute to changes in miRNA expression (Alegría-Torres et al., 2011).

5.6 Future perspectives

Although miRNA research during pregnancy, particularly GDM, has exploded in the last few years, there is a scarcity of studies profiling miRNAs during pregestational diabetes. In future, studies on miRNA profiling should be conducted in pregnancies complicated by the different types of diabetes, to provide insight into their underlying mechanisms, which may

be related to pregnancy outcome. In addition, our findings, in a small population of Black South African pregnant women attending the Steve Biko Academic Hospital in Pretoria, South Africa, should be confirmed in replication studies across different ethnicities and populations in South Africa and globally, to assess the generalisability of our findings. Longitudinal studies to profile miRNAs across pregnancy trimesters are required to assess causality, and to determine whether differences are involved in disease pathogenesis. Furthermore, studies to correlate miRNA expression with pregnancy outcomes are required to give insight into the potential role that miRNAs play in diabetes-related pregnancy complications.

Other research questions that could be addressed in future to further this research include: 1) Are the altered miRNA signatures in maternal diabetes the same across different ethnicities and population groups? 2) Could the unique miRNAs identified in this study be used as predictive markers for maternal diabetes? 3) Could miRNAs be used as predictive markers for short- and long- term pregnancy outcomes complicated by diabetes? Although numerous studies have demonstrated that miRNAs have potential as predictive biomarkers for diabetes in pregnancy, future studies should focus on reducing experimental and technical challenges with miRNA profiling. These could be achieved by tightly controlling miRNA processing during detection and normalisation, data processing and optimisation, and by adjusting for confounding factors that are known to affect miRNA patterns.

5.7 Conclusion

Our findings show that several circulating miRNAs have shared and unique differential expression across maternal diabetes types, although their expression levels differed. Of the differentially expression miRNAs, three miRNAs, miR-19b-3p, miR-20a-5p and miR-29a-3p, showed statistical significance when compared to controls, and varied according to maternal diabetes type. Moreover, variations in peripheral metabolic markers across different maternal diabetes types were observed. These findings suggest that the identification of miRNA signatures associated with diabetes type may contribute towards advancing our knowledge and understanding the mechanisms underlying the different types of diabetes in pregnancy.

REFERENCES

- Abdeltawab A, Zaki ME, Abdeldayem Y, et al. (2020) Circulating micro RNA-223 and angiopoietin-like protein 8 as biomarkers of gestational diabetes mellitus. *British Journal of Biomedical Science* 78(1): 12–17. DOI: 10.1080/09674845.2020.1764211.
- Adam S and Rheeder P (2017) Screening for gestational diabetes mellitus in a South African population: Prevalence, comparison of diagnostic criteria and the role of risk factors. *South African Medical Journal* 107(6). 6: 523–527.
- Adam S, Dias S, Rheeder P, et al. (2019) Does South Africa need a diabetes-in-pregnancy study group? South African Medical Journal 109(7). 7: 455–456. DOI: DOI:10.7196/SAMJ.2019.v109i7.14071.
- Agilent Technologies, Inc. (2016) Agilent Integrated Solutions for Design, Synthesis, and Quality Control of Guide RNA for CRISPR-Cas9 Genome Editing Workflows. La Jolla, CA, USA. 5991-7557EN.
- Alamolhoda SH, Yazdkhasti M, Namdari M, et al. (2020) Association between C-reactive protein and gestational diabetes: a prospective study. *Journal of Obstetrics and Gynaecology* 40(3): 349–353. DOI: 10.1080/01443615.2019.1631767.
- Alegría-Torres JA, Baccarelli A and Bollati V (2011) Epigenetics and lifestyle. *Epigenomics* 3(3): 267–277. DOI: 10.2217/epi.11.22.
- Al-Goblan AS, Al-Alfi MA and Khan MZ (2014) Mechanism linking diabetes mellitus and obesity. *Diabetes, Metabolic Syndrome and Obesity: Targets and Therapy* 7: 587– 591. DOI: 10.2147/DMSO.S67400.
- Ali DS, Davern R, Rutter E, et al. (2020) Pre-Gestational Diabetes and Pregnancy Outcomes. Diabetes Therapy: Research, treatment and education of diabetes and related disorders 11(12): 2873. DOI: 10.1007/s13300-020-00932-9.
- Ali S and Dornhorst A (2011) Diabetes in pregnancy: health risks and management. *Postgraduate Medical Journal* 87(1028). 1028: 417. DOI: 10.1136/pgmj.2010.109157.
- Alles J, Fehlmann T, Fischer U, et al. (2019) An estimate of the total number of true human miRNAs. *Nucleic Acids Research* 47(7): 3353–3364. DOI: 10.1093/nar/gkz097.
- Ambros V, Bartel B, Bartel DP, et al. (2003) A uniform system for microRNA annotation. *RNA* 9(3): 277–279. DOI: 10.1261/rna.2183803.
- American Diabetes Association (2010) Standards of Medical Care in Diabetes—2010. Diabetes Care 33(1): S11–S61. DOI: 10.2337/dc10-S011.
- American Diabetes Association (2013) Diagnosis and Classification of Diabetes Mellitus. Diabetes Care 37(1): S81. DOI: 10.2337/dc14-S081.
- American Diabetes Association (2015) 12. Management of Diabetes in Pregnancy. *Diabetes Care* 38(1): S77–S79. DOI: 10.2337/dc15-S015.

- American Diabetes Association (2019) 14. Management of Diabetes in Pregnancy: Standards of Medical Care in Diabetes—2019. *Diabetes Care* 42(1): S165–S172. DOI: 10.2337/dc19-S014.
- Ardekani AM and Naeini MM (2010) The Role of MicroRNAs in Human Diseases. *Avicenna Journal of Medical Biotechnology* 2(4). 4: 161–179.
- Balci S, Gorur A, Yildirim DD, et al. (2020) Expression level of miRNAS in patients with gestational diabetes. *Turkish Journal of Biochemistry* 45(6): 825–831. DOI: 10.1515/tjb-2019-0157.
- Bao W, Baecker A, Song Y, et al. (2015) Adipokine levels during the first or early second trimester of pregnancy and subsequent risk of gestational diabetes mellitus: A systematic review. *Metabolism* 64(6): 756–764. DOI: 10.1016/j.metabol.2015.01.013.
- Barnes-Powell LL (2007) Infants of diabetic mothers: the effects of hyperglycemia on the fetus and neonate. *Neonatal Network* 26(5): 283–290. DOI: 10.1891/0730-0832.26.5.283.
- Bartel DP (2004) MicroRNAs: genomics, biogenesis, mechanism, and function. *Cell* 116(2). 2: 281–297.
- Bayraktar R, Van Roosbroeck K and Calin GA (2017) Cell-to-cell communication: microRNAs as hormones. *Molecular Oncology* 11(12): 1673–1686. DOI: 10.1002/1878-0261.12144.
- Bell DS (2001) Importance of Postprandial Glucose Control. Southern Medical Journal 94(8): 804–809.
- Bellamy L, Casas J-P, Hingorani AD, et al. (2009) Type 2 diabetes mellitus after gestational diabetes: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Lancet* 373(9677). 9677: 1773–1779. DOI: 10.1016/S0140-6736(09)60731-5.
- Benhalima K, Van Crombrugge P, Moyson C, et al. (2019) Characteristics and pregnancy outcomes across gestational diabetes mellitus subtypes based on insulin resistance. *Diabetologia* 62(11). 11: 2118–2128. DOI: 10.1007/s00125-019-4961-7.
- Bovell LC, Shanmugam C, Putcha B-DK, et al. (2013) The prognostic value of microRNAs varies with patient race/ethnicity and stage of colorectal cancer. *Clinical Cancer Research : an official journal of the American Association for Cancer Research* 19(14). 2013/05/29 ed. 14: 3955–3965. DOI: 10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-12-3302.
- Buchanan TA, Xiang A, Kjos SL, et al. (2007) What Is Gestational Diabetes? *Diabetes Care* 30(2): S105–S111. DOI: 10.2337/dc07-s201.
- Cai M, Kolluru GK and Ahmed A (2017) Small Molecule, Big Prospects: MicroRNA in Pregnancy and Its Complications. *Journal of Pregnancy* 2017: 6972732. DOI: 10.1155/2017/6972732.

- Cao J-L, Zhang L, Li J, et al. (2016) Up-regulation of miR-98 and unraveling regulatory mechanisms in gestational diabetes mellitus. *Scientific Reports* 6(1): 32268. DOI: 10.1038/srep32268.
- Cao Y-L, Jia Y-J, Xing B-H, et al. (2017) Plasma microRNA-16-5p, -17-5p and -20a-5p: Novel diagnostic biomarkers for gestational diabetes mellitus: MicroRNA: GDM biomarkers. *Journal of Obstetrics and Gynaecology Research* 43(6): 974–981. DOI: 10.1111/jog.13317.
- Catalano PM, Hoegh M, Minium J, et al. (2006) Adiponectin in human pregnancy: implications for regulation of glucose and lipid metabolism. *Diabetologia* 49(7). 7: 1677–1685. DOI: 10.1007/s00125-006-0264-x.
- Chan JCN, Malik V, Jia W, et al. (2009) Diabetes in Asia: epidemiology, risk factors, and pathophysiology. *Journal of the American Medical Association* 301(20). 20: 2129–2140. DOI: 10.1001/jama.2009.726.
- Chen D and Wang W (2013) Human Placental MicroRNAs and Preeclampsia1. *Biology of Reproduction* 88(5). DOI: 10.1095/biolreprod.113.107805.
- Chim SSC, Shing TKF, Hung ECW, et al. (2008) Detection and characterization of placental microRNAs in maternal plasma. *Clinical Chemistry* 54(3): 482–490. DOI: 10.1373/clinchem.2007.097972.
- Chivese T, Werfalli MM, Magodoro I, et al. (2019) Prevalence of type 2 diabetes mellitus in women of childbearing age in Africa during 2000–2016: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *British Medical Association* 9(5). 5: e024345. DOI: 10.1136/bmjopen-2018-024345.
- Chuang JC and Jones PA (2007) Epigenetics and microRNAs. *Pediatric Research* 61(5 Pt 2): 24R-29R. DOI: 10.1203/pdr.0b013e3180457684.
- Collares CV, Evangelista AF, Xavier DJ, et al. (2013) Identifying common and specific microRNAs expressed in peripheral blood mononuclear cell of type 1, type 2, and gestational diabetes mellitus patients. *BioMedical Central Research Notes* 6(1): 491. DOI: 10.1186/1756-0500-6-491.
- Colomiere M, Permezel M, Riley C, et al. (2009) Defective insulin signaling in placenta from pregnancies complicated by gestational diabetes mellitus. *European Journal of Endocrinology* 160(4). 4: 567–578. DOI: 10.1530/EJE-09-0031.
- Condrat CE, Thompson DC, Barbu MG, et al. (2020) miRNAs as Biomarkers in Disease: Latest Findings Regarding Their Role in Diagnosis and Prognosis. *Cells* 9(2): 276. DOI: 10.3390/cells9020276.
- Coustan DR (2020) Maternal Metabolic Adaptation to Pregnancy. *Gestational Diabetes* 28: 11–20. DOI: 10.1159/000480162.
- Croce CM (2009) Causes and consequences of microRNA dysregulation in cancer. *Nature Reviews Genetics* 10(10): 704–714. DOI: 10.1038/nrg2634.

- Dias S, Hemmings S, Muller C, et al. (2017) MicroRNA Expression Varies according to Glucose Tolerance, Measurement Platform, and Biological Source. *BioMedical Research International* 2017: 1080157. DOI: 10.1155/2017/1080157.
- Dias S, Pheiffer C, Abrahams Y, et al. (2018) Molecular Biomarkers for Gestational Diabetes Mellitus. *International Journal of Molecular Sciences* 19(10): 2926. DOI: 10.3390/ijms19102926.
- Dias S, Adam S, Rheeder P, et al. (2019a) Prevalence of and risk factors for gestational diabetes mellitus in South Africa. South African Medical Journal 109(7). 7: 463–467. DOI: 10.7196/SAMJ.2019.v109i7.14127.
- Dias S, Pheiffer C, Rheeder P, et al. (2019b) Screening and diagnosis of gestational diabetes mellitus in South Africa: What we know so far. *South African Medical Journal* 109(7). 7: 457–462. DOI: DOI:10.7196/SAMJ.2019.v109i7.14064.
- Dias S, Adam S, Van Wyk N, et al. (2019c) Global DNA methylation profiling in peripheral blood cells of South African women with gestational diabetes mellitus. *Biomarkers* 24(3). 3: 225–231. DOI: 10.1080/1354750X.2018.1539770.
- Ding R, Guo F, Zhang Y, et al. (2018) Integrated Transcriptome Sequencing Analysis Reveals Role of miR-138-5p/ TBL1X in Placenta from Gestational Diabetes Mellitus. *Cellular Physiology and Biochemistry* 51(2): 630–646. DOI: 10.1159/000495319.
- Dooley J, Garcia-Perez JE, Sreenivasan J, et al. (2016) The microRNA-29 Family Dictates the Balance Between Homeostatic and Pathological Glucose Handling in Diabetes and Obesity. *Diabetes* 65(1): 53–61. DOI: 10.2337/db15-0770.
- Dornhorst A and Banerjee AA (2010) Diabetes in pregnancy. In: *Textbook of Diabetes*. 4th edition. 888–921: ISBN: 978-1-444-34806-4.
- Ebert T, Gebhardt C, Scholz M, et al. (2020) Adipocytokines are not associated with gestational diabetes mellitus but with pregnancy status. *Cytokine* 131: 155088. DOI: 10.1016/j.cyto.2020.155088.
- Eppel D, Feichtinger M, Lindner T, et al. (2021) Association between maternal triglycerides and disturbed glucose metabolism in pregnancy. *Acta Diabetologica* 58(4): 459–465. DOI: 10.1007/s00592-020-01644-z.
- Fedullo AL, Schiattarella A, Morlando M, et al. (2021) Mediterranean Diet for the Prevention of Gestational Diabetes in the Covid-19 Era: Implications of Il-6 In Diabesity. *International Journal of Molecular Sciences* 22(3): 1213. DOI: 10.3390/ijms22031213.
- Feng Y, Qu X, Chen Y, et al. (2020) MicroRNA-33a-5p sponges to inhibit pancreatic β-cell function in gestational diabetes mellitus LncRNA DANCR. *Reproductive Biology and Endocrinology* 18(1): 61. DOI: 10.1186/s12958-020-00618-8.
- Fetita L-S, Sobngwi E, Serradas P, et al. (2006) Consequences of Fetal Exposure to Maternal Diabetes in Offspring. *The Journal of Clinical Endocrinology & Metabolism* 91(10): 3718–3724. DOI: 10.1210/jc.2006-0624.

- Florio MC, Magenta A, Beji S, et al. (2020) Aging, MicroRNAs, and Heart Failure. *Current Problems in Cardiology* 45(12). 12: 100406. DOI: 10.1016/j.cpcardiol.2018.12.003.
- Floris I, Descamps B, Vardeu A, et al. (2015) Gestational diabetes mellitus impairs fetal endothelial cell functions through a mechanism involving microRNA-101 and histone methyltransferase enhancer of zester homolog-2. *Arteriosclerosis, Thrombosis, and Vascular Biology* 35(3). 3: 664–674. DOI: 10.1161/ATVBAHA.114.304730.
- Fong A, Serra A, Herrero T, et al. (2014) Pre-gestational versus gestational diabetes: A population based study on clinical and demographic differences. *Journal Of Diabetes and its Complications* 28(1). DOI: 10.1016/j.jdiacomp.2013.08.009.
- Georgiou HM, Lappas M, Georgiou GM, et al. (2008) Screening for biomarkers predictive of gestational diabetes mellitus. Acta Diabetologica 45(3): 157–165. DOI: 10.1007/s00592-008-0037-8.
- Ghio A, Bertolotto A, Resi V, et al. (2011) Triglyceride metabolism in pregnancy. *Advances in Clinical Chemistry* 55: 133–153. DOI: 10.1016/b978-0-12-387042-1.00007-1.
- Gillet V, Ouellet A, Stepanov Y, et al. (2019) miRNA Profiles in Extracellular Vesicles From Serum Early in Pregnancies Complicated by Gestational Diabetes Mellitus. *The Journal of Clinical Endocrinology and Metabolism* 104(11): 5157–5169. DOI: 10.1210/jc.2018-02693.
- Glinianaia SV, Tennant PWG, Bilous RW, et al. (2012) HbA(1c) and birthweight in women with pre-conception type 1 and type 2 diabetes: a population-based cohort study. *Diabetologia* 55(12): 3193–3203. DOI: 10.1007/s00125-012-2721-z.
- Gross DN, van den Heuvel APJ and Birnbaum MJ (2008) The role of FoxO in the regulation of metabolism. *Oncogene* 27(16): 2320–2336. DOI: 10.1038/onc.2008.25.
- Guay C and Regazzi R (2017) Exosomes as new players in metabolic organ cross-talk. *Diabetes, Obesity & Metabolism* 19 (1): 137–146. DOI: 10.1111/dom.13027.
- Guelfi KJ, Ong MJ, Li S, et al. (2017) Maternal circulating adipokine profile and insulin resistance in women at high risk of developing gestational diabetes mellitus. *Metabolism* 75: 54–60. DOI: 10.1016/j.metabol.2017.08.003.
- Guerin A, Nisenbaum R and Ray JG (2007) Use of Maternal GHb Concentration to Estimate the Risk of Congenital Anomalies in the Offspring of Women with Prepregnancy Diabetes. *Diabetes Care* 30(7). 7: 1920. DOI: 10.2337/dc07-0278.
- Guo H, Ingolia NT, Weissman JS, et al. (2010) Mammalian microRNAs predominantly act to decrease target mRNA levels. *Nature* 466(7308). 7308: 835–840. DOI: 10.1038/nature09267.
- Gupta SK, Bang C and Thum T (2010) Circulating microRNAs as biomarkers and potential paracrine mediators of cardiovascular disease. *Circulation Cardiovascular Genetics* 3(5). 5s: 484–488. DOI: 10.1161/CIRCGENETICS.110.958363.

- Ha M and Kim VN (2014) Regulation of microRNA biogenesis. *Nature Reviews Molecular Cell Biology* 15(8). 8: 509–524. DOI: 10.1038/nrm3838.
- Handwerger S and Freemark M (2000) The roles of placental growth hormone and placental lactogen in the regulation of human fetal growth and development. *Journal Of Pediatric Endocrinology & Metabolism* 13(4): 343–356. DOI: 10.1515/jpem.2000.13.4.343.
- Hasegawa Y, Miura K, Higashijima A, et al. (2015) Increased Levels of Cell-Free miR-517a and Decreased Levels of Cell-Free miR-518b in Maternal Plasma Samples From Placenta Previa Pregnancies at 32 Weeks of Gestation. *Reproductive Sciences* 22(12). 12: 1569–1576. DOI: 10.1177/1933719115589407.
- He Y, Bai J, Liu P, et al. (2017) miR-494 protects pancreatic β-cell function by targeting PTEN in gestational diabetes mellitus. *Experimental And Clinical Sciences* 16: 1297–1307. DOI: 10.17179/excli2017-491.
- Herath H, Herath R and Wickremasinghe R (2017) Gestational diabetes mellitus and risk of type 2 diabetes 10 years after the index pregnancy in Sri Lankan women—A community based retrospective cohort study. *PLOS ONE* 12(6): e0179647. DOI: 10.1371/journal.pone.0179647.
- Herrera-Van Oostdam AS, Toro-Ortíz JC, López JA, et al. (2020) Placental exosomes isolated from urine of patients with gestational diabetes exhibit a differential profile expression of microRNAs across gestation. *International Journal of Molecular Medicine* 46(2): 546–560. DOI: 10.3892/ijmm.2020.4626.
- Hocaoglu M, Demirer S, Senturk H, et al. (2019) Differential expression of candidate circulating microRNAs in maternal blood leukocytes of the patients with preeclampsia and gestational diabetes mellitus. *Pregnancy Hypertension* 17: 5–11. DOI: 10.1016/j.preghy.2019.04.004.
- Hocaoglu M, Demirer S, Loclar Karaalp I, et al. (2020) Identification of miR-16-5p and miR-155-5p microRNAs differentially expressed in circulating leukocytes of pregnant women with polycystic ovary syndrome and gestational diabetes. *Gynecological Endocrinology* 37(3): 216–220. DOI: 10.1080/09513590.2020.1843620.
- Hofmanova I (2006) Pre-conception care and support for women with diabetes. British Journal of Nursing 15(2): 90–94.
- Holman R (2007) Metformin as first choice in oral diabetes treatment: the UKPDS experience. *Journees Annuelles De Diabetologie De l'Hotel-Dieu*: 13–20.
- Hromadnikova I, Kotlabova K, Ondrackova M, et al. (2013) Circulating C19MC microRNAs in preeclampsia, gestational hypertension, and fetal growth restriction. *Mediators of Inflammation* 2013: 186041. DOI: 10.1155/2013/186041.
- Hromadnikova I, Kotlabova K, Ivankova K, et al. (2017) First trimester screening of circulating C19MC microRNAs and the evaluation of their potential to predict the onset of preeclampsia and IUGR. *PlOS One* 12(2). 2: e0171756. DOI: 10.1371/journal.pone.0171756.

- Hruby A and Hu FB (2015) The Epidemiology of Obesity: A Big Picture. *PharmacoEconomics* 33(7): 673–689. DOI: 10.1007/s40273-014-0243-x.
- Hu J, Mu H, Gao L, et al. (2021) Diagnostic value of candidate noncoding RNAs in leukocytes of patients with gestational diabetes mellitus. *Experimental and Therapeutic Medicine* 21(2): 145. DOI: 10.3892/etm.2020.9576.
- Huang C, Wang Y, Li X, et al. (2020) Clinical features of patients infected with 2019 novel coronavirus in Wuhan, China. *Lancet* 395(10223): 497–506. DOI: 10.1016/S0140-6736(20)30183-5.
- Huang RS, Gamazon ER, Ziliak D, et al. (2011) Population differences in microRNA expression and biological implications. *RNA Biology* 8(4). 4: 692–701. DOI: 10.4161/rna.8.4.16029.
- Huerta-Chagoya A, Vázquez-Cárdenas P, Moreno-Macías H, et al. (2015) Genetic Determinants for Gestational Diabetes Mellitus and Related Metabolic Traits in Mexican Women. PLOS ONE 10(5): e0126408. DOI: 10.1371/journal.pone.0126408.
- Huynh J, Yamada J, Beauharnais C, et al. (2015) Type 1, type 2 and gestational diabetes mellitus differentially impact placental pathologic characteristics of uteroplacental malperfusion. *Placenta* 36(10). 10: 1161–1166. DOI: 10.1016/j.placenta.2015.08.004.
- Ibarra A, Vega-Guedes B, Brito-Casillas Y, et al. (2018) Diabetes in Pregnancy and MicroRNAs: Promises and Limitations in Their Clinical Application. *Non-Coding RNA* 4(4): 32. DOI: 10.3390/ncrna4040032.
- Imoh L, Ogunkeye O, Isichei C, et al. (2016) Combining the IADPSG criteria with the WHO diagnostic criteria for gestational diabetes mellitus optimizes predictability of adverse pregnancy outcome. *Tropical Journal of Obstetrics and Gynaecology* 33(2): 185. DOI: 10.4103/0189-5117.192221.
- International Association of Diabetes and Pregnancy Study Groups Consensus Panel (2010) International Association of Diabetes and Pregnancy Study Groups Recommendations on the Diagnosis and Classification of Hyperglycemia in Pregnancy. *Diabetes Care* 33(3). 3: 676–682. DOI: 10.2337/dc09-1848.
- International Diabetes Federation (2019) *IDF Diabetes Atlas 9th edition*. Available at: http://www.diabetesatlas.org/resources/2017-atlas.html (accessed 3 May 2018).
- Issler O and Chen A (2015) Determining the role of microRNAs in psychiatric disorders. *Nature Reviews. Neuroscience* 16(4): 201–212. DOI: 10.1038/nrn3879.
- Jiang H, Wen Y, Hu L, et al. (2015) Serum MicroRNAs as Diagnostic Biomarkers for Macrosomia. *Reproductive Sciences* 22(6). 6: 664–671. DOI: 10.1177/1933719114561557.
- Joseph JJ and Golden SH (2017) Cortisol dysregulation: the bidirectional link between stress, depression, and type 2 diabetes mellitus. *Annals of the New York Academy of Sciences* 1391(1). 1: 20–34. DOI: 10.1111/nyas.13217.

- Justman N, Shahak G, Gutzeit O, et al. (2020) Lockdown with a Price: The impact of the COVID-19 Pandemic on Prenatal Care and Perinatal Outcomes in a Tertiary Care Center. *The Israel Medical Association Journal* 22(9): 533–537.
- Kaaja R, Laivuori H, Laakso M, et al. (1999) Evidence of a state of increased insulin resistance in preeclampsia. *Metabolism: Clinical and Experimental* 48(7): 892–896. DOI: 10.1016/s0026-0495(99)90225-1.
- Kahn SE, Hull RL and Utzschneider KM (2006) Mechanisms linking obesity to insulin resistance and type 2 diabetes. *Nature* 444(7121). 7121: 840–846. DOI: 10.1038/nature05482.
- Kanehisa M, Sato Y, Furumichi M, et al. (2019) New approach for understanding genome variations in KEGG. *Nucleic Acids Research* 47: D590. DOI: 10.1093/nar/gky962.
- Kappil M and Chen J (2014) Environmental exposures in utero and microRNA. *Current Opinion in Pediatrics* 26(2): 243–251. DOI: 10.1097/MOP.00000000000073.
- Karere GM, Cox LA, Bishop AC, et al. (2021) Sex Differences in miRNA Expression and Cardiometabolic Risk Factors in Hispanic Adolescents With Obesity. *The Journal Of Pediatrics*. DOI: 10.1016/j.jpeds.2021.03.070.
- Karter AJ, Subramanian U, Saha C, et al. (2010) Barriers to insulin initiation: the translating research into action for diabetes insulin starts project. *Diabetes Care* 33(4): 733–735. DOI: 10.2337/dc09-1184.
- Kehl T, Kern F, Backes C, et al. (2020) miRPathDB 2.0: a novel release of the miRNA Pathway Dictionary Database. *Nucleic Acids Research* 48(1): D142–D147. DOI: 10.1093/nar/gkz1022.
- Kim C, Newton KM and Knopp RH (2002) Gestational Diabetes and the Incidence of Type 2 Diabetes: A systematic review. *Diabetes Care* 25(10): 1862–1868. DOI: 10.2337/diacare.25.10.1862.
- King DS, Dalsky GP, Clutter WE, et al. (1988) Effects of exercise and lack of exercise on insulin sensitivity and responsiveness. *Journal of Applied Physiology* 64(5): 1942–1946. DOI: 10.1152/jappl.1988.64.5.1942.
- Kitzmiller JL, Block JM, Brown FM, et al. (2008) Managing preexisting diabetes for pregnancy: summary of evidence and consensus recommendations for care. *Diabetes Care* 31(5):1060-1079. DOI:10.2337/dc08-9020
- Kolu P, Raitanen J, Rissanen P, et al. (2012) Health care costs associated with gestational diabetes mellitus among high-risk women – results from a randomised trial. *BioMedical Central Pregnancy and Childbirth* 12(1). 1: 71. DOI: 10.1186/1471-2393-12-71.
- Kong L, Zhu J, Han W, et al. (2011) Significance of serum microRNAs in pre-diabetes and newly diagnosed type 2 diabetes: a clinical study. *Acta Diabetologica* 48(1). 1: 61–69. DOI: 10.1007/s00592-010-0226-0.

- Krek A, Grün D, Poy MN, et al. (2005) Combinatorial microRNA target predictions. *Nature Genetics* 37(5). 5: 495–500. DOI: 10.1038/ng1536.
- Kühl C (1991) Insulin secretion and insulin resistance in pregnancy and GDM. Implications for diagnosis and management. *Diabetes* 40 (2): 18–24. DOI: 10.2337/diab.40.2.s18.
- Lamadrid-Romero M, Solís KH, Cruz-Reséndiz MS, et al. (2018) Central nervous system development-related microRNAs levels increase in the serum of gestational diabetic women during the first trimester of pregnancy. *Neuroscience Research* 130: 8–22. DOI: 10.1016/j.neures.2017.08.003.
- Larrabure-Torrealva GT, Martinez S, Luque-Fernandez MA, et al. (2018) Prevalence and risk factors of gestational diabetes mellitus: findings from a universal screening feasibility program in Lima, Peru. *BioMedical Central pregnancy and childbirth* 18(1): 303. DOI: 10.1186/s12884-018-1904-0.
- Lee RC, Feinbaum RL and Ambros V (1993) The C. elegans heterochronic gene lin-4 encodes small RNAs with antisense complementarity to lin-14. *Cell* 75(5). 5: 843–854.
- Leighton E, Sainsbury CA and Jones GC (2017) A Practical Review of C-Peptide Testing in Diabetes. *Diabetes Therapy* 8(3): 475–487. DOI: 10.1007/s13300-017-0265-4.
- Li J, Song L, Zhou L, et al. (2015) A MicroRNA Signature in Gestational Diabetes Mellitus Associated with Risk of Macrosomia. *Cellular Physiology and Biochemistry* 37(1): 243–252. DOI: 10.1159/000430349.
- Li L, Wang S, Li H, et al. (2018) microRNA-96 protects pancreatic β-cell function by targeting PAK1 in gestational diabetes mellitus. *BioFactors* 44(6): 539–547. DOI: 10.1002/biof.1461.
- Li Y and Kowdley KV (2012) Method for microRNA isolation from clinical serum samples. *Analytical Biochemistry* 431(1): 69–75. DOI: 10.1016/j.ab.2012.09.007.
- Liang Y, Ridzon D, Wong L, et al. (2007) Characterization of microRNA expression profiles in normal human tissues. *BioMedical Central Genomics* 8(1): 166. DOI: 10.1186/1471-2164-8-166.
- Liang Z, Wu Y, Zhu X, et al. (2016) Insulin resistance and lipid profile during an oral glucose tolerance test in women with and without gestational diabetes mellitus. *Journal of Obstetrics and Gynaecology: The Journal of the Institute of Obstetrics and Gynaecology* 36(3): 337–339. DOI: 10.3109/01443615.2015.1060197.
- Lihn AS, Pedersen SB and Richelsen B (2005) Adiponectin: action, regulation and association to insulin sensitivity. *Obesity Reviews: An Official Journal of the International Association for the Study of Obesity* 6(1): 13–21. DOI: 10.1111/j.1467-789X.2005.00159.x.
- Liu Y, Retnakaran R, Hanley A, et al. (2007) Total and High Molecular Weight But Not Trimeric or Hexameric Forms of Adiponectin Correlate with Markers of the

Metabolic Syndrome and Liver Injury in Thai Subjects. *The Journal of Clinical Endocrinology & Metabolism* 92(11): 4313–4318. DOI: 10.1210/jc.2007-0890.

- Luo S-S, Ishibashi O, Ishikawa G, et al. (2009) Human villous trophoblasts express and secrete placenta-specific microRNAs into maternal circulation via exosomes. *Biology* of *Reproduction* 81(4). 4: 717–729. DOI: 10.1095/biolreprod.108.075481.
- Ma X, Jiang Y, Li L, et al. (2019) Upregulation of YWHAZ in placental tissues, blood, and amniotic fluid from patients with gestational diabetes mellitus related to downregulation of microRNA-214. *International Journal of Clinical and Experimental Medicine* 12(8): 9961–9968.
- MacFarlane L-A and Murphy PR (2010) MicroRNA: Biogenesis, Function and Role in Cancer. *Current Genomics* 11(7): 537–561. DOI: 10.2174/138920210793175895.
- Magon N and Chauhan M (2012) Pregnancy in Type 1 Diabetes Mellitus: How Special are Special Issues? North American Journal of Medical Sciences 4(6): 250–256. DOI: 10.4103/1947-2714.97202.
- Maiese K (2015) FoxO Transcription Factors and Regenerative Pathways in Diabetes Mellitus. *Current Neurovascular Research* 12(4): 404–413. DOI: 10.2174/15672026126666150807112524.
- Mandy M and Nyirenda M (2018) Developmental Origins of Health and Disease: the relevance to developing nations. *International Health* 10(2): 66–70. DOI: 10.1093/inthealth/ihy006.
- Martínez-Ibarra A, Martínez-Razo LD, Vázquez-Martínez ER, et al. (2019) Unhealthy Levels of Phthalates and Bisphenol A in Mexican Pregnant Women with Gestational Diabetes and Its Association to Altered Expression of miRNAs Involved with Metabolic Disease. *International Journal of Molecular Sciences* 20(13). DOI: 10.3390/ijms20133343.
- Massart J, Sjögren RJO, Lundell LS, et al. (2017) Altered miR-29 Expression in Type 2 Diabetes Influences Glucose and Lipid Metabolism in Skeletal Muscle. *Diabetes* 66(7): 1807–1818. DOI: 10.2337/db17-0141.
- Mathiesen ER and Vaz JA (2008) Insulin treatment in diabetic pregnancy. *Diabetes/Metabolism Research and Reviews* 24(S2): S3–S20. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1002/dmrr.876.
- Mazaki-Tovi S, Kanety H, Pariente C, et al. (2007) Maternal serum adiponectin levels during human pregnancy. *Journal of perinatology: official journal of the California Perinatal Association* 27(2): 77–81. DOI: 10.1038/sj.jp.7211639.
- McCance DR (2015) Diabetes in pregnancy. *Maternal Medicine* 29(5). 5: 685–699. DOI: 10.1016/j.bpobgyn.2015.04.009.
- McDonald JS, Milosevic D, Reddi HV, et al. (2011) Analysis of Circulating MicroRNA: Preanalytical and Analytical Challenges. *Clinical Chemistry* 57(6). 6: 833. DOI: 10.1373/clinchem.2010.157198.

- Méndez-Mancilla A, Lima-Rogel V, Toro-Ortíz JC, et al. (2018) Differential expression profiles of circulating microRNAs in newborns associated to maternal pregestational overweight and obesity: Newborns miRNAs alterations. *Pediatric Obesity* 13(3): 168–174. DOI: 10.1111/ijpo.12247.
- Metzger BE and Coustan DR (1998) Summary and recommendations of the Fourth International Workshop-Conference on Gestational Diabetes Mellitus. The Organizing Committee. *Diabetes Care* 21(2): B161-167.
- Metzger BE, Contreras M, Sacks DA, et al. (2008) Hyperglycemia and adverse pregnancy outcomes. New England Journal of Medicine 358(19): 1991–2002. DOI: 10.1056/NEJMoa0707943.
- Mijatovic-Vukas J, Capling L, Cheng S, et al. (2018) Associations of Diet and Physical Activity with Risk for Gestational Diabetes Mellitus: A Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis. *Nutrients* 10(6): 698. DOI: 10.3390/nu10060698.
- Mitchell MD, Peiris HN, Kobayashi M, et al. (2015) Placental exosomes in normal and complicated pregnancy. *American journal of obstetrics and gynecology* 213(4): S173-181. DOI: 10.1016/j.ajog.2015.07.001.
- Miura K, Morisaki S, Abe S, et al. (2014) Circulating levels of maternal plasma cell-free pregnancy-associated placenta-specific microRNAs are associated with placental weight. *Placenta* 35(10). 10: 848–851. DOI: 10.1016/j.placenta.2014.06.002.
- Miura K, Higashijima A, Murakami Y, et al. (2016) Circulating Levels of Pregnancy-Associated, Placenta-Specific microRNAs in Pregnant Women With Placental Abruption. *Reproductive Sciences*. DOI: 10.1177/1933719116653837.
- Mompeón A, Ortega-Paz L, Vidal-Gómez X, et al. (2020) Disparate miRNA expression in serum and plasma of patients with acute myocardial infarction: a systematic and paired comparative analysis. *Scientific Reports* 10(1): 5373. DOI: 10.1038/s41598-020-61507-z.
- Monfared YK, Ghadimi F and Foroughi F (2018) Determination and Comparison miR135a in the Serum between Women with GDM, Non-Pregnant Type 2 Diabetes, Healthy Pregnant and Control Group. World Family Medicine Journal/Middle East Journal of Family Medicine 16(2): 193–197. DOI: 10.5742/MEWFM.2018.93267.
- Msollo SS, Martin HD, Mwanri AW, et al. (2019) Prevalence of hyperglycemia in pregnancy and influence of body fat on development of hyperglycemia in pregnancy among pregnant women in urban areas of Arusha region, Tanzania. *BioMedical Central Pregnancy and Childbirth* 19(1): 315. DOI: 10.1186/s12884-019-2463-8.
- Mueller O, Lightfoot S and Schroeder A (2004) RNA integrity number (RIN)-standardization of RNA quality control. *Agilent Application Note*: 1–8.
- Muka T, Nano J, Voortman T, et al. (2016) The role of global and regional DNA methylation and histone modifications in glycemic traits and type 2 diabetes: A systematic review. *Nutrition, metabolism, and cardiovascular diseases: Nutrition, Metabolism and Cardiovascular Diseases* 26(7). 7: 553–566. DOI: 10.1016/j.numecd.2016.04.002.

- Murphy HR (2020) Managing Diabetes in Pregnancy Before, During, and After COVID-19. Diabetes Technology & Therapeutics 22(6): 454–461. DOI: 10.1089/dia.2020.0223.
- Nair S, Jayabalan N, Guanzon D, et al. (2018) Human placental exosomes in gestational diabetes mellitus carry a specific set of miRNAs associated with skeletal muscle insulin sensitivity. *Clinical Science* 132(22): 2451–2467. DOI: 10.1042/CS20180487.
- National Diabetes Data Group (1979) Classification and Diagnosis of Diabetes Mellitus and Other Categories of Glucose Intolerance. *Diabetes* 28(12): 1039–1057. DOI: 10.2337/diab.28.12.1039.
- National Institute for Health and Care Excellence (2015) Diabetes in pregnancy: Management from preconception to the postnatal period. NICE Guidelines. Available at: https://www.nice.org.uk/guidance/ng3 (accessed 3 July 2021).
- Nesto R (2004) C-reactive protein, its role in inflammation, Type 2 diabetes and cardiovascular disease, and the effects of insulin-sensitizing treatment with thiazolidinediones. *Diabetic Medicine: A Journal of the British Diabetic Association* 21(8): 810–817. DOI: 10.1111/j.1464-5491.2004.01296.x.
- Nielsen LR, Rehfeld JF, Pedersen-Bjergaard U, et al. (2009) Pregnancy-induced rise in serum C-peptide concentrations in women with type 1 diabetes. *Diabetes Care* 32(6): 1052–1057. DOI: 10.2337/dc08-1832.
- Nolan CJ, Damm P and Prentki M (2011) Type 2 diabetes across generations: from pathophysiology to prevention and management. *The Lancet* 378(9786): 169–181. DOI: 10.1016/S0140-6736(11)60614-4.
- O'Brien J, Hayder H, Zayed Y, et al. (2018) Overview of MicroRNA Biogenesis, Mechanisms of Actions, and Circulation. *Frontiers in Endocrinology* 9: 402. DOI: 10.3389/fendo.2018.00402.
- Ornoy A, Weinstein-Fudim L and Ergaz Z (2015) Prenatal factors associated with autism spectrum disorder (ASD). *Reproductive toxicology* 56: 155–169. DOI: 10.1016/j.reprotox.2015.05.007.
- Ørom UA, Nielsen FC and Lund AH (2008) MicroRNA-10a Binds the 5'UTR of Ribosomal Protein mRNAs and Enhances Their Translation. *Molecular Cell* 30(4). 4: 460–471. DOI: 10.1016/j.molcel.2008.05.001.
- O'Sullivan EP, Avalos G, O'Reilly M, et al. (2011) Atlantic Diabetes in Pregnancy (DIP): the prevalence and outcomes of gestational diabetes mellitus using new diagnostic criteria. *Diabetologia* 54(7). 7: 1670–1675. DOI: 10.1007/s00125-011-2150-4.
- O'sullivan JB and Mahan CM (1964) Criteria for the oral glucose tolerance test in pregnancy. *Diabetes* 13: 278–285.
- Pendeloski KPT, Ono E, Torloni MR, et al. (2017) Maternal obesity and inflammatory mediators: A controversial association. *American Journal of Reproductive Immunology* 77(5). 5. DOI: 10.1111/aji.12674.

- Peng H-Y, Li H-P and Li M-Q (2018) High glucose induces dysfunction of human umbilical vein endothelial cells by upregulating miR-137 in gestational diabetes mellitus. *Microvascular Research* 118: 90–100. DOI: 10.1016/j.mvr.2018.03.002.
- Pfeiffer S, Sanchez-Lechuga B, Donovan P, et al. (2020) Circulating miR-330-3p in Late Pregnancy is Associated with Pregnancy Outcomes Among Lean Women with GDM. *Scientific Reports* 10(1): 908. DOI: 10.1038/s41598-020-57838-6.
- Pheiffer C, Erasmus RT, Kengne AP, et al. (2016) Differential DNA methylation of microRNAs within promoters, intergenic and intragenic regions of type 2 diabetic, pre-diabetic and non-diabetic individuals. *Clinical biochemistry* 49(6). 6: 433–438. DOI: 10.1016/j.clinbiochem.2015.11.021.
- Pheiffer C, Dias S, Rheeder P, et al. (2018a) Screening for Gestational Diabetes Mellitus: The Potential of MicroRNAs. *IntechOpen*. DOI: 10.5772/intechopen.82102.
- Pheiffer C, Dias S, Rheeder P, et al. (2018b) Decreased Expression of Circulating miR-20a-5p in South African Women with Gestational Diabetes Mellitus. *Molecular Diagnosis* & *Therapy* 22(3): 345–352. DOI: 10.1007/s40291-018-0325-0.
- Pheiffer C, Dias S, Rheeder P, et al. (2019) MicroRNA Profiling in HIV-Infected South African Women with Gestational Diabetes Mellitus. *Molecular Diagnosis & Therapy* 23(4): 499–505. DOI: 10.1007/s40291-019-00404-2.
- Pheiffer C, Dias S, Jack B, et al. (2021) Adiponectin as a Potential Biomarker for Pregnancy Disorders. International Journal Of Molecular Sciences 22(3): DOI: 10.3390/ijms22031326.
- Plows JF, Stanley JL, Baker PN, et al. (2018) The Pathophysiology of Gestational Diabetes Mellitus. *International Journal of Molecular Sciences* 19(11): 3342. DOI: 10.3390/ijms19113342.
- Poirier C, Desgagné V, Guérin R, et al. (2017) MicroRNAs in Pregnancy and Gestational Diabetes Mellitus: Emerging Role in Maternal Metabolic Regulation. *Current Diabetes Reports* 17(5). 5: 35. DOI: 10.1007/s11892-017-0856-5.
- Ponchel F, Toomes C, Bransfield K, et al. (2003) Real-time PCR based on SYBR-Green I fluorescence: An alternative to the TaqMan assay for a relative quantification of gene rearrangements, gene amplifications and micro gene deletions. *BioMedical Central Biotechnology* 3(1): 18. DOI: 10.1186/1472-6750-3-18.
- Pritchard CC, Cheng HH and Tewari M (2012) MicroRNA profiling: approaches and considerations. *Nature Reviews Genetics* 13(5). 5: 358–369. DOI: 10.1038/nrg3198.
- Radaelli T, Lepercq J, Varastehpour A, et al. (2009) Differential regulation of genes for fetoplacental lipid pathways in pregnancy with gestational and type 1 diabetes mellitus. *American Journal of Obstetrics and Gynecology* 201(2): 209.e1-209.e10. DOI: 10.1016/j.ajog.2009.04.019.

- Rao X, Huang X, Zhou Z, et al. (2013) An improvement of the 2^(-delta delta CT) method for quantitative real-time polymerase chain reaction data analysis. *Biostatistics, Bioinformatics and Biomathematics* 3(3): 71–85.
- Regazzi R (2018) MicroRNAs as therapeutic targets for the treatment of diabetes mellitus and its complications. *Expert Opinion on Therapeutic Targets* 22(2). 2: 153–160. DOI: 10.1080/14728222.2018.1420168.
- Rheeder P, Morris-Paxton AA, Ewing R-MG, et al. (2017) The noncommunicable disease outcomes of primary healthcare screening in two rural subdistricts of the Eastern Cape Province, South Africa. *African Journal of Primary Health Care & Family Medicine* 9(1). 1: e1–e7.
- Ridker PM, Hennekens CH, Buring JE, et al. (2000) C-Reactive Protein and Other Markers of Inflammation in the Prediction of Cardiovascular Disease in Women. *New England Journal of Medicine* 342(12): 836–843. DOI: 10.1056/NEJM200003233421202.
- Roberts TC (2014) The MicroRNA Biology of the Mammalian Nucleus. *Molecular Therapy*. *Nucleic Acids* 3(8). 8: e188. DOI: 10.1038/mtna.2014.40.
- Rosero S, Bravo-Egana V, Jiang Z, et al. (2010) MicroRNA signature of the human developing pancreas. *BioMedical Central Genomics* 11(1). DOI: 10.1186/1471-2164-11-509.
- Rosmond R (2003) Stress induced disturbances of the HPA axis: a pathway to Type 2 diabetes? *Medical science monitor : international medical journal of experimental and clinical research* 9(2). 2: RA35-39.
- Ryckman K, Spracklen C, Smith C, et al. (2015) Maternal lipid levels during pregnancy and gestational diabetes: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *An International Journal of Obstetrics & Gynaecology* 122(5): 643–651. DOI: 10.1111/1471-0528.13261.
- Ryckman KK, Borowski KS, Parikh NI, et al. (2013) Pregnancy Complications and the Risk of Metabolic Syndrome for the Offspring. *Current Cardiovascular Risk Reports* 7(3). 3: 217–223. DOI: 10.1007/s12170-013-0308-y.
- Salomon C, Torres MJ, Kobayashi M, et al. (2014) A gestational profile of placental exosomes in maternal plasma and their effects on endothelial cell migration. *PlOS One* 9(6). 6: e98667. DOI: 10.1371/journal.pone.0098667.
- Satake E, Pezzolesi MG, Md Dom ZI, et al. (2018) Circulating miRNA Profiles Associated With Hyperglycemia in Patients With Type 1 Diabetes. *Diabetes* 67(5): 1013–1023. DOI: 10.2337/db17-1207.
- Schaefer-Graf U, Napoli A, Nolan CJ, et al. (2018) Diabetes in pregnancy: a new decade of challenges ahead. *Diabetologia* 61(5): 1012–1021. DOI: 10.1007/s00125-018-4545-y.
- Schiattarella A, Lombardo M, Morlando M, et al. (2021) The Impact of a Plant-Based Diet on Gestational Diabetes: A Review. Antioxidants 10(4): 557. DOI: 10.3390/antiox10040557.

- Schwartz R and Teramo KA (2000) Effects of diabetic pregnancy on the fetus and newborn. Seminars in Perinatology 24(2): 120–135. DOI: 10.1053/sp.2000.6363.
- Sebastiani G, Guarino E, Grieco GE, et al. (2017) Circulating microRNA (miRNA) Expression Profiling in Plasma of Patients with Gestational Diabetes Mellitus Reveals Upregulation of miRNA miR-330-3p. *Frontiers in Endocrinology* 8. DOI: 10.3389/fendo.2017.00345.
- Shand AW, Bell JC, McElduff A, et al. (2008) Outcomes of pregnancies in women with pregestational diabetes mellitus and gestational diabetes mellitus; a population-based study in New South Wales, Australia, 1998–2002. *Diabetic Medicine* 25(6): 708–715.
- Shang M and Lin L (2014) IADPSG criteria for diagnosing gestational diabetes mellitus and predicting adverse pregnancy outcomes. *Journal of Perinatology* 34(2): 100–104. DOI: 10.1038/jp.2013.143.
- Shi Z, Zhao C, Guo X, et al. (2014) Differential expression of microRNAs in omental adipose tissue from gestational diabetes mellitus subjects reveals miR-222 as a regulator of ERα expression in estrogen-induced insulin resistance. *Endocrinology* 155(5). 5: 1982–1990. DOI: 10.1210/en.2013-2046.
- Sigal RJ, Kenny GP, Wasserman DH, et al. (2006) Physical activity/exercise and type 2 diabetes: a consensus statement from the American Diabetes Association. *Diabetes Care* 29(6). 6: 1433–1438. DOI: 10.2337/dc06-9910.
- Sikorskaya K, Zarzecka I, Ejikeme U, et al. (2021) The use of metformin as an add-on therapy to insulin in the treatment of poorly controlled type 1 diabetes mellitus in adolescents. *Metabolism Open* 9: 100080. DOI: 10.1016/j.metop.2021.100080.
- Simmons D (2010) Metformin treatment for Type 2 diabetes in pregnancy? *Best Practice & Research. Clinical Endocrinology & Metabolism* 24(4): 625–634. DOI: 10.1016/j.beem.2010.05.002.
- Soifer HS, Rossi JJ and Saetrom P (2007) MicroRNAs in disease and potential therapeutic applications. *Molecular Therapy: The Journal of the American Society of Gene Therapy* 15(12): 2070–2079. DOI: 10.1038/sj.mt.6300311.
- Soma-Pillay P, Nelson-Piercy C, Tolppanen H, et al. (2016) Physiological changes in pregnancy. *Cardiovascular journal of Africa* 27(2): 89–94. DOI: 10.5830/CVJA-2016-021.
- Sørensen A, van Poppel M, Desoye G, et al. (2021) The Predictive Value of miR-16, -29a and -134 for Early Identification of Gestational Diabetes: A Nested Analysis of the DALI Cohort. *Cells* 10(1): 170. DOI: 10.3390/cells10010170.
- Stirm L, Huypens P, Sass S, et al. (2018) Maternal whole blood cell miRNA-340 is elevated in gestational diabetes and inversely regulated by glucose and insulin. *Scientific Reports* 8. DOI: 10.1038/s41598-018-19200-9.
- Sud N, Zhang H, Pan K, et al. (2017) Aberrant expression of microRNA induced by highfructose diet: implications in the pathogenesis of hyperlipidemia and hepatic insulin

resistance. *The Journal of Nutritional Biochemistry* 43: 125–131. DOI: 10.1016/j.jnutbio.2017.02.003.

- Sugrue R and Zera C (2018) Pregestational Diabetes in Pregnancy. *Obstetrics and Gynecology Clinics of North America* 45(2): 315–331. DOI: 10.1016/j.ogc.2018.01.002.
- Sun D-G, Tian S, Zhang L, et al. (2020) The miRNA-29b Is Downregulated in Placenta During Gestational Diabetes Mellitus and May Alter Placenta Development by Regulating Trophoblast Migration and Invasion Through a HIF3A-Dependent Mechanism. *Frontiers in Endocrinology* 11. DOI: 10.3389/fendo.2020.00169.
- Tagoma A, Alnek K, Kirss A, et al. (2018) MicroRNA profiling of second trimester maternal plasma shows upregulation of miR-195-5p in patients with gestational diabetes. *Gene* 672: 137–142. DOI: 10.1016/j.gene.2018.06.004.
- Turchinovich A, Weiz L and Burwinkel B (2012) Extracellular miRNAs: the mystery of their origin and function. *Trends in Biochemical Sciences* 37(11). 11: 460–465. DOI: 10.1016/j.tibs.2012.08.003.
- Vargas R, Repke JT and Ural SH (2010) Type 1 Diabetes Mellitus and Pregnancy. *Reviews in Obstetrics and Gynecology* 3(3): 92–100.
- Vasudevan S, Tong Y and Steitz JA (2007) Switching from Repression to Activation: MicroRNAs Can Up-Regulate Translation. Science 318(5858): 1931. DOI: 10.1126/science.1149460.
- Venugopal SK, Mowery ML and Jialal I (2021) C Peptide. In: *StatPearls*. Treasure Island (FL): http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/books/NBK526026/ (accessed 4 November 2021).
- Vrachnis N, Belitsos P, Sifakis S, et al. (2012) Role of Adipokines and Other Inflammatory Mediators in Gestational Diabetes Mellitus and Previous Gestational Diabetes Mellitus. *International Journal of Endocrinology* 2012: 549748. DOI: 10.1155/2012/549748.
- Wander PL, Boyko EJ, Hevner K, et al. (2017) Circulating early- and mid-pregnancy microRNAs and risk of gestational diabetes. *Diabetes Research and Clinical Practice* 132: 1–9. DOI: 10.1016/j.diabres.2017.07.024.
- Wang F, Zhang X and Zhou H (2019) Role of cell free microRNA-19a and microRNA-19b in gestational diabetes mellitus patients. 3 Biotech 9(11): 406. DOI: 10.1007/s13205-019-1952-9.
- Wang H, She G, Zhou W, et al. (2019) Expression profile of circular RNAs in placentas of women with gestational diabetes mellitus. *Endocrine Journal* 66(5): 431–441. DOI: 10.1507/endocrj.EJ18-0291.
- Wang J, Pan Y, Dai F, et al. (2020) Serum miR-195-5p is upregulated in gestational diabetes mellitus. *Journal of Clinical Laboratory Analysis* 34(8): e23325. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1002/jcla.23325.
- Wang P, Wang H, Li C, et al. (2018) Dysregulation of microRNA-657 influences inflammatory response via targeting interleukin-37 in gestational diabetes mellitus: *Journal of Cellular Physiology* 234(5): 7141–7148. DOI: 10.1002/jcp.27468.
- Wang P, Wang Zengfang, Liu G, et al. (2019) miR-657 Promotes Macrophage Polarization toward M1 by Targeting FAM46C in Gestational Diabetes Mellitus. *Mediators of Inflammation* 2019: 1–9. DOI: 10.1155/2019/4851214.
- Wang W, Feng L, Zhang H, et al. (2012) Preeclampsia Up-Regulates Angiogenesis-Associated MicroRNA (i.e., miR-17, -20a, and -20b) That Target Ephrin-B2 and EPHB4 in Human Placenta. *The Journal of Clinical Endocrinology & Metabolism* 97(6). 6: E1051–E1059. DOI: 10.1210/jc.2011-3131.
- Wang Y, Zhou Y and Graves DT (2014) FOXO Transcription Factors: Their Clinical Significance and Regulation. *BioMedical Research International* 2014: 925350. DOI: 10.1155/2014/925350.
- Weng J, Ekelund M, Lehto M, et al. (2002) Screening for MODY mutations, GAD antibodies, and type 1 diabetes--associated HLA genotypes in women with gestational diabetes mellitus. *Diabetes Care* 25(1): 68–71. DOI: 10.2337/diacare.25.1.68.
- Wilcox G (2005) Insulin and insulin resistance. *The Clinical biochemist. Reviews* 26(2). 2: 19–39.
- Wilfinger WW, Mackey K and Chomczynski P (1997) Effect of pH and ionic strength on the spectrophotometric assessment of nucleic acid purity. *BioTechniques* 22(3): 474–476, 478–481. DOI: 10.2144/97223st01.
- Winter J, Jung S, Keller S, et al. (2009) Many roads to maturity: microRNA biogenesis pathways and their regulation. *Nature Cell Biology* 11(3): 228–234. DOI: 10.1038/ncb0309-228.
- World Health Organisation (1999) Definition, Diagnosis and Classification of Diabetes Mellitus and Its Complications. Geneva: World Health Organisation.
- World Health Organisation (2013) Diagnostic Criteria and Classification of Hyperglycaemia First Detected in Pregnancy. WHO/NMH/MND/13.2 ed. Geneva: World Health Organisation.
- World Health Organisation (2020) Infection prevention and control during health care when coronavirus disease (COVID-19) is suspected or confirmed: interim guidance, 29 June 2020. WHO/2019-nCoV/IPC/2020.4. World Health Organisation. Available at: https://apps.who.int/iris/handle/10665/332879 (accessed 26 September 2021).
- Wright MW and Bruford EA (2011) Naming 'junk': human non-protein coding RNA (ncRNA) gene nomenclature. *Human Genomics* 5(2): 90–98. DOI: 10.1186/1479-7364-5-2-90.
- Wu P, Farrell WE, Haworth KE, et al. (2018) Maternal genome-wide DNA methylation profiling in gestational diabetes shows distinctive disease-associated changes relative

to matched healthy pregnancies. *Epigenetics* 13(2): 122–128. DOI: 10.1080/15592294.2016.1166321.

- Wu Y, Liu B, Sun Y, et al. (2020) Association of Maternal Prepregnancy Diabetes and Gestational Diabetes Mellitus With Congenital Anomalies of the Newborn. *Diabetes Care* 43(12): 2983–2990.
- Xiang AH, Wang X, Martinez MP, et al. (2018) Maternal Gestational Diabetes Mellitus, Type 1 Diabetes, and Type 2 Diabetes During Pregnancy and Risk of ADHD in Offspring. *Diabetes Care* 41(12). 12: 2502. DOI: 10.2337/dc18-0733.
- Xiao Y, Ding J, Shi Y, et al. (2020) MiR-330-3p contributes to INS-1 cell dysfunction by targeting glucokinase in gestational diabetes mellitus. *Journal of Obstetrics and Gynaecology Research* 46(6): 864–875. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1111/jog.14249.
- Xu K, Bian D, Hao L, et al. (2017) microRNA-503 contribute to pancreatic beta cell dysfunction by targeting the mTOR pathway in gestational diabetes mellitus. *Experimental and Clinical Sciences Journal* 16: 1177–1187. DOI: 10.17179/excli2017-738.
- Yen I-W, Lee C-N, Lin M-W, et al. (2019) Overweight and obesity are associated with clustering of metabolic risk factors in early pregnancy and the risk of GDM. *PLOS One* 14(12). Public Library of Science: e0225978. DOI: 10.1371/journal.pone.0225978.
- Yoffe L, Polsky A, Gilam A, et al. (2019) Early diagnosis of gestational diabetes mellitus using circulating microRNAs. *European Journal of Endocrinology* 181(5): 565–577. DOI: 10.1530/EJE-19-0206.
- Zhang F and Wang D (2017) The Pattern of microRNA Binding Site Distribution. *Genes* 8(11): E296. DOI: 10.3390/genes8110296.
- Zhang Y-L and Chen X-Q (2020) Dysregulation of microRNA-770-5p influences pancreaticβ-cell function by targeting TP53 regulated inhibitor of apoptosis 1 in gestational diabetes mellitus. *European Review for Medical and Pharmacological Sciences* 24(2): 793–801. DOI: 10.26355/eurrev_202001_20062.
- Zhao C, Dong J, Jiang T, et al. (2011) Early second-trimester serum miRNA profiling predicts gestational diabetes mellitus. *PloS One* 6(8): e23925. DOI: 10.1371/journal.pone.0023925.
- Zhao C, Zhang T, Shi Z, et al. (2014) MicroRNA-518d regulates PPARα protein expression in the placentas of females with gestational diabetes mellitus. *Molecular Medicine Reports* 9(6): 2085–2090. DOI: 10.3892/mmr.2014.2058.
- Zhou X, Xiang C and Zheng X (2019) miR-132 serves as a diagnostic biomarker in gestational diabetes mellitus and its regulatory effect on trophoblast cell viability. *Diagnostic Pathology* 14. DOI: 10.1186/s13000-019-0899-9.

- Zhou Y, Gu P, Shi W, et al. (2016) MicroRNA-29a induces insulin resistance by targeting PPARδ in skeletal muscle cells. *International Journal of Molecular Medicine* 37(4): 931–938. DOI: 10.3892/ijmm.2016.2499.
- Zhu Y, Tian F, Li H, et al. (2015) Profiling maternal plasma microRNA expression in early pregnancy to predict gestational diabetes mellitus. *International Journal of Gynecology* & *Obstetrics* 130(1): 49–53. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijgo.2015.01.010.

APPENDIX 1

RNA concentrations

Sample		Nanodro	Agilent assay (CAF)				
ID	Nucleic	RNA yield	A260/A280	A260/A230	miRNA	concentration	
	Acid	(ng)			%	pg/µl	
	(ng/µl)						
1	10.95	164.25	0.96	0.16	57	7 209.3	
2	16.11	241.65	1.37	0.18	48	234.9	
3	15.28	229.2	1.32	0.73	56	43.3	
4	18.08	271.2	1.36	0.28	38	199.6	
5	22.915	343.725	1.38	0.06	53	118.9	
6	32.22	483.3	1.44	0.06	25	178.7	
7	43.61	654.15	1.14	0.22	52	64.5	
8	32.55	488.25	1.28	0.42	72	252.8	
9	20.72	310.8	1.30	0.13	65	127.7	
10	28.27	424.05	1.401	0.074	53	284	
11	66.35	995.25	1.45	0.56	72	100.9	
12	17.2	258	1.06	0.2	69	239	
13	7.18	107.7	1.30	0.31	58	255.1	
14	36.59	548.85	1.4	0.56	55	97.9	
15	13.12	196.8	1.35	0.58	51	237.60	
16	18.55	278.25	1.37	0.08	37	191.1	
17	22.5	337.5	1.49	0.03	55	70.9	
18	24.19	362.85	1.3	0.46	62	274.3	
19	11.19	167.85	1.37	0.26	59	276.4	
20	7.0	105	1.35	0.2	49	87.3	
21	19.36	290.4	1.35	0.11	89	125.7	
22	15.62	234.3	1.22	0.12	62	165.3	
23	13.28	199.2	1.13	0.21	57	119	
24	11.59	173.85	1.24	0.37	63	160.1	
25	25.7	385.5	1.41	0.05	65	82.3	
26	21.47	322.05	1.06	0.28	4	141	
27	33.46	501.9	1.33	0.75	44	129.9	
28	22.74	341.1	1.33	0.51	63	97.6	
29	12.51	187.65	0.96	0.09	49	55.2	

 Table 9. Serum RNA concentration, yield, purity and miRNA concentration

30	15.26	228.9	1.15	0.12	53	95.2
31	6.12	91.8	1.32	0.27	51	128.6
32	19.75	296.25	1.19	0.08	50	135.3
33	18.16	272.4	1.37	0.04	72	66
34	8.0	120	1.06	0.09	58	152.8
35	108.99	1634.85	1.3	0.4	43	114.8
36	18.8	282	1.29	0.05	65	126.2
37	14.64	219.6	1.18	0.08	57	91.1
38	12.07	181.05	1.38	0.37	57	69.4
39	23.86	357.9	1.45	0.03	57	75.1
40	14.59	218.85	1.4	0.06	52	56.2
41	11.25	168.75	1.17	0.57	59	91.4
42	15.52	232.8	1.41	0.06	41	152.1
43	36.15	542.25	1.34	0.57	57	54.9
44	8.61	129.15	1.02	0.23	63	44.4
45	20.89	313.35	1.34	0.18	54	57.2
46	19.48	292.2	1.39	0.55	57	82.5
47	13.9	208.5	1.41	0.06	65	64.8
48	23.74	356.1	1.31	0.58	59	49.8
49	14.67	220.05	1.3	0.51	56	138.1
50	25.26	378.9	1.22	0.08	74	110
51	76.92	1153.8	1.46	0.09	60	134.9
52	30.38	455.7	1.01	0.12	57	98.2
53	31.69	475.35	1.35	0.19	49	119.7
54	24.7	370.5	1.29	0.14	57	109.9
55	118.19	1772.85	1.43	0.19	50	43.2
56	23.05	345.75	1.37	0.07	49	96
57	20.65	309.75	1.18	0.41	50	113.6
58	20.58	308.7	1.47	0.63	27	353.6
59	18.89	283.35	1.23	0.37	61	95.8
60	148.59	2228.85	1.36	0.47	51	160.7
61	18.76	281.4	1.37	0.11	42	146.7
62	17.16	257.4	1.26	0.17	49	81.6
63	20.07	301.05	1.34	0.29	51	83
64	24.68	370.2	1.18	0.17	66	71.5
65	27.36	410.4	1.19	0.24	55	156.3
66	11.31	169.65	1.31	0.37	54	134.5

67	42.4	636	1.39	0.05	56	77.5
68	24.98	374.7	1.34	0.34	55	167.1
69	14.98	224.7	1.25	0.1	50	58.1
70	22.57	338.55	1.22	0.34	62	37.8
71	18.77	281.55	1.27	0.33	71	15.8
72	13.08	196.2	1.11	0.25	66	18.1
73	13.11	196.65	1.21	0.51	91	960.3

ND-Not determined

Diagnostic criteria	Approach	Glucose challenge		Glucose threshold (mmol/L)			
	step		fasting	1 h	2 h	3 h	
(O'sullivan and	2	100 g OGTT	5.0	9.2	8.1	6.9	
Mahan, 1964)							
(National Diabetes	2	100 g OGTT	5.8	10.6	9.2	8.1	
Data Group, 1979)							
(Carpenter and	2	100 g OGTT	5.3	10.0	8.6	7.8	
Coustan, 1982							
(World Health	1	75 g OGTT	7.0	-	7.8	-	
Organisation, 1999)							
(American Diabetes	2	100 g OGTT	5.3	10.0	8.6	7.8	
Association, 2013)							
(International	1	75 g OGTT	5.1	10.0	8.5	-	
Association of							
Diabetes and							
Pregnancy Study							
Groups Consensus							
Panel, 2010)							
(National Institute for	1	75 g OGTT	5.6	-	7.8	-	
Health and Care							
Excellence, 2015)							

 Table 10. Common diagnostic criteria's for GDM

Abbreviation: OGTT, oral glucose tolerance test

Ethics Certificate



Faculty of Health Sciences

Institution: The Research Ethics Committee, Faculty Health Sciencea, University of Protona complies with ICH-GCP guidelines and has US Federal wide Assurance.

- FWA 00002557, Approved dd 22 May 2002 and Expires 03/20/2022.
- IORG #. IORG0001762 OMB No. 0990-0279
 Approved for use through February 28, 2022 and Expires: 03/04/2023.

24 November 2020

Approval Certificate New Application

Ethics Reference No.: 743/2020 Title: Profiling circulating microRNAs in pregnancies complicated by type 1 diabetes, type 2 diabetes and gestational diabetes mellitus

Dear Mr MI Masete

The New Application as supported by documents received between 2020-11-11 and 2020-11-18 for your research, was approved by the Faculty of Health Sciences Research Ethics Committee on 2020-11-18 as resolved by its quorate meeting.

Please note the following about your ethics approval:

- · Ethics Approval is valid for 1 year and needs to be renewed annually by 2021-11-24.
- Please remember to use your protocol number (743/2020) on any documents or correspondence with the Research Ethics Committee regarding your research.
- Please note that the Research Ethics Committee may ask further questions, seek additional information, require further
 modification, monitor the conduct of your research, or suspend or withdraw ethics approval.

Ethics approval is subject to the following:

 The ethics approval is conditional on the research being conducted as stipulated by the details of all documents submitted to the Committee. In the event that a further need arises to change who the investigators are, the methods or any other aspect, such changes must be submitted as an Amendment for approval by the Committee.

We wish you the best with your research.

Yours sincerely



Dr R Sommers MBChB MMed (Int) MPharmMed PhD Deputy Chairperson of the Faculty of Health Sciences Research Ethics Committee, University of Pretoria

The Faculty of Health Sciences Research Ethics Committee compiles with the SA National Act 61 of 2003 as it pertains to health research and the United States Code of Federal Regulations Title 45 and 46. This committee ables by the ethical norms and principles for research, established by the Declaration of Helsinki, the South African Medical Research Council Guidelines as well as the Guidelines for Ethical Research: Principles Structures and Processes, Second Edition 2015 (Department of Health

Research Ethios Committee Room 4-00, Lerel 4, Tsurelopele Buildin Umirestily of Pretoria, Private Bag x323 Oezina 0031, South Africa Tel +27 (0)12300 3064 Email: deep ekk behari@up.ac.za www.up.ac.za Fakulteit Gesond heidswetenskappe Lefapha la Disaeree Sa Maphelo